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)
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2017 12 ( )
51,047 22,437 571 74,055
5 562,731 3,473 566,209
51,052 585,168 4,044 640,264
— 140,360 — 140,360
— 653 — 653
51,052 726,181 4,044 781,277
30,201 3,588 10 33,799
22 553,830 2,271 556,123
30,223 557,418 2,281 589,922
— 113,314 633 113,947
— 5,896 1,888 7,784
30,223 676,628 4,802 711,653
— 17,369 9 17,378
— 15,050 5,996 21,046
— 32,419 6,005 38,424
30,223 709,047 10,807 750,077
Q@n 8,901 1,202 10,086
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2016 12 ( )
43,678 18,633 1,035 63,346
47 595,435 4,117 599,599
43,725 614,068 5,152 662,945
— 139,732 — 139,732
— 1,432 — 1,432
43,725 755,232 5,152 804,109
23,837 3,095 4 26,936
34 584,717 2,224 586,975
23,871 587,812 2,228 613,911
— 98,638 536 99,174
— 6,080 1,019 7,099
23,871 692,530 3,783 720,184
— 7,801 — 7,801
— 15,690 5,845 21,535
— 23,491 5,845 29,336
23,871 716,021 9,628 749,520
13 10,718 1,893 12,624

150/343



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OoOoOoOoOodno
2017 12 2016 12 571 10.4
) ( )

2017 12 2016 12

144 336

2.3 19.4 (6.9 ) 0.8 20.0 (7.1 )

37.9 89.0 (76.9 ) 35.0 97.5 (76.5 )

() 0.7 14.0(4.2) 0.8 16.1(4.7)

365 500

3.6 13.9 (7.1 ) 2.6 14.1 (6.3 )

0.0 74.0 (44.5 ) 0.0 70.0 (45.1 )

() 0.5 5.4(2.3) 1.9  15.7(3.4)

62 199

3.0 3.0 (3.0 ) 0.9 5.5 (1.6 )
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2017 12 2016 12 12.0
18.9
2017 12 2016 12
(110) (205)
) ( / )
2017 12 2016 12

51 21
79 95 (87 /87 ) 75 95 (82 /81 )
(bps) 75  138(107/107) 73 104(89/89)
1,794 2,313
28 84 (61 /60 ) 35 91 (65 /68 )
(bps) 505(87/56) 993(148/100)
55(36/53) 96(21/ )
22 73 (70 /73 ) 83 (54 /70 )
(533) (236)
(36) 94 (53 /65 )  (39) 87 (42 /45 )
63 (20 /20 ) 63 (23 /22 )

152/343



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

153/343



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn
2017 12
2016 12
2017 12 2016 12
2017 12 2016 12
2017 12 2016 12
2017 12 2016 12
2017 2016
2017 12
2016 12 259 220 230
294
2017 12

2016 12
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( )
)
)
2017 12 2016 12
149 139
92 90
(80) (80)
161 149
)
2017 12 2016 12
5,152 6,041
594 1,052
383 394
(520) (351)
(1,223) 1,727)
188 641
(530) (898)
4,044 5,152
(9,628) (8,401)
(1,439) @377)
6 14
(5,285) (5,697)
4,483 4,087
(39) (640)
1,095 1,386
(10,807) (9,628)
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2017 2016

2017 14.4

13.4 100
2016 377

288 89
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( )
2017 12 2016 12
(2,228) (2,727)
(653) (446)
6 14
(237) (201)
465 892
(18) (155)
384 395
(2,281) (2,228)
(536) (133)
(26) 22
147) (375)
67 37
— 87
(642) (536)
(6,864) (5,541)
(760) 47
(4,901) (5,121)
3,951 3,158
(21) (398)
711 991
(7,884) (6,864)
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2017 12 2016 12 1,579.1
1,292.8 1,395.6 1,381.7
2017 12 2016 12
186.8 186.7
( )
2017 12 2016 12
6,312 6,477
1,971 1,521
1,054 607
3,025 2,128
950 1,016
1,879 1,040
2,829 2,056
196 72
6,508 6,549
2017 2016 578 619

2017 2016 244 495
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( )
/
2017 12
589,922 — — — — — 589,922
91,724 30,915 19,306 16,134 — — 158,079
76,361 2,768 1,186 23,139 — — 103,454
758,007 33,683 20,492 39,273 — — 851,455
— — — — 15,999 1,379 17,378
— 2 72 438 24,895 17,012 42,419
— 2 72 438 40,894 18,391 59,797
758,007 33,685 20,564 39,711 40,894 18,391 911,252
882 57,863 10 1 — — 58,756
— 7 15 67 177 5 271
3,392 — 299 — — — 3,691
4,274 57,870 324 68 177 5 62,718
762,281 91,555 20,888 39,779 41,071 18,396 973,970
2016 12
613,911 — — — — — 613,911
86,819 27,178 14,019 12,372 — — 140,388
80,535 2,749 1,562 19,378 — — 104,224
781,265 29,927 15,581 31,750 — — 858,523
— — 2 9 7,298 502 7,811
— 2 5 18 31,260 11,552 42,837
— 2 7 27 38,558 12,054 50,648
781,265 29,929 15,588 31,777 38,558 12,054 909,171
844 42,261 — 494 — — 43,599
— 7 14 61 229 — 311
3,993 — — — — — 3,993
4,837 42,268 14 555 229 — 47,903
786,102 72,197 15,602 32,332 38,787 12,054 957,074
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( )
2017 12 2016 12
491,634 420,321
444,650 367,705
( )
2017 12 2016 12
24,178 20,110
23,358 21,563
2017 12 2016 12 591.0
609.4 2017 12 2016 12 500.7

473.7
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( LIBOR)
( )
80
/C )
( )
2017 12 2016 12
(35) 7
16 %)
19 —
( )
2017 12 2016 12
38 — 128 29
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2017 12 2016 12
7,643 7,513
538 511
(34) (©))
4,119 4,523
IAS 39
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2017 12 2016 12
14,629 14,803
5,766 4,254
27,141 22,616
47,536 41,673
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2017 12

10 21

85 902

95 923

95 923

0 112

0 112

0 112
2016 12

13 23

63 890

76 913

76 913

0 99

) 99

0 99
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/C ) /¢ )
2017 12

1 132

1 124

2 256

2 256

— (35)

— (35)

— @

— (36)

2016 12

11 131

@0 123
(16) 254
(16) 254
©) (35)

©) (35)

— @
©) (36)
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2017 12

17,333 (13,570) 3,763 (523) (368) (2,230) 642
580,749  (14,540) 566,209  (496,655)  (37,222)  (12,206) 20,126

598,082  (28,110) 569,972  (497,178)  (37,590)  (14,436) 20,768
267,424  (62,604) 204,820  (83,213) —  (117,657) 3,950
68,567 (9,013) 59,554 (5.803)  (36,896) (7,673) 9,182

934,073  (99,727) 834,346  (586,194)  (74,486) (139,766) 33,900

104,843 — 104,843 — — — 104,843

1,038,916  (99,727) 939,189  (586,194)  (74,486) (139,766) 138,743

768 (718) 50 — — — 50
570,661  (14,538) 556,123  (496,609)  (35,821) (6.833) 16,860

571,429  (15,256) 556,173  (496,609)  (35,821) (6,833) 16,910
227,069  (71,560) 155,509  (81,610) (440)  (70,660) 2,799
70,730 (3,482) 67,248 (6,250)  (37,699) — 23,299

869,228  (90,298) 778,930  (584,469)  (73,960)  (77,493) 43,008

22,294 (7,553) 14,741 (1,646) (446)  (11,679) 970
3,720 (1,876) 1,844 79) (80) — 1,685
26,014 (9,429) 16,585 (1,725) (526)  (11,679) 2,655

895,242 (99,727) 795,515 (586,194) (74,486) (89,172) 45,663

112,801 — 112,801 —_ — — 112,801

1,008,043  (99,727) 908,316  (586,194)  (74,486)  (89,172) 158,464
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( )
2016 12

16,948  (12,361) 4,587 (1,120) 42) (2,919) 506
661,959  (62,360) 599,599  (524,767)  (42,870)  (12,425) 19,537
678,907  (74,721) 604,186  (525,887)  (42,912)  (15,344) 20,043
232,912  (48,312) 184,600  (85,692) —  (95,557) 3,351
58,632 (6,162) 52,470 (3,531)  (37,476) (4,864) 6,599

970,451  (129,195) 841,256  (615,110)  (80,388) (115,765) 29,993

92,137 — 92,137 — — — 92,137

1,062,588  (129,195) 933,393  (615,110)  (80,388) (115,765) 122,130

1,740 (1,686) 54 — — — 54
648,143  (61,168) 586,975  (525,614)  (35,845) (8,941) 16,575
649,883  (62,854) 587,029  (525,614)  (35,845) (8,941) 16,629
188,865  (53,155) 135,710  (85,159) — (49,504) 1,047

73,372 (4,609) 68,763 (3,265)  (43,582) — 21,916
912,120  (120,618) 791,502  (614,038)  (79,427)  (58,445) 39,592

14,237 (6,742) 7,495 (1,060) (475) (5,412) 548
3,959 (1,835) 2,124 (12) (486) — 1,626
18,196 (8,577) 9,619 (1,072) (961) (5,412) 2,174

930,316 (129,195) 801,121 (615,110) (80,388) (63,857) 41,766

105,234 — 105,234 —_ — — 105,234

1,035,550  (129,195) 906,355  (615,110)  (80,388)  (63,857) 147,000

2017

2016 12 570.1
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Profit and Loss Account
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Yaar Ended Dedember

5 in milions Hete W7 2016
Met revnues [] % E,508 % 6,549
Administratie expenses L] (4,119} {4.269)
Qperatingprefit 2383 2,280
Interest payatie and similar expenses 9 {301) (346)
Mt finance income 10 3 D
Profit before taxation 2,081 1,943
Tax on profit 12 {534) (487)
Profit for the financial year $ 1,557 % 1,456

Nt revenues and cpsaling proft of the company ars derved from conSinuing opsrations in the current snd pricr years.

Statements of Comprehensive Income

Vaar Ended Decamber

5 in milfons MHote a7 ﬂﬂi
Frofit for the financial year 51,557 3 1,456
Oiher comprahensive income

Iteme that will nat be reclassified subsequently to profit or logs

Actuaral profitf{loss) relating to the pension scheme 10 198 (189)
Debt valuation adjustment 19 {259) [182)
LK. deferned tax atfributabie to the components of other comprehinsing inconme 17 18 a2
WKL current tax attributable fo the components of other comprehenshe income 2 3
Other comprehensive loss for the financial year, net of tax (43) [276)
Total comprehensive Inceme for the financial year § 1,514 51,180

The accompanying rotes s an inbegral part of tvese Inancial statements,
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GOLOMAN SACHS INTERNATICHNAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Balance Sheet
As of Docembar

§ in milkons Hote 7 2016
Tt Wi M s
Current assets

Financial mstruments owned (includes $24,178 and 520,110 pledged as collateral) 14 540,264 52,945
Collateralised agreements 15 204,820 184,600
Deblars 16 74052 65,696
Cash a1 bank and in hand 24 20,727 15,858

525,863 524,129

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Finsncial ingtruments soid, butnol yet purchased =~~~ I . SO ... =1 B :LI-% AR
Colloteralised financings 18 (158,068)  (140,388)
Other creditors 18 (103,584 ) {104 258)
[851,575) [BEB.TAT)
Het current assets 88,288 TH 3432
Total assets less current labilities BBASE 715480
Creditors: amounts falling due after mere than one year
Collateralised financings 18 (173t (7.800)
Qther crediors 19 [39,730) (40.202)
— e - e e - e o o - _ [87108)  [45,00%)
Provisions for labilites 20 {10) -
Het agzets excluding pension surplus 31,380 27,480
Pansion surplus 10 3 53
Het assets including pension surplus § 300 5 27.533
Capital and reserves
Called up share capstal 21§ 582 5 582
Share premium account 4,864 4 854
Capdal reserse (non-distributable) 17 17
L R | - SN )|
_Accumulated other comprehensive incoma s s (w9 (248)
Other equity mstruments 22 5,800 -
Total shareholder's funds 5 M, 5§ 27533

The firancial staterents were approved by the Board of Dwectors on March 15, 2018 and signed on its bebalf by:

oA m@bﬁ&

D. W. McDonogh
Director

The accompanying reobes are an inbegral part of thess Snancial statements.
Campnny fusber 07283561

47
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Changes in Equity

Year Endad Dapember

5 in millons Hote 2M7 2018
Called up share capital

_Beginning batance §_ 5E2 882
Ending balance 5e2 5E2
Share premium account
Baginning batance 4,B64 4,564
Ending batance 4,864 4 BE4
Capital reserve [non-distributabile)
Baginning balance 17 7
Ending talance 17 17

Profit and loss account
Beginning talance

Profitfor the financialyear
Anterim dividends paid R I S
Irterest on Additional Tier 1 notes 2

Mamgﬁnﬁﬁt'rednrga related o share-based payrments (a05)  [490)
Ending balance 20,727 X2 316
Accumulated cther comprehensive Income

Beginning talance {248} 30
Caher comprehengive logs 143} {278}
Ending balance (289) {245}
Other equity Instruments

Beginning balance - =
Additional Tier 1 nates issued 22 5,800 -
Ending balance 5,800 -
Total sharsholder's funds $31,701 $27.53

This Giceamgaiming Aotid aib 60 inbigral pan of Bt Irandial sabimanls,
45
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Cash Flows

Yeas Ended Dacember

§ in milions Hote 27 2018
Cash flows from operating activities

_Cash genevated rom gperations 25 %3see 58,745
Jexatonrecehed N 28
Taxation pakd _ {4086} (428}
Het cash from operating activities 3,523 3,340
Cagh flows from investing activities

Capital expenditure for feced assets {109) {135)
et cash used in imesting activilies (109) (135)

Cash flows from financing activities

......... 22
....... 2‘3
22
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning talance S
Forelgn exchange gainsi{ksses) on eagh and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance 24

This Bccompanying robes & an inbegral part of these fnencial ststements.
44

174/343



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

HNote 1.

General Information

The company B a prvale wnlimited company and s
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of its registered office is Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street,
London, EC44 2BB, United Kingdom.

The company's immediate parent undertaking iz Goldman
Sachs Growp UK Limited (G3G UK), a company incorporated
and demiciled in England and Wales, G5G UK together with
its conselidated subsidiaries form “GSG UK Group”™

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company
of the smallest and largest group for which conscldated
financial statements are prepared s The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc., a company incorporated m the United States of
Amenca. Copies of its consolidated financial statements, as
well as certain regulatory filings, for example Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-0 and the Annual Repont on Form 10-K,
that provide further information about G35 Group and s
business activities, can be obtained from Investor Relations,
200 West Street, New York, NY 10282, United States of
Amenca, G5 Group’s pnncipal place of business, or at
www.goldmansachs. com/shareholders/,

Basel Il Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company 13 imcheded 1 the comsoldated Pillar 3
diselosures of GSG UK, as required by the CRE. GSG UK's
2017 Pillar 3 disclosures will be made available in conjunction
with the publication of its consolidated financial information at
www goldmansachs com/disclosures’.

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company is included in the consolidated country-by-
coumiry reporting disclosures of G3G UK, as required by the
Capital Requirements  (Country-byv-Country  Reporting)
Eegulations 2013, G3G UK's 2017 coamtry-by-couniry
disclesures will be made available by December 31, 2018 a
www.goldmansachs com/disclosures’.

EDINETOOOO
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Note 2.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The company prepares financial statements under UK. GAAP.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with FES 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™ (FES 101}

These financial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis, under the historical cost convention (modified
as explaned in “Pension Armangements”™ and “Financal Assels
and Firancial Liabilities™ below), and in accordance with the
Companies Agt 2006,

The following exemptions from the disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adoepted
by the EU. have been applied in the preparation of these
financial statements in accordance with FRS 101;

« [FRS 2 “Share-based Payment” paragraph 45(b) and 46 1o 52
These disclosures are provided i the consolidated financal
statements of Group Inc

« 1A% 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements” paragraph 3% to
present comparative information in respect of-
« [AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements” paragraph
THa} ), and
« LAS 16 ‘Froperty, Plant and Equipment” paragraph 73(e).
« [AS | “Presentation of Financial Staiemenis’ paragraphs
1ML}, 16, and 404-Dx,

« [AS % “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors” paragraphs 30 and 31;

= [AS 24 “Eelated Party Disclosures” paragraph 17, and

= [AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures” requirements 1o disclose
transactions with companies also whelly owned within GS
Group.

Consolidation

The company has elected not to prepare consolidated financial
statements as permitted by section 402 of the Companies Act
2006 as s subsidiaries are not material for the purpose of
giving a true and fair view.

These financial statements are individual financial statements.

175/343
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues have been disclosed
instead of twrnover as this reflects more meaningfully the
nature and results of the company’s activities. Met revenues
includes the net profit ansing from iransactions, with both third
parties and affilmtes, in securities, foreign exchange and other
financial mstruments, and fees and commissions. This s
inclusive of associated interest and dividends.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Measured
at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading or
despnated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at
fair value with realised and unrealised pains and losses as well
as assockted interest and dividend mcome and expenses
included 1n net revenues. Financial assets are marked o bid
prices and financial habalities are marked to offer pnces. Fair
value measurements do not include transaction costs, The
company measwres certain financial assets and Dnancial
liabalities as a portfolio (1., based on its nel exposure 1o market
and/or credit risks).

Mon-derivative hnancial instruments owned and fnancial
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (1¢., cash instruments)
are recognised wsing  settlement  date  accouming.  See
“Frmneial Assets and Financial Liabihties — Recogrtion and
Dierecognition” below for further details. Unrealised gains and
losses related to the change in fair value of these instruments
between wrade date and settlement date are recopnised within
nél Tevenues.

Investment Banking

Fees from financial advisery engagements and underwriting
revenues are recognised in profit and loss when the relevant
parties are contractually bound and as confract actvity
progresses unless the right to consideration does net arise until
the occurrence of a critical event, in which case revenue is not
recognised until that event has occurred,

Expenses associated with such engagements are deferred until
the related revenue 18 recopmised or the engagement is
otherwise concluded. Expenses associated with Dnancial
advisory engagements are recognised in  admimstrative
expenses, net of client reimbursements. Underwriting revenues
are presented net of related expenses,

Investment Management

Management fees are recognised on an accrual basis and ane
generally calculated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed account’s average net asset value. All management
fees are recognised over the period that the related serviee is
provided.

b1 |
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Incentive fees are calculated as a percentage of a fund’s retumn
or a percentage of a fund's excess refurn above a specified
benchmark or other performance target. Incentive fees are
recogmised only when all matenal contingencies have been
resolved

Commissions and Fees

Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and
cleanng chent tramsactwons on stock, oplions amd fulures
markets, as well as OTC transactions is recognised in net
revenues on the day the trade is executed.

Operating Leases. The company has entered mto operating
lease arrangements as the lessee, Leased assels are not
recogrised in the balance sheet, Costs in respect of operating
leases, adjusted for any mcentives pranted by the lessor, are
charged on & straight-line basis over the lease term and
i luded within admimstrative expenses in the profit and loss
Account.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Short-term emplovee
benefits, such as wapes and salanes, are measured on an
undizcounted basis and accrued as an expense over the period
in which the emplovee renders the service to the company.
Provision 15 made for discretionary year-end compensation
whether to be pard in cash or share-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past peactice, a constructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date.

Share-Based Payments, Group Inc ssues awards in the
form of restricted stock units (RSUs) and steck options 1o the
company’s employees in exchange for employvee services.
Awards are classified as equity settled and hence the cost of
share-based transactions with emplovees is measured based on
the grant-date fair value of the award. Share-based awards that
do not require future service (e, vested awards, including
awards gramed 1o retirement ¢ligible emplovess) are expensed
mmmediately. Share-based awards that require future service
are amortised over the relevant service penod. Expected
forfeitures are included in determining share-hased employvee
COMPENsalion expense.

Group Inc, generally 1ssues new shares of common stock wpon
delivery of share-based awards, Cash dividend equavalents,
unless prohubited by repulation, are generally paid on
outstanding  RSUs. The company has also entered into a
chargeback agreement with Group Imc. wnder which it is
committed to pay the grant-date fair value as well as
subsequent movements in the fair value of those awards to
Group Ine. at the time of delivery to its emplovess, As a result,
the share-based payment transaction and chargeback agreement
creates a total charge to the profit and loss account based on
the gramt-date fair value of the awards adjusted for subsequent
movements in the fair value of thase awards prior to delivery.
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Dividends. Final equity dividends are recogmised as a liabality
and deducted from equity m the period in which the dividends
are approved by the company’s shareholder. Interim eguity
dividends are recognised and deducted from egquity when paid.

Pension Arrangements. The company is a sponsor of a
defined contribution pension plan, and a hybrid pension plan
for the benefit of certain emplovees. The hybrid pension plan
has both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
contnbution section. These are accounted for as follows:

» For the defined comnbution pension plan and the defined
contibution  section of the hyvbnd pension plan,  the
contributions payable for the year are charged to operating
profit. Differences between contributions pavable for the year
and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals
Or prepayments in the balance sheet.

For the Plan, the amounts charged to cperating profit are the
currenl service costs, any pasl service costs, administration
costs and any gains or losses on settlements and curtailments.
These amounis are included in stafl costs. The net interest 15
included m net Anance income. Actuarial gains and losses ane
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. Flan
assels are measured at far value and Plan habilities are
measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credat
method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the curment rate
of return on a high-quality corporate bend of equivalent
currency and term to the Plan habalities. Full actuanal
valuations are obtained at least trennially and updated at
cach balance sheet date. Any surplus or deficit of Plan assets
over Plan liabilities is recognised in the balance sheet as an
asset (surplus) or liability (deficit).

Fixed Assets.

Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated st cost less accumulated
depreciation and provision for impairment. Fixtures, fitings
and equipment are depreciated on a strmght-line basis over
their estimated useful lives, which s between 3 to 7 vears.
Depreciation is included in administrative expenses.

Leaschold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of
the useful economic life of the asset or the remaining life of the
lease when the asset is browghl into we, Depreciation policies
are reviewed on an annual basis.

Intangible Fixed Assols

Intangible fixed assels are staled at cost less accurmilated
amortisation and provision for impairment. Subject to the
recognition eritenia m [AS 38 ‘Intangible Assets” being met,
cosds inewrred during the year that are directly atinbutable to
the development or improvement of new business application
software are capitalised s assels in the course of construction
Assets in the course of construction are translerred 1o computer
software once completed and ready for their mtended use.
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Computer software s amortised on a straight-line basis over 1ts
estimated useful life, which 1z three vears. Mo amortisation 15
charged on assets in the course of comstruction. Amortisation is
included in administrative expenses and the amortization
pelictes are reviewed onan annual basis.

Intangible fxed assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or
assel group's carrying value may not be fully recoverable.

Fixed Asset Investments

Firced msset investments are stated at cost or amortised cost, as
applicable, less provision for impairment. Amoisation s
meluded m adminstrative expenses.

Cash at Bank and In Hand. Ths includes cash at bank and
in hand and highly liquid overmight deposits held m the
ordinary course of business,

Forelgn Currencies. The company’s financial statements
are presemted in U5 dollars, which iz also the company’s
functional currency.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated
inte U5, dollars a1 rates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction ocourred. Monetary assets and lishilines, and non-
monetary  assets and  labilities measured at fair value,
denominated in foreipn currencies are translated e 1S,
dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are recogrised in operating
prafit

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Recognition and Derecognition

Mon-derivative fnancial instruments owned and Dnancial
mstruments sold, but not vel purchased (1.¢., cash instruments)
purchased or sold in regular way transactions are recognised
and derecognised using settlement date accounting,

Other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. They are de-recognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or if the
company transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risk and rewards of ownership of that francial assel A
financial lability 15 derecogmsed only when it 15 extinguished
{1.e., when the obligation specified i the contract i1 discharged
of cancelled or expires).
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Classification and Measurement

The company classifies its financial assets and financial
liabalities into the below categories, The classification, which is
determined at initial recognition, depends on the purpose for
which they were acquired or origirated

« Financial assets and financial liabilities classified
as held for trading. Financial assets and financial
liabilies classified as held for trading inchede francial
instrumeenits owned and financial instruments sold, but not vet
purchased  Financial instruments owned and financial
instruments sold, but not yet purchased include cash
instruments and derivative instruments. Both are imitially
recogmised at fair value with transaction costs expensed
profit or loss, Such financial instruments are carmied in the
balance sheet al far value and all subsequent gains or losses

are recognised in net revenues.

The difectors are of the opinion that ot would not be
appropriate 10 classify them as current asset investments or 1o
provide an amalysis of such securities between those listed
and urilisted,

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss. The company
designates certain of s other financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
and Onancial liabalities designated at fair value through profit
or loss are itially recogrised at fair value with transaction
costs expensed i profit or loss. Such financial assets are
measured in the balance sheet at fair value and all subsequent
gains or kosses are recognised in net revenwes. Such financial
liabilines are measured in the balance sheet at fair value, with
changes in fair value attribwahble to own credit spreads (delbt
vahwtion adjusiment or DVA)} being recognised i other
comprehensive ncome, 1F 11 does not create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch, and the remaining changes in the fair
value being recognised in net revenues. The primary reasons
for designating such financeal assets and fnancial labihtes
at fair value through profit or loss are:

-

» The group of financial assets, financial habilities or both =
managed and its performance evaluated on a far value
basis; and

« To climinate or significantly reduce a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would atherwise arise from
measuring assets or labilities or recognising the gains and
losses onthem on different bases.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair
value throwgh profit or loss include:

+ Resale agreements and repurchase agrecments;

= Securities  bommowed and  loaned within  FICC  Client
Execution;,
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« Secured debt secunties issued and other borrowings, which
corsist of hybrid financial instruments and transfers of
as=ets accounted for as financings rather than sales;

- Certain  unsecured  debt  securities  issued and  other
borrowings, which consist of hyvbrid financial instruments;

« Certain  other

creditors, which consist of certain

mtercompany loans and prepaid commodity contracts; and

« Certain debtors, which consist of transfers of assets
accounted for as secured loans rather than purchases and
prepaid commedity contracts

Hybrid financial mnstruments are instruments that contain
bifurcatable embedded derivatives. If the company elects to
bifurcate the embedded dernvative from the associated debt,
the denvative is accounted for at fair value and the host
comtract is accounted for al amortised cost, adjusted for the
effective portion of any far value hedges. IF the company
does not elect to bofurcate, the entire hybnd fnancial
instrument is designated at fair value through profit or loss,

These financial assets and Onancial habilities designated at
fair valuwe are generally valved based on discounted cash flow
techrigques, which incorporate inputs with reasonable levels
of price ransparency, and are generally classified in level 2
because the inputs are observable. Valuation adjustments
may be made for hguidity and for counterparty ard GS

Group's credit quality.

Ll

Loans and receivables; and financial liabilities

measured at amortised cost. Loans and recevables are
non-denivative fimancial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They
include certain collateralised agreements, substantially all
debtors and cash at bank and in hand, Such financial assets
are mit@lly recogrised at fair value plus transaction coss and
subsequently measured al amortised cosl wsing the elfective
interest method (see below). Finance revenue 1s recorded

el revenues.

Financial habibties measured at amortised cost include
certain collateralised financings and the majority of other
creditors, Such hinancial liabilities are mtially recognised at
fair value plus transactions costs and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective imerest method (see
below). Finance costs, including discounts allowed on issue,
are recorded m nel revenues with the exception of mnterest on
long-term subordinated loans, which is recorded in interest
pavable and similar expenses,

53
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The effective interest method 15 a methed of caloulating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financeal lability (or a
group of fimancial assets or financial labilities) ard of
allocating the interest income or mterest expense over the
relevant period The effective interest rate is the rafe that
exactly discounts estimated future cash pavments of receipls
through the expected life of the financial asset or fimancial
liability or, when appropriate, a shorter penod to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financeal liability
When caleulating the effective imerest rate, the company
estimates cash fows considenng all contractual terms of the
financial asset or fmancial liability bt dees not consider
futare credit losses. The caleulation includes all fees and
points pard or recerved that are an integral part of the
cffective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other
premiums of discounts

The company assesses its loans and recevables at each
balance sheet date for any ebjective evidence of impairment
If there 15 objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss 1s measured as the
difference between the firancial asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash fows discounted at
the financial asset’s original effectve mierest rate. The
amount of the loss iz included within net revenues, if trading
related, or in administrative expenses if non-trading related.

Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equily
Financial labilities and equity instruments are  classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements. A
financial hability is any liability that is a contractual ohligation
te deliver cash ar another financial asset 1o another entaly, of 1o
exchange financial assets or financial abilities with another
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the
entity, An equaty investment is any contract that evidences a
resicdual interest in the assets of the entity afler deducting all
liabilities. Instrumemts are evaluated o determine if they
comain both liability and equity components. The imitial
carving amount of a compound [inancial istrument s
allocated first to the hability component, measured at far
value, and the equity iz assigned the residual amourt,

R
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Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Fmancial assets and financial liabilites are offset and the net

amount presented in the balance sheet where there is

« Currently a legally enforceable nght to set-off the recognised
amounts, and

« Intent to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simulianeously,

Where these condiions are not met, fnanceal assets and
financial liabilities are presented on & gross basis in the balance
sheet

Fair Value Measurement
See Note 28 for details about the fair value measurement of the
company's financial assets and fnancial habalities.

Hedge Accounting

The company applies hedge accounting for centain inlerest fale
swaps used to mamage the interest rate exposure of certain
fixed-rate unsecwred long-term and short-term borrowings. To
qualify for hedge sccounting, the derivative hedge must be
highly effective at reducing the nsk from the exposure being
hedged. Additionally, the company must formally document
the hedging relationship ot inceplion and test the hedging
relationshap to ensure the denvative hedge continues 1o be
highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship.

Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. Collateralised agreements  include resale
agreements and securities borrowed, Collateralised financings
mclude repurchase agreements, secunties loaned, secured debt
securities issued and other borrowings. See “Classification and
Measurement” above for details on the classification and
measurement of these nstruments. Collateral received or
posted can be inthe form of cash or securities. Cash collateral
is recognised'derecognised when received’paid  Collateral
posied by the company in the form of secunities 15 nok
derecopmsed from the balance sheet, whilst collateral received
in the form of securities is rot recognised in the balance sheet,
If collateral received is subsequently sald, the obligation o
returm the collateral and the cash receved are recogmsed on
balance sheet.
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Current and Deferred Taxation. The tax expense for the
period consists of current and deferred twxation. Tax s
recognised in the profit and loss account, except 1o the extent it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively ermacted al the balance sheet date in the countries
where the company operates and generates taxable income,
Dieferred tax is recogrised in respect of all temporany
differences that have originated, but not reversad ot the balance
sheet date, where transactions or events have occurred at that
date that will result in an obligation to pay more 1ax or a right
1o pay bess ta in the Duture with the following exceptions:

» Diefierred tax assets are recogmised only to the extent that the
directars consider that it i more likely than not that there
will be sumtable taxable profits from which the future reversal
of the underlying temporary differences can be deducted,

+ Deferred 1ax is measured on an undiscourted basis at the ax
rates that are expected to apply in the penods i which
temporary differences reverse, based on fax rates and laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Dieferred tax is recognised in the profit and loss account of
directly in other comprehensive income according to where the
associated gain or loss, to which the deferred tax is attributable,
15 recognised.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, Provisions are recognised in the firancial statements
when it is probable that an cutflow of economic Benefits will
be required to seftle a present {legal or constructive) ohligation,
which has anisen a5 a result of past events, and for which a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation
Legal obligations that may anse as a result of proposed new
laws are recognised as obligations anly when the legislation is
virtually cerain to be enacted as drafied

A contingent ltability 15 a possible obligation that anses from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
CCCMTENGe of non-occirrence of one or more uneerain fulure
evenls not wholly within the control of the company or a
present obligation that anses from past events but s not
recognised because enher an outflow of economic benefits 15
nat probable or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably
mesured,

A contingent asset 15 8 possible asset that arises from past
events and whose exastence will be confirmed only by the
ooeurrence of mon-ocowrrence of one or more uncertain future
events ned whally within the ¢ontrol of the company.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets ame not recognised
in the financial statements. However, disclasure is made unleéss
the probability of settlement 1= remote.

]
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New Accounting Standards.

IFRE 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

In July 2014, the Intemational Accounting Standards Board
(1ASE) ssued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments’ {(IFRS 9, which
replaces 1AS 39 ‘Financial Imstruments: Recognition and
Measurement” (LAS 39 for anmal periods beginning on or
after Jammary 1, 2018 In November 2016, the EU. endorsed
IFRS 9.

Eey changes as a result of the new standard include:

Classification and Measurement. [FES 9 imroduces a
principles-based approach to the classification of Dnanceal
assets, resulting in the following categones: far value through
profit or loss; fair value through other comprehensive income;
and amortised cost,

IFRS @ requires debt assets to be classified based on a
combination of the company's business models and the nature
of the assets’ cash flows Whilst the company expests o
reclassfy certain financial assets from fair value through profie
or loss to amortised cost and vice-versa, it does not expect
there o be a sigmificam change in the carrying value of these
financial assets on the date of adoption.

Accounting for Gnancial lishilities remains lasgely unchanged
from 1AS 39, except for the requirements related to changes in
the fair value of fimancial liabilities atributable to own credit
spreads (debt valution adjustient of DVA) The company
early adopted the DV A requirements, effective from January
2006,

Impairment. [FRS 9 changes the impairment methodology
for applicable financial assets, replacing the incurred loss
maodel of IAS 39 with a forward-looking expected credit loss
(BECL) approach.

The company 15 required 1o assess expected losses based on the
probability of default in the next twelve months, unless there
has been a significant increase m credit risk since origination,
in which case, the expected loss is based on the probability of
default over the life of the asser.

The company has developed and tested an impairment model
that complies with the kev requirements of IFRS 9. The
expected credit losses penerated from the model as of
December 2017 are negligible, consistent with the incurred
losses cugrently recopded under TAS 39,

Hedge Accounting. IFES 9 allows entities to continue with
the hedge accounting requirements under 1AS 39 even when
other elemenis of [FRS @ became mandatory on January 1,
2018, Based on the company’s analysis, the impact from
adopling  hedge  accounting  under IFRS 9 would be
insignificant and it has decided 1o continee 1o apply hedge
accounting under 1A 39
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IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

In May 2014, the IASBE msued IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from
Cortracts  with Customers’. This standard, a5 amended.
provides comprehensive guidance on the recognition of
revenue from customers arising from the transfer of goods and
services, guidance on accounting for certain contract costs, and
new disclosures.

The standard became effective for the company in January
2018, and was implemented under the cumulative effect
transition approach. As a result of adopting this standard, the
company will delay recognition of non-refundable and
milestone pavments on financial advisory assignments until the
assignments are completed. The implementation of this
standard did not have a sigmificant impact on the company’s
balarce sheel, statements of comprehensive income or ils
statements of cash flows on the date of adoption.

The company will also prm.mcti'l.'c]:.r change the prcﬁ.r:nl;ﬂtinn
of certain costs from a net presentation within net revenues to a
groas basis. Whilst this presentational change will not change
the company s operating profit, 1t 13 expected (o increase the
company™s nel revenues and administrative expenses, in
comparison to the company s current presentation

Hote 3.
Presentation Changes

The company has changed the presentation of its borrowmgs as
follows:

« Certain borrowings have been reclassified from creditors:
amounts falling due within one vear to creditors: amounts
falling dwe after maore than one year, based on their
contractual maturity in accordance with the provisions of
Schedule 100 of 51 2008/410; and

« Secured  borrowings  previowsly  included  within  other
creditors have been reclassified to collateralised Onancings,
which better reflects the inherent nature of the balances.

Az a resull, the following balances as of December 2016 have

been reclassified in order to align to the current period

presentation:

« Other creditors falling due within one year decreased by
5644 billion;

« Collsteralised fimancings falling due within one  year
increased by 52,74 billion;

« Collateralised financings falling due after more than one year
increased by 51.57 billion; and

+« Other ereditors falling due after more than one year increased
bw 32,13 billion.

56
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In addition, as of December 2016, $9.00 hillion of bomowings,
representing funded derivative products and transfers of assets
accounted for as fmancings rather than sales, have been
reclasaified from debt secunities issued to other bormowings in
order to align to the current period presentation.

Comparatives i MNetes 18, 19, 25, 28 and 29 have been
updated to confiorm 1o the current period presentation

MNote 4.

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

The preparation of fnancel statements requires management
to make judpements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recognised in these financial statements, The mature of
estimation means that achel outeomes could differ from those
estimates, The following judgements have had the most
signficant ¢ffect on amounts recognised n the Ninancial
slalements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certain of the company's [nancial assets and Onancial
lrabiliies nclude sigmificant unobservable inputs (1e, level 3).
See Note 28 for information about the carrying value, valuation
techniques and significant inputs of these instruments.

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings

The company estimates and provides for potential losses that
may arise oul of htgation and regulatory proceedings o the
extent that such losses are probable and can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgement is required in making these
estimates and the company s final habilities may ulimately be
materially different.  See Motes 20 and 26 for further
information abow the company™s provisions for liabilities and
legal proceedings that the company 15 invalved in, respectively.

Defined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan habilities are
determined using actuarial valuations. This involves making
assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases,
mofality rates and [uture pension increases. Due 1o the
complexity of the valuation, such estimates are subject to
significant uncertainty, See Note 10 for further mformation
about the company™s Plan
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Note 5.
Segment Reporting

The company reports its activities in the following four
business segments: Investment Banking: Instiiutional Chent
Services, Investing & Lending, and Investment Management
See “Results of Operations — Segment Reporting”™ in Pant [ of
this annual report for a description of the company's segments.

Basis of Preparation

In reporting segments, certain of the company™s business lines
have been aggrepated where they have similar economic
charactenstics and are similar in each of the following areas:
(1) the nature of the services they provide: (1) their methods of
distmbution; (1) the types of chents they serve; and (W) the
regulatory environments in which they operate.

The cost drivers of the company taken a8 a whole,
compensation, headeount and levels of business activity, are
breadly similar in each of the company™s basiness segments.
Direct costs of employment in the company s segments reflect,
among other factors, the overall performance of the company
as well as the performance of imdividual businesses.
Corsequently, operating profit margins i one segment of the
company’s business may be significantly affected by the
performance of the company’s other business sepments.

The company allocates assets (including allocations of GCLA
and cash, secured client financing and other assets), revenues
and expenses among the four business segments. Due to the
integrated nature of these segments, estimates and judgements
are made in allocating certain assets, revenues and expenses.
The allocation process is hased on the manmer in which
management currently views the performance of the segments
Transactions between segments are based on specific eriteria or
approximate third-party rates. Total administrative expenses
includes charitable contributions and mark=to-market of share-
based compensation that have not been allocated 1o individual
business segments.

In addition to transactions entered into with third parties. the
company also enters ino transactions with affiliates in the
normal course of business as part of market-making activities
and general operations. Revenues are allocated to, and receved
from, such affiliates for these transactions.

Management believes that the information below provides a
reasonable representation of each segment’s contribution 1o net
revenues, operating profit and total assets, Operating profit has
orly been presented for the compary’s significam segents,
which are Investment Banking and Institutional Chent
Services,
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The scgment information presented n “Segment MNet
Revenues™ and “Segment Operating Profit”™ below is prepared
according 1o the following methodologies:

« Revenue and expenses directly associated with each segment
are included in determining operating profit.

« Met revenues in the company’s segments include allocations
of interest income and interest expense 1o specific securities
and other positions in relation 1o the cash generated by, or
funding requirements of, such underlying positions with the
exception of interest on long-term subordinated loans, which
i5 presented in interest pavable and similar expenses (see
Mote 93 Net interest is included in segment net revenues as it
is comsistent with the way in which management assesses
segment performance,

« Ohverhesd  expenses not  directly  allocable to  specific
sepments are allocated matably based on direct sepment
ERpENSes.

Segment Net Revenues

The table below presents the net revenues of the company's

segments.

$ i maliang m7 2018
Investenent Banking

Financisl Adviseey L) 3 583
UnderwTiting e 675
Total Inwestment Banking 51,178 31138
Instiutional Client Servces

FICE Cliert Execution AT 1533
Equities 2,385 2086
Total Institugional Cllent Services $4,407 54,589
Investing & Lending 5 318 3 500
IFvvirstFert Marssgement 5 53 5 am
Totsl net revenues 8,508 56,540

Substantially all interest income and interest  expense
recogrised within net revenues 1s attributable to Institutional
Cliemt Services.

See Note 28 for further information about the items of income,
expense, gains of losses related to the company's financeal
assets and financial habilites that are presented within net
FENERLes,
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Segment Operating Profit
The table below presents the operating profit of the company’s
significant segments
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The table below presents the total net revenues of the company
by geographic region allocated based on the methodology
referred to above,

foar Enced December Yoar Endad December

5 in elieng a7 2016 5 i g amr 2018
Investmant Banking Nt reverwes
Mt revanioes 51,176 51138 EMEA 54,397 5,013
...... 1 e e
Operatling profit § 4 5 48 Asin i 616

Tatal net evenues 56,500 ]
Insimuticnal Clent SBarvices
HEt revenon Fa482 4,589
Adminisirative expenses [RE2T) {2500 MNote §.
Operaling profil 1855 52007

Administrative Expenses
Ll S ]
Total administrative expenses [4.119) (4,265 . ) " .. .
Yol et 5 SEE The table bhelow presents the compamy’s administrative
I the table above:

« Total net revenues included net revenwes of $850 million
and 38322 million for 2017 and 2016, respectively, related 1o
Investing & Lending and Investment Maragement

« Total administrative expenses  included admiristeative
expenses of 5575 million and 5342 million for 2017 and
2016, respectively, related to Investing & Lending and
Investment Marmagement segments, amnd cerlam overhesd
expenses that have not been allocated to the company's
segments of 3169 million and $513 million for 2017 and
2006, respectively, representing mark-to-market of share-
based compensation and charitable contnibutions.

Segment Assets
Substantially all of the company’s assels are attributable to
Institutional Client Services,

Geographic Information

Due to the highly imegrated nature of international financial
markets, the company manages s businesses based on the
profitability of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for

allocating profitability to geopgraphic regions 15 dependent on
estimates and management judgement.

Geographic results are generally allocated as follows:

« Investiment Banbing: location of the client,
banking team and underlying risk.

investment

« Institutional Client Services: location of the market-making
desk and the primary market for the underlying securty.

« Investing & Lending: location of the investing and lending
Team.

« Investment  Management:  location of the investment

mmgcmcm Ledm

58

Manageenent chafges FomAs group underakings 45 ]
CHher supenses H_? 265
Total nor-com pensation sxpenses 1,857 1,286
Tatal sdmin siralive ocpenses 4,119 b, 260
In the table above:

= Oecupancy expenses included net operating lease rentals for
land and buildings of 72 million and 350 million for 2017
and 2016, respectively.

» Management charges fromito group undertakings includes
service charges relating to operational and administrative
support, and management services received from  and
provided 1o group undertakings. This included a charpe of
3636 million and a credit of 3391 milhon for 2017, and a
charge of 5420 mallwon and a credit of 3382 mallion for 20146,

= Other expenses include miscellancous taxes and chantable
contribulions.

The table below presents the fees payable to the company's
awditors, which are included within professional fees.

Y adi Endiad Dasdermibio

5 i mallng 00T o
Frs for th company's st .1 N
Aidit rpda bedl ASSUMANCE SENADES 20 0
[T ———— S mmm—
Taention complants serices 0z i
Ohar Pee-aud sansices FT] 5
Total fees for non-sudit services 74 33
= 563 .1
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HNote 7.

Directors’ Emoluments
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Mote 8.
Staff Costs

The table below presents the company’s  directors” The table below presents the company's average monthly
emoluments. number of staff (employees including directors, consultants
Yam Enched Ducombar and temporary siaff)

3 in milions 7 e Awarage foethe
L L L . . — Year Ended Caecember
T TR— _— — T me
purehase Serdenis - = Employess including directors
Total directors’ emoluments 56 3] [ —— 1 730
Inztitutional Clisnt Sarvices 1,449 1,503
The table below presents emoluments for the highest paid investing & Lending 149 168
director. nvesiment Management a6
Bupport Funchions 1,451 28M
foar Ended Docember Sub-totel _ ham A7IE
£ in millons 217 2§ Consultants and temporary staff ik L]
[ —— 53 B Toisl average number of st Fr= 6125
o TR .
purzhass Sthames - - The company has the use of the serviees of o number of

Azcrued annusl pention o end of year - -

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, directors’
emoluments  above represent the proportion of  todal
emcluments paid or pavable in respect of qualifving services
only. This total only mcludes the value of cash and benefits in
kind, and does not include the value of equity awards in
accordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of 51 2008/410.
Directors also recerve emoluments for non-qualifying services
which are not required to be disclosed

Three directors were members of a defined comtribution
scheme, Three directors, including the highest paid director,
have received or are due to receive Group Ine. shares in respect
of long-term incentive schemes duning the vear. One director,
who was the highest pard director, has exercised stock options
duning the vear,

The aggregate emoluments of the six non-executive directors
who were members of the board of directors for all or part of
the vear ended December 2017 was approximately 317
million. Cerain non-executive  directors received or will
recerve additional ongoing fees in respect of advisory services
provided during the vear, the apprepate amount of which is
approsmately 32.6 million.

54

mdividuals who are emploved by afhhated entities and
seconded to the company, and who are included in the
disclosure of headcount and related staff costs,

The decrease in the average number of support functions staff
was mainly due o the company transferring approximately
1,700 employees, who were previously employed by or
seconded to the company, to an affiliated group undertaking in
the UK, These emplovees continee 1o serve the company in
the same manner as prior to the transfer. In addition, as a result
of this change, the company now incwrs a service charge which
is reported in  “Management charges fromito  group
undertakings™ in MNote 6.

Total headeount was 4,467 and 5,903 as of December 201 7 and
December 20016, respectively,

The table below presents employment costs incumed by the
company, including those relating to direcioss

Year Ended December

Pya— T 201
Employess Maticaal Fiurance Contriboons I A
Paniicn edili. employer contributions 1e

Dabrgsd ribaitian plin and defined ik

wction of the kybad pihiasn plan [ ]

Defned bonofit section of the hybed pension plan 1 ]

Total direct cosis of employment STAST 22874

In the table above:

« Total direet costs of employvment meluded a charge of 5144
million for 2017 and a charge of 3488 million for 20146,
relating to the mark -to-market of shase-based compensation.

« Total direct costs of employment also include costs related to
consultants and temporary stafl,
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Note 3.
Interest Payable and Similar Expenses

Interest payvable and similar expenses consists of nterest on
long-term  subordinated loans from parent and group
undertakings of 5301 million and 5346 million for 20017 and
2016, respectively. See MNete 19 for further details.

Hote 10,
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors a pension plan with a hybrid structure,
having both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
comribution section. The Flan provides retirement benefits on
the basis of members” final salary, with a mormal retirement
age of 65 for most members. The Plan is funded, with the
assets of the scheme held separately from those of the
company, in separate tnestee-adm mistersd funds,

The Plan was closed to new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008, and was replaced by a defined contribution plan. As of
March 31, 2006, the Plan was closed 1o future benefit accruals
for existing participants.

The Plan operates under trust law and 15 marsged and
administrated by the Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Plan
Trustee Limited (the Trustee) on behalf of the members in
aceordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and Rules and
relevant legislation. The Plan's assets are held by the trust.

A full actuanal valuation of the Flan was carmied out by a
qualified independent actuary as of July 31, 2007 using the
projected unit eredit method and updated to December 31,
2017, As of December 2017, the Plan liabilities consist of 97%
in respect of future beneficiaries and 3% in respect of current
beneficianies,

Risks of the Plan
The mamn nsks of the Plan are:

« Funding Shortfall, Additienal comnbutions will be
required if the investment retumns are not suflicient o pay for
benefits. The level of equity returms will be a key determinant
of overall investment retum; the mvestment portfolio 15 also
subject 1o a range of other nsks typical of the asset classes
held, in particular interest rate risk and inflation risk on
bomds.

« Asset Volatility. A consequence of the Plan's investment
strategy, with a significant propestion of the assets invested
in equities and other rewrn-seeking assets is that the
difference between Plan assets and Plan lizbilities may be
volatile.

EDINETOOOO
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« Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan labilities are sensitive
to the assumptions made about future inflation and life
expectancy. It is also sensitive to the discount rate, which
depends on market yields on sterling-denominated high-
quality corporate bonds.

Financial Assumptions

The table below presents the sigmificant firancial assumptions

used to determine the present value of the defined benefit

obligation

Weas Endid Dicambi

% por snnum T 20186
Discourt rate A0 255
T B
Rate of price infation - RF| 1 345
Rabe of price nfation = CFI 235 Zak

Aate of increass in penvsions in pryments
ipost-November 30, 1856 sccnual) 115 328
T e —
(poit-November 30, 18688 accrual) +3% 245
et e
(poat-Apil 5, 2008 sscnal) 234 245
Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the moralty assumptions used o
determine the present value of the defined benelit obligation
The morahty assumptions adopted for 2017 were the “51
senies all pensioner light™ base table with allowance for future
impravenents rom 2002 onwards in line with the CMI 2016
core projections with a long-term rate of improvememt of
1.25% per anmum,
Widd Endid Distdanibin

Yoars T 206
Life axpectancy of 65 for a masmiber curmntly 65
Matas Fat 240
Females M7 ma
Lifs sxpectancy ot 55 for 8 mesmber currentty 45
Malas 250 254
Fenales W3 A
Defined Benefit Cost

The table below presents the defined benefit costgain) related
to the Flan recognised in the company”s profit and loss account
and in other comprehensive income,

§ i malliang T 2018
Profit and loss account

Curnant sernics ook $ - E
Adminksiration costs - [ -
Nt Snancs incemn m [
Tatal credited to the pronit and (ass accaunt 7] -
Other comprefenaive income

Aubam on Plan assets greater Shan discownt rate

iIIFH'IEI

II“‘_' ..I ....... s
e —— .
Total losaigain) resogniasd in olher
comprehensive income (THE) 188
Total defined Lenent costiigan) S00) R
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The table below presents a reconcilistion of Plan assets, Plan
liabalities and the net pension surplus,

Sensitivity Analysis

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan
liabilines for each significamt actuarial assumption. The
sensitivities are based on a change in each assumption while

Flan Plan Mot Peesion ' '
£ in milions Assels  Lishiltes Surplus helding all other assumptions constant.
Az of January 1 §2.150 There are inherent limitations in this analysis, as swh
Curent srvics com - idiosyneratic  movemenis are  unlikely 1o ocowr.  The
Adminisation oot - methodology used o calculate the sensitivities are consistent
Hot e income 0 s th 1l d i1 the ble below
et on Flan P across the two penods presented in the tl W,
han discount rate 184 - 184 -
Acuaral gainiilces) - katdiy S rr— Wit s T ":m m =
Py o - ':: ﬂ ¥ in malions %5 mmilons %
o = 1 As of December M17
iyctuarial gain = demographic N
lnurq_:\am'l - ar BT D'?i‘ N I'l: 93 w3 § 780 &0
_Employer contnbions Ll - w0 0.25%, change i price ) )
T . I "o = [— 71 7.3 T T2}
Forsign snchangs gain'foia) 223 {205) 12 Fp——T——T - -
A of December 31 I ) 5 021 :"'" 9', - i (163 s
Yuar Encied Cecember 2016
s of January 1 §1,837 $01,578 261 5 of Dycembuc 201§
. DB B 82
g “ 2 0.25% ehaage & price
R om Pan st i = s 85w am
Finn dieount eale 811 = 811 1 yoar change in life
Actuaral gainiioss) - kabiliry pedtancy o 4.0 @1} (3.0
i - 1 18
e & me  Nature of Future Cash Flows
Actuarial gain = semographic ) - Smee the Plan’s ¢losure to future aceruals from March 31,
__ avsumgtions - - - 2016, the company has ceased 1o make regular contnbulions
;.n{ﬁ. T it :1 e g imto the Plan but will continue o assess the funding
i = i i iodi i
o e ; =0 = = requirements of the Flan with the Trstees on a periodic basis.
3 of Dacamte 31 2150 WA s 2

Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Flan Trustees have a long-term asset allocation sirategy 1o
invest 50% of assels i retum secking investments (such as
equities) and 50%: in hability matching assets (such as Gilts).
The Flan has a hedping programme investing in swaps and
other dermvatives in order 1o reduce the exposure to changes in
interest rates and inflation. The table below presents the fair
value of Plan assets,

On a menmial basis, a formal funding valeation of the Plan 15
performed for the Trustees o assess the funding needs of the
Plan This valuation differs from the actuanal valuation
required for accounting purpeses due to the use of different
ST LIS,

The most recent funding valuation was performed by a
qualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2015, which
mcheated that the Plan was in a funding defieit of £66.3
million. As of December 31, 20146, the company agreed with

§ in milions Cuoted Urquoted Total the Trustees to contmbute £73.3 million to the Plan, in two

Equities o $ - $1.042 Lrns'talmerrl.s_. The first instalment of L4000 mallion (S50 mll.lmn:l

G Fry . Ty was made in January 2017, and the second instalment of £333

Swags - 613 515 million (345 million) was made in January 2018 Had the

Cash and cash squivalents 133 - 13 second instalment been made prios o December 31, 2017, the

Other 172 B3 I35 : . £ o :
e net persion surplus recogrised on the company s balance sheet

o L LI 209 would have been $366 million.

Az of Decomber 7016

Equities 5 740 5 - § 740 The company expects 320 milhion of benefits 1o be pard oul of

Gits 600 = L the Plan to members in 201 8.

Swaps - 1@ 518

Cush and cash squivalents W = L. The weighted average duration of Plan liabilities was 35 years

Sther 14 = L as of December 2017

Total 1.5 S50 $2150 - ’

l
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Note 11,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan
Group Inc. spornsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2013)
(2015 SIP), which provides for, amongst others, gramts of
RSUs, restricted stock, dividend equivalent rights and
incentive stock options.

The company recorded share-based compensation in respect of
the amortisation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
5405 million and 5497 million for 2007 and 2016, respectively.
The comesponding credit to equity has been transferred to
liahilities a= a result of the terms of the chargeback agreement
with Groag Ine, under which the company is commitied to pay
1o Group Iné. the grant-date fair value as well as subsequent
movements in the far valee of those awards to Group Inc. at
the time of delivery 1o its emplovees,

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc. grants RS1s to the company’s employees under the
2015 3IP, which are generally valued based on the closing
price of the underlymg shares on the date of grant after taking
inty account a liquidity discount for amy applicable post-
vesting and delivery transfer restrictions. BSUs generally vest
and underlying shares of common steck deliver (net of
reguired withhelding tae) as outlined in the apphicable award
agreements. Emplovee award agreements generally provade
that vesting 15 accelerated in certain circumstances, such as on
retirement, death, disability and conflicted employment
Delivery of the underlving shares of common stock s
conditioned on the grantees satislying certam vesting and other
requirements outlined in the award agreements.
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Stock Options

Stock options generally vest as outlined in the applicable stock
opticn agreement. In general, options expire on the tenth
anniversary of the grant date, although they may be subject 1o
carlier termination or cancellation under certain circumstances
in accordance with the terms of the applicable stock option
agreement and The Goldman Sachs Amended and Restated
Stock Incentive Plan in effect at the time of grant.

The table below presemts options outstanding, All cutstanding
options as of December 200 7 were granted m 2008,

Weighted Waightad
Aarage P b
Optians Extecise  Remnaining Lise
Exdécin Price. Dutitanding Prici aral
$T500 - § EGLE 624,556 § TRTE 1,00
$E0.00 - 5954 89 ) - R -
$1B8 00 . $200.80 T = - = -
Total oulstanding 823,350 S TETE 1.00
$7800 . § 000 1,108,300 $ TATH 200
R e - -
$155.00 - 5209.89 436,851 204,16 092
Total castanding 1,548,260 §i1421 .68

For those options exercised during the vear, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise was 523934 and
£194.04 for 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Hote 12, Mate 13.
Tax on Profit Fixed Assets
The table below presents the company’s amalysis of tax on The table below presents the company”s [ixed assets.
profit.
At of Decarribe
Year Enced Decemt 5 in iz T 2018
5 in milions EolL T _Temghls Exad mash _¥FT 3M
Currend tax Inlangikle kod stz 182 106
o ot st et Tt e —
Acfustmants i respect of price paricd (25) et Tolal fixed assets [l 5140
......... L L.
Total curment tax = 530 Tangible Fixed Assets
The table below presents the movements i tangble fived
Dieferred tax assets dusing the vear,
Origination and reversal of temporary Glleeres 149 (46
Efect of decroaied LLK. corporabe tax rates - 3 Fistures.
Aduitmants B rdipect of pricr penicds 268 = Leazshold fitings and
Totel deferred fax s [ % i mlons Improvements AT Tiokal
Total tax on profit =1 $an7 ey
Ag of Jaraswry 1 582 £10 $52
The table below presents a reconcibiation between tax on profit Addiiorn 2 1 3
and the amount calculated by applying the weighted average Digporials = L] (1
Aa of Ducambaer 31 e 10 L]

rate of UK. corporation tax apphcable to the company for the
wvear of 27.25% (2016: 28.0%4) to the profit before taxation

Year Ended Decembar
T 205
20 51,543
DINNRNDN L

ef

Permanent dfsrances
Tax losses surnrendensd fom group
dertakingt o fil i e ation

A of Decembar 2016

Intangible Fixed Assets
The table below presents the movements in intangible fixed

Efiect of higher aces on owsmess samings fassels dl.l'll'ls the yiar,
Asmets in e

Efexct of decreawed UK. corporabe tax rates Computer courss of

Total tax on profit $ in mlions sobwane  constructon Total
Costl
As of Jasesary 1 53 5B 108
B S - 7 —
Digperialy (3} = (1
A& of Decembar 31 13 1 I
Accumulated amortisation
As of Jaswpry 1 3 - 3
Charge for the year (see Note &) i) - el
Ax of Decembar 31 k] - r
Mgt Bk vl
Ag of Decembar 2017 M 1 S8
25 ol Ducwenbar 2016 5 o1 S B $I06_

fix]
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Fixed Asset Investments

Frxed asset investments melede investments other than loans of
31 million as of both December 2017 and December 2016 and
shares in subsidiary undertakings of Snil as of both December
2007 and December 20146,

The table below presents the subsidimry over which the
company exercised control as of December 2017

Haldng
and
propoetion  Class of
Hame of Comnfry of ofvoting  shares Mumber Nature of
ATy i porati rights Thedd held Eusiness
Goldman Sachs

{Caymanj Cayman Cudinary Fnancial
Linribaed Ixlards 100 shmres 250 AN

The registered office address of Goldman Sachs (Cayman)
Limited is the offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited,
PO Box 309, Uglsmd House, Grand Cayian, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands.

The company has interests in a numbser of special purpose
entities and capital guaranteed funds which do net meet the
definition of a legal subsidiary, but give rise to the risks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they were
legal subsadharies. The activities of these special purpose
entities and the capital puaranteed funds consist of the isswance
of loan notes wrder the terms of a repackaging programme
These special purpeses eniities and capital gusranteed [unds
are consclidated in the financial statements of Group Inc.
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Mote 14,

Financial Instruments Owned and Financial
Instruments Sold, But Not Yet Purchased

Fimancial mstruments owned and Onancial instruments sold,
but not yet purchased consist of firancial instruments and
investments within the operating activities of the COMpany.
Fmancial mstruments owned includes fnancm] instruments
owned pledged as collateral. See MNote 28 for further
information

The table below presents the company’s financial instruments
owned.

At of Deconthar
$ it rrallonz 27 2018
Cash Irsfruments
Meney market instuments s_4M 5 an
Governmant and agency obl gations 21,065 18,485
Mortgage and otfwe asset-kacked loans
and securitios 641 Tl
Corporate loams ard debl secures and
cther dabt obiigations 15,535 12,364
Equity scunties 35,044 3.513
Commodities 406 103
Total cash Instruments 74,085 53,346
A56,001 i eet
.......... 0158 08
T0EB00 127280
1 LR R
50,328 54,556
Total derivative irdiruments 66,200 SE0.589
Tetal financial insnaments owned Sl 24 S663 045

The table below presents the company's [inancial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased.

As of Deremiber
£ in mllong 27 2018
Cash Irtruments.
Govenmant and agency sbigations _S130% 510099
Corporate loars ard debt seouriSes and

2408

18,30

B, 760

IR QRO 365620

28,106 3,60

110,855 126,877

11,218 8,788

56,804 53,174

Total deriwative irstruments 56,123 5BA.0T5
Total financial instraments sold, but not yet

purchased 480,022 S613,811

In the tables above, equily secunties includes public and
private  equities, exchange-traded funds amd  convertible
debentures.
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Note 15,
Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents the company's  collaterahised
agreements.
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Mote 17.
Deferred Tax

The table below presents the components of the company's
defermred tax asset.

An of Decembar
5 in millons 27 2016 § it raltionz
Restle agraemants £122,509 120,005 _Timing differerces redabed to fnd atsats
Secuntesbomowsd X B4585 Poskifoamantbenalty =~ .
Total collaleralised agreements 534,320 $184,E00 _Detered compeniation
Dwbt valustion adjustrment
Total def smed tax

Inthe table above:

« Total collateralised agreements mcluded amounts due from
group undertakings of $119.51 billion and $121.45 hullion as
of December 2017 and December 2016, respectively.

« Total collateralised agreememts included balances due m
mare than one vear of $522 million and 3433 million as of

In the table above, deferred compensation is mainly in respect
of share-based compensation.

The table below presents changes in each component of the
company”'s deferred tax asset.

Drecember 2017 and December 2016, respectively. ) A3 of Daeambn
5 i ralliang T 2018
Timing tiferences related 1o flxed assels
A of January 1 5 - 5 3
Hote 16, Transie to $he proft and loss account W) ™
A5 of Decembar 31 5 W) 5 -
Debters T
Poat-netirement benefits
The table below presents the company’s debtors balances. All As of January i § i ET
debtors are due within one year of the balance sheet date, _Tranafer bo e proft and loes account . mo §
unless noted below, Transhad ba athir comprhanaa incom 150} a7
PaofDwoemnbery 000 LR e 0
Ax of Decembaer -
5 in milicns AT 2016 N
Arneris dsh TTom BIoHMSRENRTS nd cuth $62,00% 57,290 A8 of Janugury 1 L M
1,574 Transler bo S profit and loss sccount [LET] kL
Tod Az ol Deosmber 31 5577 672
44
- erp—p—— e T ™ Dbt waluation adjusteEnt
P e v gl PR
Transfer to ather comprehensive i [ 45
In the table above: H:.'W.h ....... LR i“'
« Amounts due from broker/dealers and customers included Tota
balances due In more than one vear relating to prepaid A of Januaaty | A Tou il
commodity contracts of 544 million and 3276 million as of Trantr £o e profit and oo secount
{man Mobe 12) [§2L1] 43
Drecember 2007 and December 2016, respectively., Tranaler to cthi comprahantive incomi 18 9
A% of December 31 S575 5704

« Total debtors included financial assets of 573,38 hillion and
36896 ballion as of December 2017 and December 2016,
respectively, and non-financial assets of 3674 million and
3736 milhon as of December 2017 and December 2016,
respectively.
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Hote 18, Mate 19,
Collateralised Financings Other Creditors
The table below presents the company's  collaterahised The table below presents the company’s other ecreditors.
financings.
A of Decmiba
As of Decermber % i el FLuts 216
5 in millons T A6 Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts Falling dus within one year Unsecured borrowings FUSM 326400
Repurchase agresments. 4 B4 SE Armounts dus to Brokeridealsrs and cuttomen 57,675 54,071
" E3. 08 Amounts dus bo parent and group wndertaking:
ther unsecred creditons 16,290 2287
Share-bated compermation Jo2 i

Corporation tax payable B 203

Crher baes lndml?ﬂr:m Bl _231_
Amounts falling due after more than one year Char criilest and actrualy 1,028 1.07%
Repurchass agresments 5 11,228 5 5TM Tola S102, 584 5104 408
Sacuntio lared 2,063 a5
Dobit mocuries istusd 405 159 Amipunts falling due after more than one year
_Other bomowings 1,884 1.408 1 d b i 5 3RO 5 30176
Ionl & 1FATE § T80 . ‘-m-hapuﬂtl:rﬁ“ ndertakings: S
Tolal colaleralised Rnancings SIS S i P “ -

..... e Al R
Inthe table above: Ot cradiers T 5
« Repurchase agreements falling due after more than one year Tols LELLED 3 40202

Total other credtors 143,304 S144.6850

included instruments that are repavable in more than five
years of 353 million and 375 million as of December 2017
and December 2016, respectively, which had maturities
falling dus in 2030,

Dbt securities ssued and other borrowings falling due after
more than one year included instruments that are repavable in
more than five vears of $1.30 billion and 3427 million as of
December 20017 and December 2016, respectively. As of
December 2017, these mstruments have matunities falling
due between 2026 and 2030, Pavments on these instruments
are typically referenced to underlying financeal assets, which
are predominately interest rates, equities and credit-related.

Total collaterahzed fmancings ncluded amounts due 10
group undertakings of $120.36 hllion and $99.38 billion as
of December 2017 and December 2016, respectively, of
which 311640 billion and $98.34 billion as of December
2017 and December 2006, respectively, are due within ane
year.

Dbt securities 1ssued and other borrowings are secured by
securities which have been pledged as collateral. This
pledged collateral s either recogmised within “Firancial
instruments owned” or sourced through collateralised
Agrecments.

In the table above, amounts falling due within one year
included financial liabilities of $103.22 bhillion and 310405
ballion as of December 2017 and December 2016, respectively,
and non-financial liabilities of 3367 million and 3434 million
a5 of December 2017 and December 2006, respectively. All
amounts falling due after more than one vear are Onancial
liabilities as of both December 2017 and December 200 6.

Unsecured Borrowings
The table below presents the company”s unsecured bomowings.
Az of Decomber

§ in milliong 7 2018
IrerE Gy
Loans. 20,278 EaL k-
e e
Bhoriderm ntercompany unsecured borrowings | 21,055 20,142
Loans 14,020 [CTH
e . el
T " e
Long-erm intercompany unsecured borrowings | 22,097 7,588
Total Intere o any Unsecured BOmowings 43,152 T
External
Bank lksamt 5 - 5 184
Crerdraks 73 7
Dabt ecuritiss imwued 531 2533
Crher bormowings. 1,087 2E23
Shanm-lerm exiermnal unsecuned Bormewings BAR0 S.H2T
Bank lcars

“Debt securties imwued

T EEEE—
Lang-tenm external unsecisnnd bormowings 16,887 11,540
Tolal external unsecured borrowings F2,008 SIS BT
Total unsecured bomowings LT iy 505
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Inthe table above:

« Dbt zecurities ssued and other borrowings falling due afier
more than one year ineluded instruments that are repayable n
maore than five vears of 946 billion and $6.53 billion as of
December 2017 and December 2016, respectively. As of
December 2017, these instruments have maturities falling
due between 2023 and 2057, Payments on these instruments
are typically referenced to underlving financial assets. which
are predominately interest rates and equites-related.

Intercompany loars fallimg due after more than one vear
included loans that are repayable in more than five vears. As
of December 2017, the company had variable rate loans of
%1.21 hillion with maturities falling due between February 8,
2023 and December 22, 2027, As of December 2016, the
company had a variable rate loan of 5211 million with a
maturity of June 13, 2026,

Debt Valuation Adjustment

The company calculates the far value of debt securities 1ssued
that are designated at fair valee through profit or loss by
discounting future cash flows al a rate which incorporates G35
Group's credit spreads.

The table below presents details about the net DVA losses on
such financial liabilities.

Yont Enced Docembar
3 in millons a7 26
[ ErT] HEH

In the table above, DVA is included in “Debt valuation
adjstment” in other comprehensive Income.

Long-Term Subordinated Loans

Long-term  subordinated  loans  comsist  of  long-term
subordinated loans from parert and groap undertakings, which
are unsecured and carry interest at a margin over the US
Federal Reserve's Federal Funds rate. The margin is reset on a
pertoclic basis o reflect changes in G3 Group's weighted
average cost of debt. Long-term subordinated loans constitute
regulatory capital as approved by the PRA, subject to any
regulatory capital deductions, and are repayable subject to
PRA approval.

Az of December 2017, long-term subordinated loans of 5538
bilhem are repayable between December 26, 2024 and
September 9 2025 As of December 2016, long-term
subordinated loans of $8.70 billion were repavable between
December 14, 2021 and Apnl 29 2025 and long-term
subordinated loans of 255 million were repayable upon giving
of receiving at least 5 vear's notice to or from the group
undertaking. Duning the second quarter of 2017, the company
repaid $3.58 bilhon of long-term subordinated loans with the
agreement of the lenders.

a7
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Liabilities From Financing Activities

Liahilities from financing activities consist of the company’s
long-term subosdinated loans and associated sccrued interest,
See the “Statements of Cash Flows™ for movements in the
company’s long-term subordinated loans, Accrued interest on
the company’s long-term subordinated loans for the vear ended
December 2017 decreased by 3286 million, duse to payments of
5587 million, partially offset by interest accrued of 3301
million.  Accrued imterest on the company’s long-term
subordinated loans for the wvear ended December 2016
mereased by 541 mulbon, due o interest acerued of 5346
million, partially of fzet by pavments of 3305 million

Maote 20.
Provisions for Liabilities

The table below presemts the company’s provisions for
liabilines, which are in respect of certain legal claims made
against the company.

£ i mralleng Faa by
As ol Januzsry 1 5 -
Charge be the profit and loss account ) [}
As of December 11 10

Further details relating to the provisions have not been
disclosed as permitted by IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent
Liahilities and Contimgent Assets’, on the grounds that it would
be seriously prejudicial to do so.

Mote 21.
Share Capital
The table below presents the company”s share capital.
Orinary shares
Alloited, called up and fully pald of $1 each £ dn mitiomrs
A of Janisary 1, 2007 £, 954, 161 LS
A% of December 31, 7017 81,064,161 EE
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Note 22,
Other Equity Instruments

In June 2017, the company 1sswed 5,800 unsecured AT1 notes
of 51 million each to GSG UK for a total consideration of
5580 billion. The AT notes have no fixed maturity date, are
not callable and carrv a non-cumulative fixed interest mte of
5535 per annum, which s payable at the company’s
discretion subject 1o cerain  solvency and regulatory
comditions.

The AT1 notes will be imevocably written-down in the event
that the CET1 ratio of the company or the G536 UK Group falls
below 7. In addition, the company may, at any time after
August 2037, elect at its discretion to convert all the AT notes
inter fully paid ordinary shares.

The company pawd mierest of 3201 million on the AT1 notes
on November 20, 2007 after assessang the apphicable solvency
and regulatory condiions, The amount recognised m
sharcholder's funds for 2017 was 5146 million, net of tax

Note 23,
Dividends

The directors declared and paid interim dividends of 5300
million on June 27, 20017 and 52,50 billion on June 28, 2017 o
GEG UK, representing $0.86 per share and 54.30 per share,
respectively. Mo dividends were paid in 2016.

Hote 24,

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The table below presents the company's cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash flows.

A5 of December
5 in milfons HAT Farl
Cash af bank and in hand 520,727 Sl 838
Croprckalts (504 Note 19) (] [
Total cash and cash equivalents 520,654 S16.881

In the table above, cash at bank and in hand included cash that
15 mot available for use by the company of $3,20 hillion and
S1.70 billion as of December 2017 and December 2016
respectively.

it
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Mote 25.

Reconciliation of Cash Flows From

Operating Activities

The table below presemts the company's reconciliation of cash
flows from operating activities.

§ i maliong iy 2016
Proft badors taxation 5 oM 5 15843
Adjisstmants for
Depraciation snd snortitation (1ee Netes § snd 13) W T
_Credh for dafingd Earv i plan {see Hobe 10} @ -
Fesmmgn anehangi lostaigamas (1.938) [
Share-based compananbon aepenie 54 B
Prevdisions for habitis n
Inbarest pavaile ard simiar sxpentes (see Nobe 0} n e
Cath generated Befors changes in operatng
wasels and labitins 1,075 4,158
Changes in operating assets
Cocreaselmorsase) in bnancal insrumeats own sd 22,631 (46,681}
_ncresss i colataraised agreements (0.2 (20,807
Increase in deblors (4, 505) 808
Shungesinopwratingareets  GOM) (MR
Changes in operating liabilites
Increasaldacr sasa) in financial instmenty
sold, but nat yet purchased L e B il
Increase in collatorsized Bnancings EE 24,083
Increasaidecrsase) in other credioms 1,877 {BEE)
Changes in operating kabdtes 4,047 B1,445
Conbrbaubond pand 1o difned bansh plan
(wen Mote 100 {50) 18
Cash generated from operations s 4928 5 @745

Cash generated from operations included interest paid of 8257
billion and $2.05 billion for 2017 and 2016, respectively, and
interest received of 33,14 billion and 31.83 ballion for 2017 and
2016, respectively.
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Note 26,
Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies
The table below presents the company’s commitments and
conlingencies.

As of December
£ in milions 7 6
Contagen and forward itaning
collatiralived agremmnts §58, 758 547 550
Farward staring collpralinesd fnancings 0,511 11,808
Othar 3,60 Rk
Total $82,05% 359,00

Contingent  and forward starting collateralised agreements
includes resale and secwrities borrowing agreements, and
forward starting collaterahised Anancings includes repurchase
and secured lending agreements that settle at a fulwe date,
penerally within three business days.

The company also enters into commitments to provide
contingent financing to its clients and counterparties through
resale  agreements. The company's funding of these
commitments depends on the satisfaction of all contractual
conditions to the resale agreement and these commitments can
expare unused.

Other commitments primarily relate to collateral commitments
and commitments to extend credit

In addition, there are registered charges on the compary’s
assets which have ansen in the ordinary course of business,

Leases

The company leases certain buildings under long-term non-
cancellable lexse agreements. Under these lease agreements,
which are subject to renegotiation at varous intervals specified
i the leases, the company pavs all insurance, mamtenance and
fepairs of these properties. The table below presents total
future minimum rental pavments under non-cancellable
operating leases for each of the following periods.

A of December
§ in millons Har g ]
Aeathencoeyesw 3B
FBetwoen orwandfveyenrs 000000000000 W 2
Croper fve years L =
Total 271 1

Total future minimum sublease payments expected to be
receved under non-cancellable subleases as of December 2017
and December 2016 were 536 million and $46 million
respectively,

iy
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Legal Proceedings

The company is involved in a number of judicial, regulatory
and arbitration proceedings (including those descnbed below)
coneerning mallers ansing in connection with the conduct of
the company’s business, however it is not practicable to
reliably estimate an impact, if any, of these proceedings.

Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company is
among the defendants named in o putative antitrust class action
relating 1o the trading of interest rate swaps, fled in Novembser
2015 and consobdated m the US. [Dhstniet Court for the
Southern District of New York. The company is also among
the defendants named in an anlitrust action relating to the
trading of interest rate swaps liled inthe ULS, District Court for
the Southern District of MNew York in Apnl 2016 by two
operators of swap execution faciliies and cenain of their
affiliates. These actions have been consolidated for pretrml
proceedings. The second consolidated amended complaint in
both actions, filed on December 9, 2016, generally asserts
claims under federal antitrust law and state common law in
connection with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants 1o
preclude exchange trading of interest rate swaps. The
complaint i the indivadueal action also asserts ¢lams under
state antitrust law. The complaints seek declaratory and
injunctive relief, as well as reble damages in an unspecified
amount. Defendants moved to dismiss both sctions on January
200 2017, On July 28, 2017, the district court 1ssued a decison
dismissing the state common law clums asserted by the
plaintifl in the individual action and otherwise himiting the
antitrust claims in both actions and the state common law claim
in the putative class action to the period from 2013 1o 2016

Credit Default Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company
is among the defendants named inan antitrust action relating to
the trading of credit default swaps filed in the 115, District
Court for the Southern District of New York on June 8, 2017
by the operator of a swap executron facility and certam of 1s
affibates. The complaint generally assens claims under federal
and state antitrust laws and stale commeon law in conneclion
with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants to preclude
trading of credit default swaps on the plaintiffs’ swap
execution facility, The complaint seeks declaratony and
mjunctive reliel, as well as treble damages i an unspecified
amount. Defendants moved to dismiss on September 11, 2017,

194/343

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Commaodities-Related Litigation. The company 1s among
the defendants mamed in putative class actioms relating to
trading m platnum  and  palladium, filed beginning on
MNovember 25, 2014 and most recently amended on May 15,
20017, in the U8 Dhsinct Court for the Southern District of
Mew York. The amended complamt generally alleges that the
defendants violated federal antitrust laws and the Commodity
Exchange Act m connection with an alleged conspiracy to
manipulate a benchmark for physical platinum and palladivm
prices and seek declaratory and igunctive reliel, as well as
trehle damages in an unspecified amount. Defendants moved to
dizmizs the third comsalidated amended complaint on July 21,
20017

1Malaysia Development Berhad (1MDB)-Related
Matters. G5 Group has received subpoenas and requests for
documents and mformation from vanous govemmental and
regulatory bodies and self-regulatory organisations as part of
investigations and reviews relating 1o financing transactions
and other matters invalving 1 MDB, a sovereign wealth fund in
Malaysia, (55 Group is cooperating with all such govemmental
and regulatory investigations and reviews

Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation, Group Inc. and centain of its affiliates, including
the company, are subject 1o a number of other invesligations
and reviews by, and in some cases have received subpoenas
and requests for documents and information from, varous
governmental and regulatory bodies and  sell-regulatory
organisations and litigation relating to various matters relating
1o G5 Group’s businesses and operations, including

+« The 2008 financial crisis;

+ The public offering process;

« Investment management and financial advisory services;
« Conflicts of interest,

« Transactions involving govemment-related fnancings and
other matters;
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« The offenng, auction, sales, trading and clearance of
corporate and  govemment  securities,  currencies,
commaodities and other financial products and related sales
and other communications and activities, as well as G35
Group's supervision and condrols relating to such activities,
including compliance with shoet sale rules, algorithmic, hagh-
frequency and quantitative tradimg. futures trading, options
trading, when-issued  trading, tramsaction  reporting,
technology svstems and controls, securities kending practices,
trading and clearance of credit dervative instruments and
inderest rale swaps, commodibies activities and metals
stomage, private placement practices, allocations of and
trading  in securities, and  trading  activities  and
communications 1n <omnection with the establishment of
benchmark rates, such as currency rates;

« Compliance with the UK. Bnbery Act and the U5, Foregn
Cormrupt Practices Act;

« Hiring and compensation practices;

» Svstem of risk management and contrals, and

« Insider trading. the potential misuse and dissemination of
material non-public information regarding corporate and

governmemial developments and the effectiveness of inswder
trading controls and mformation barriers.

In addition, myvestigations, reviews and litigation involving the
company's affiliates and such affiliates’ businesses and
operations, including various matters referred to above but also
other matters, may have an impact on the company's
businesses and operations.

Mote 27.

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Certain disclosures in relation to the company™s financial risk
mamagement and capital mamagement have been presented
alongside other risk management and regulatory information in
Part I of this anmual report and are wentified as audited, where
relevam.
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Mote 28,
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the camying valee of the company’s
financial assets and financial liabilities by category.

Finangial Azt
Held for  Desigrated  Loans and
$ in milions tnging af far value  recenvabiie Teasl
As of Decamber 2017
Ferancinl imsruments cwned $640,2684  § - % - 0P
Colatersiived agreements =

S640,264  $141,013 S157,012  S04.1R0
Fnancial instruments cwned S652848 5 - 3 = BBA2paB
SR )
S 1400 SLEM 0080
Cagh 8 bank and in hand - - 16,888 16,688
Total fnencial assets PO BEE  $141,0854 H120,284  FENA383
Financisl Linkiltiss
Huld for  Dhavsi graabasdd Amortmed
5 in milions trading  af fai value st Total
Ag of Qecember 2017
Asnounts Nalling due within aive ywar
Feramcial mstroments woid,
sEERRI? 5 - k] S
S A )
- TR 45433 1T
k] 1291 128, 1
Amaunts falling due after more than one year
Collaterslyed & i - 17rare = 17,378
Othes eradiom - 20,048 1E.Lﬂ- 30,730
Total - 13474 18,684 57,808
Totad financial Hab@ities  $580,027  5160,15%5 S15R,239  S00ER316
A of Decomber 016
Amounts Falling due within one year
Ferancial imstruments woid,

__ butnotystpurchesed  SE13811 8 - 8 - se1aen
Collateralized fnancings - 89,174 41,214 140388
Cthes cracitars - TOCH  DADAA 10AORE
Tatal 613811 106,273 138,168 BEA353

Amounts Falling due after more than one year

Colateraived Bnancings =~ - L 7.801
Oihar ermcbinm - H B35 18,665 40, 204

Total = 28,338 18,666 48,002
Total inencial labitios 13811 138600 166,836  FR08 345

In the table above, financial mstruments owned held for trading
inluded 538 million and $37 million as of December 2017 and
December 2016, respectvely, of denvative  mstruments

designated as hedges.

)|
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Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that
woukd be recened o sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a liabaliy
mn an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. Financial asseis are marked 1o bid prices
and fnancial labilibes are marked 1o offer prices. Fair value
measurements do not include transaction costs. The company
measures certain financial assets and financial liabilities as a
portiolio (e, based on its net exposure 1o market and’or credit
risks).

UK., GAAP has a three-level fair valwe hierarchy for
diselosure of far value measurements. The Bair value hierarchy
pricritises mputs to the valuation technigues used to measure
fair value, giving the highest prionty to level 1 inputs and the
lowest prionty to level 3 mputs. A financial asset or hinancial
liability’s level in the fair value hierarchy is based on the
lowest level of input that 1z sigraficant to s fair value
méasurenment.

The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices inactive markets
to whach the company had sccess at the measurement date for
identical, unrestricted assets or lighilities

Level 2 Inputs to valuation technigques are observable, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3. One or more inputs to valeation techniques are
significant and unobservable.

The fair values for substantially all of the company’s financial
assets and Dnancial habalities that are fair valwed on a recurning
basis are based on observable prices and inputs and are
classified m levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Certain
level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities may
require appropraate valustion adjustments that a market
participant would require to amve at fair valee for factors such
a5 counterparty and the company’s and G5 Group's credit
quality, funding nsk, transfer restnctions, ligusdity  and
id‘offer spreads. Valuation adjustments are generally based on
market evidence,
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Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs

Cash Instruments. Cash mstruments include government
and agency obligations, corporate loans and debd securities and
other debt obligations, equity securities, and other non-
derivative  financial  instruments  owned  and  financial
instruments sold, but not vel purchased. Valuation technigues
and sigmficant inputs for each level of the fur value hierarchy
include:

Level 1 Cash Instruments

Level 1 cash mstruments are valued using quoted prices for
identical unrestricted instruments in active markets. The
company delines active markets for equity instruments based
on the average daily rading volume both in absalute terms and
relative to the market capitalisation for the instrument. The
company defines active markets for debd instruments based on
both the average daily trading volume and the number of days
with trading activity.

Lavel 2 Cash Instruments

Level 2 cash instruments can be verified to guoted prices,
recent trading activity for identecal or simailar instruments,
broker or dealer quatations or allermalive pacing sowrces with
reasomable levels of price transparency. Consideration 1s given
to the nature of the quotations. (e, indicative or firm) and the
relationship of recent markel actvity 1o the pnces provided
from alternative pricing sources.

Valeation adjustments are typcally made to level 2 cash
instruments {1} if the cash mstrument 1= subject to transfer
restrictions and'or (1) for other premiums and liquidity
discounts that a market participant would require (o armive at
fair value. Valuation adjustments are generally based on
market evidence.

Level 3 Cash Instruments

Level 3 cash mstruments have one or more significant
valuation inputs that are not observable. Absent evidence to the
comtrary, level 3 cash mstruments are mitally valued at
trarsaction price, which 15 conssdered to be the best initial
estimate of fair value, Subsequently, the company uses other
methodelogies o determine fair value, which vary based on the
type of mstrument. Valuation inputs and assumptions are
changed when comoborated by substantive  chservable
evidence, including values realised on sales of financial assets,

Vabuation technigues of level 3 cash instruments vary by
instrumient, but are generally based on discounted cash flow
techmiques. The valwtion techmigques and the nature of
significant inputs used to determine the fair values of each type
of level 3 cash instrument are described below:
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« Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securities. Sigruficant inputs are generally  determined
based on relative value analyses and include:

» Transaction prices in both the underlving collateral and
mstruments with the same or similar underlying collateral;

« Market vields implied by transactions of similar or related
« Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recavery assumplions if a default occurs; and

« Timing of expected future cash flows (duration) which, in
certain  cases, may  incorporate the impaet of other
unchservable inputs (e.g.. prepayment speeds).

Corporate Obligations and Other Cash Instruments.
Corporate obligations and other cash instruments includes
corporate loans and debt securities and other debt obligations
and povernment and sgency obligations. Significant inputs
are generally determined based on relative value analyses,
which incorporate companisons both 10 prices of credit
default swaps that reference the same or similar underlving
instrument of entity and to other debt instruments for the
same issuer for which observable prices or broker quotations
are available, Sigraficant inputs include:

Ll

« Market vields implied by transactions of similar or related
assets;
« Current levels and changes in market indices such as the

iTravee and CDX, and LCDX (indices that track the
perfarmance of corporate credit and loans, respectively),

« Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recavery assumplions if a default occurs, and

« Maturity and coupon profile of the instrument.

-

Equity Securities, Equity securities includes private equity
securitics and convertible debemtures. Recent third-party
completed or pending transactions (e.g., merger proposals,
tender offers, debt restructunings) are considered to be the
best evidence for any change in fair value. When these are
not available, the following valuation methodologies are
used, as appropriate:

« Industry multiples and public comparables;
« Transactions in simalar mstruments, and

+ Discounted cash flow technigues
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Derivative Instruments. Denvatives may be traded on an
exchange (exchange-traded) or they may be privately
negotiated comtracts, which are usually referred to as OTC
derivatives. Certain of the company’s OTC derivatives are
cleared and settled through central clearing counterpariies
(OTC-cleared). while others are bilateral comtracts between
two counterparties (bilateral OTC).

The company”’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
denvative pricaing models (e g, discounted cash flow models,
comrelation models, and models that incorporate option pricing
methodologies, such as Monte Carlo simulations). Price
trarsparency of derivatives can generally be charactensed by
product tvpe, as descnbed below.

« Interest Rate. In peneral, the key inputs used to value
interest rate dernvatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated contracts, Interest rate swaps and options denominated
in the currencies of leading industnialised nations ane
characterised by high trading volumes and nght bad'offer
spreads. Interest rate derivatives that reference indices, such
as an inflation index, or the shape of the vield curve (e.g.. 10-
year swap rale vs Z-vear swap rate) are more complex, but
the key inputs are generally observable.

Credit. Price transparency for credit defaull swaps.
including both single names and baskets of credits, varies by
market and underlying reference entity or obligation. Credit
default swaps that reference indices, larpe corporates amd
major  sovereigns  generally  exhibit the most  price
transparency. For credit default swaps with other underliers,
price transparency varies based on credit rating, the cost of
bomrowing the underlying reference obligations, and the
availability of the underlying reference obligations for
delivery upon the default of the issuer. Credit default swaps
that reference loans, asset-backed secunities and emerging
market debt mstruments tend to have less price transparency
than those that reference corporate bonds, In addition, maore
complex credit dervatives, such as those sensitive o the
correlation  between two or more underlying reference
obligations or to secured funding spreads, penerally have less
price Iransparency.

Currency. Prices for currency derivatives based on the
exchange rates of kading industnalised nations, ncluding
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent. The
primary difference between the price transparency of
developed and emerging market currency derivatives 15 that
emerging markets tend 1o be abservable for contracts with
shorter tenors
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« Equity. Price transparency for equity denvatives vanes by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the commaon
steck of corporates included in major equity indices exhibit
the most price transparency. Equity derivatives generally
have obaervable market prices, except for contracts with long
tenors of reference prices that differ significantly from
current market prices. More complex equity denvatives, such
as those sensitive to the comelation between two or more

individual stocks, penerally have less price transparency,

Liquidity 15 essential to observability of all product types. 1

transaction volumes decline, previously transparent prices and
other inpauts may become unchservable, Conversely, even
highly structured products may at times have rading volumes
large enough to provide observability of prices and other
LpPLLS.

Levef 1 Derivatives

Level | derivatives include shom-term comtracts for [utire
delivery of secunities when the underlying security 15 a level 1
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traded and ase valued at their quoted market price.

Level 2 Derivatives

Level 2 derivatives include OTC denvatives for which all
significant valuation inpuls are commoborated by market
evidence and exchange-traded derivatives that are not actively
traded and'or that are valued wsing models that calibrate o
market-clearing levels of OTC denvatives. In evaluung the
significance of a valuation imput, the company considers,
among other factors, a portfolio’s net risk exposure to that
inp

The selection of a particular model to value a derivative
deperdds on the contractual terms of and specific risks inherent
in the instrument, as well as the availabilny of pricing
mformation in the market. For dervatives that trade m Ligud
markets, model selection does not  involve  significant
mamagement judgement because outputs of models can be
calibrated to market-clearing levels

Valuation models require a vanety of inputs, such as
contractual terms, market prices, vield curves, discount rates
(including those derived from imterest rates on collateral
recewved and posted as specified in credit support agreements

for collateralised denvatives), credit curves, measures of

volatility and correlations of such inputs. Significant inputs to
the valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified to market
transactions, broker or dealer guotations or other altemnative
pricing sources with reascnahle levels of price transparency.
Consideration s given to the nature of the quotations (eg.
indicative or firm} and the relationship of recent market
activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.
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Level 3 Derivatives

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which ubilise
cbzervable level | andior level 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs. Uncbservable imputs include
certzin comrelations, illiquid credit and secured funding
spreads, recovery rates amd certain egquily and interest rate
volatilities.

Subsequent 1o the initial valustion of & level 3 denivative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 mputs o reflect
chservable market changes and any resulting gains and losses
are recorded in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed when
corroborated by evidence such as similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services and/or broker or dealer quotations
or other empirical market data. In circumstances where the
company cannol venly the mode] value by reference 1o market
transactions, 0 15 possible that a different valuation model
could produce a maternially different estimate of fair value, See
below for further information about significant uncbservable
inpuls used in the valuation of level 3 denvatives.

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price
and the fair value caleubated by imernal models, a gain or loss
15 recopmised after mitial recogmition only to the extent that it
arizes from a change in a factor (incheding time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price,

Valuation Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are mntegral 1o determiming the fair value
of dervative portfolios and are used to adjust the mid-market
valuations produced by derivative pricing models to the
appropriate exal price valuation. These adjustments meorporate
bid'offer spreads, the cost of lgqudity, credit valuation
adjustments and funding valuation adjustments, which sceount
for the credit and funding risk inherent in the uncollateralised
portion of derivative portfolios. The company also makes
funding valustion sdjustments to collateralised derivatives
where the terms of the agreement do not permit the company 1o
deliver or repledge collateral received. Markei-based inpuls are
generally used when calibratimg valeation sdjustments to
market-clearing levels.

In addmion, for denwvatives that include significant
unobservable inputs, the company makes model or exit price
adjwtments to aceount for the valuation uncertainty present in
the transaction.
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Qther Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Valuation techmiques and significant inputs of other financial
as=ets and financial lisbilities include:

« Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. The significant inputs o the
valuation of resale and repurchase agreements and securities
borrowed and loaned are funding spreads, the amount and
timing of expected future cash lows and interest rales.

- Debtors. Debtors measured at fair value primanly consist of
secured lending and prepaid commodity conteacts, The
sigmificant inpats 1o the valuation of such receivables are
commodity prices, mterest rates, the amount and timing of
expected future cash flows and funding spreads.

« Other Secured Financings. The significant inputs to the
valuation of secured debt secunibies 1sswed and other
borowines messured at fair value are the amount and timing
of expected future cash flows, interest rates, funding spreads,
the fair value of the collateral delivered by the company
(which is determined wing the amount and timing of
expected future cash flows, market prices, market yields and
recovery assumplions) and the frequency of additional
collateral calls

Other Creditors. The sigmficant inputs to the valuation of
ursecured other creditors measured an fair value ase the
amount and tming of expected future cash flows, interest
rates, the credit spreads of G3 Group, as well as commodity
prices in the case of prepaid commodity contracts, The inputs
wsed 1o value the embedded dervative component of hybrad
financial instruments are consistent with the inputs used to
value the company” s other derivalive instrum ents,
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Fair Value of Financial Assets
Liabilities by Level

The mables below present, by level within the far value
hierarchy, fimancial assets and financial liabilitties measured at
fair value ona recurring basis,

and Financial

Financial Assets and Financial Lisbilites
ol Fair Valus o of Decemmber 2017
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Significant Uncbservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair
Value Measurements

Cash Instruments. As of December 2017 and December
2016, the company had level 3 cash instrument assets of 3571
mallion and $1.04 billion, respectively. Level 3 cash instrument
liabilies were nol material. The table below presents the
amourd of level 3 cash instruments assets, and ranges and

& in milions Level 1 Level2  Lewel 3 Total weighted averages of significant unobservable inputs used to
Elnare|d Apsels value the company’s level 3 cash mstrument assets
Cath intinaments 551,647 5 27437 § M § T4,055
Diahvatvn inskrumants & spziM 3473 566208
ash Instiumenss Asiets
Feranicial imstruments cwnad 51,082 585,168 4,044 540,284 a L““; :. “! .t Urak e mh
Colateraised agresments - 140,280 - 140,380
..... — S — !mmlel“ﬁm.ﬂw
Drsblori - B53 - 853
T . . I % in iflions M7 2018
Martgages and alher asset-backed loams and securities
Financ|al Lisbiliies i L osad
Amaurts falling due within ane year IR TRAN (G0N 08K 20.0% (7.1%)
_Cosh inttnaments L N I L Recoumryrsts =~~~ I70% to BLO% (PRI 35.0% be GT.5% (TO.E%)
Diriarty o inakru mangs i@ 533830 Duration {ysars) 07 1o 4.0 (4.8 08 ba 16,1 [4.7)
Fssncial instroments eokd, Corporate obl and other cash instrument
but not yot purchased W3 SETANE s r:“‘w“ - s500
Colotaraised Brpneings 0 - TSI &R 9 BT TYTTET )
o = 5858 Yad 1:1:_?_1;_.?}::'.11: AW 14.1% (B.3%)
Total 0,313 76,518 PRecoveryrate 0 Wikte :f‘:mnm"“m“ (45.1%)
" B 1.8t 15,7 (3.4
Asneurts (aling due after more (han o yiar Durstion {years) [ 9te 5.7 @34
Collataraiznd Buaneings - 11388 % 17378 Equity securities
Cithar credions 15,050 5996 20,048 Lavel 3 axsels Lkl L
Total R EIE) 6,005 IBATH Mukigles 2.0 fo 20 [10x) 0.8 b 5 5 (1.6
Total Teancial labaies 530,727 §T09,047 10,807 SF50,077F
In the table above:
Het derivalive instruments § (17} § 8,901 § 1,202 5 10,088

Finaneial Attt and Rassdial Lisbiites
at Fair Valss a5 of Decembar 2018

_§ in milions Lavsiad 1 Linad 2 Lirvd 3 Tornl
Elnpncisl AFSELE
Cath intlraments S43I6ETR 5 IRE3D 51035 5 63 e
Dwivatve intumants 47 595435 4,117 509553
Ferancial mstraments owned 4375 614,068 5,162 [TFETE
Coaterslvad agreements - TIAAE - 13872
Dhebrtors. = 1432 = 1432
Tolal Brercial axssts 543,725 755232 5 5152 3804109
Financial Liabiiies
Amounts falling due within one year
Sk intinaments 23837 F 30¥R 5 4 5 16838
Feraacul wrilrumenty ol

587812 B13.801

6,080
EA2530

Amounts falling dus after more than one year

Colisterslnad Enancings - L L - 19N
Other credions - 16,550 6,845 21,538
Tetal - 23481 5,5 29,338
Total francial iabities SXRATE ST18.021 § DA §740, 500
ot daiivativs in stramets % 13 510718 5 1,883 5 12624

75

« Ranges represent the significant unchservable inputs that
were used in the valuation of each type of cash instrument.

« Weighted averages are calculated by weighting each input
by the relative Fur value of the cash instruments.

« The ranges and weighted averages of these inputs are not
representative of the approprisle  imputs 10 use when
caleulating the farr value of any one cash instrument. For
example, the highest yield for morigages and other asset-
backed loans and securities 15 appropnate for vahung a
specific morgage but may not be appropriate for valuing any
other morigages. Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not
represent uncentainty i, or possble ranges of, fur valwe
measurements of the company’s level 3 ¢ash instruments.

Increases in vield or duration wsed in the valuation of the
company’s level 3 cash mstruments would result in a lower
fair value measurement, while increases in recovery rate or
multiples would result in a higher fair value measurement,
Due to the distinetive nature of each of the company’s level 3
cash instruments, the interrelationship of inpuls is not
necessarily uniform within each product type

-

Mortgages and other asset-backed loans and securities and
corporate obligations and other cash instruments are valued
using discounted cash flows, and equity securities are valued
using market comparables and discounted cash (lows.
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« Equity securities imnclude private equities and converuble
debentures.

« The fwr value of any one instrument may be determined
using multiple valuation techniques. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together
1o determine fair value. Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these techniques.

Derivative Instruments. As of December 2017 and
December 2006, the company had net level 3 denivative
instruments of 31,20 billion and 31,89 billion, respectively.
The table below presents the amount of net level 3 derivative
instruments, and ranges, averages and medians of significant
unobservable inputs used to value the company s interest rates,
credit and equities derivative instruments, As of December
20017 and December 20016, the company had net level 3
financial instruments relating to cwrrencics and commodities
denvatives of 3{110) mallion and 3(205) million, respectively,
for which the range of sigmificant unobservable inputs has not
been disclosed as the amounts are not material,

Nt Lival 3 Dastivativee Instroments and
Range of Significant Unobsermble inputs

{AverageMadian) as of December

« Comrelation within

5 mvlions ;!‘D'I? L‘E
Inberest rates 51 521
Corradabion TE b0 BN (EPRNATN] TSN bo S5 (BINMB1N)
Viclatilty {bgs) T4 1o 138 (107/107) TAto 104 (BABE)
Credit 51,70 52313
Cormadation ZEY to B4 (S 1%B0%) 5% o 9% (SRR
Cruel spmachs (bps) 11a 505 (&7/56) 2t B3 (14RAD0)
Uplrcnt creds points 2 1o 55 (2853} 0% 56 (21/8)
Racovery rates TN T0 TI% (TOGTIR) 1% bo B (SE%T0%)
Exquities 5533) )
Comelation (IBY% Lo BA% [SIRUBSN)  (O0)% bo BT (42N MEN)
Wilatity A% 10 8% ZOWIOR) 5% bo SN (JINIIN
Inthe table above:

« Met dervative assels are shown as positive amounis and net
derivative liabilities are shown as negalive amounis,

« Ramges represent the significant unobservable inputs that
wiere used m the valuation of each tvpe of derivative,

+ Averages represent the arithmetic average of the inputs and
are not weighted by the relative fair valwe or notional of the
respective financial instruments. An average greater than the
median indicates that the majornity of inpuls are below the
Average
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« The ranges, averages and medians of these inputs are not

representative  of the appropriate inputs to use when
caleulating the fair value of any one dervative. For example,
the highest correlation for credit denvatives is appropriate for
valuing a specific credit derivative but may not be
appropriste  for valwing any  other credit  demvative.
Accordingly, the ranges of nputs do nol represent
uncertamnty in, or possible ranges of, fair value measurements

of the company™s level 3 derivatives,

« Interest rates and equities denvatives are valused using option
pricing models, and credit derivatives are valued wsing option
pricing, correlation and discounted cash Dow models,

« The fair value of any one instrument may be determined
wsing muluple valuation techniques. For example, option
pricing models and discounted cash flows models are
typically used together to determine fair value. Therefore, the

level 3 balance encompasses both of these tlechniques
cross-product

equitics  includes

correlation.

Range of Significant Ur_:nhwvab-‘a inputs

The following 15 information about the ranges of significant

uncbservable inpuls wed to value the company's level 3

dervative Instruments:

« Correlation. Ranges [or comelalion cover a vanely of

underliers both within one product type (e, equity index
and equity single stock names) and across product types (eg.,
cofrelation of an equity and a curency), as well a8 across
TEgIOns.

« Volatility. Ranges for volatility cover numercus underhiers

across 4 variety of markets, maturities and strike prices. For
example, velatility of equity indices is generally lower than
volatility of single stocks.

« Credit spreads, upfront credit peints and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfromt credit poinis

and recovery rates cover a varely of underliers (index and
single names), regions, sectors, maturities and credit qualities
(high-vield and investment-grade) and also includes secured
funding spreads. The broad range of this population gives
rise to the width of the ranges of significant unobservable
inguts.
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Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inpuis

The following is a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company's level 3 fair value measurements to changes in
significant unobservable inputs, in solation:

« Correlation. In general. for contracts where the holder
benefits from the consistent directional performance of the
underlying assel of index prices {eg. interest rates, credit
spreads, foreign exchange mates, inflation rates and equity
prices), an increase in comelation results i a hugher fair
value measurement.

Velatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase in
volatility results in a higher fair value measurement.

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
ratés. In general, the far value of purchased credit
protection increases as credit spreads or upfront credit points
increase or recovery rates decrease, and the fair value of
secured funding capacity increases as secured funding
spreads increase. Credit spreads, upfront credit points amd
recovery rates are strongly related 1o distinctive nisk factors
of the underlving reference obligations, which include
reference entity-specific factors such as leverage, volatility
and industry, market-based nisk factors, such as bomowing
costs or liguidity of the underlying reference obligation, and
macroeconomic conditions.

Due to the distinctive nature of each of the company’s level 3
denvatives, the mterrelationship of inputs iz nol necessarily
uniform within each prodsct tvpe.

Other Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Significam uwnobservable inputs of other financial assets and
financial habilities include:

+ Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. As of both December 2017 and
December 2016, the company had no level 3 resale
agreemenis, securities borrowed of securities loaned, As of
both December 2017 and December 2016, the company's
level 3 repurchase agreements were not matenal,

+ Daebtors. As of both December 2017 and December 2016,
the company s level 3 debtors were nil.

« Other Secured Financings. As of both December 2017
and December 20146, the significant unobservable inputs used
to valee the company’s level 3 other secured financings are
incarporated inte the company’s derivative instruments and
cash instruments disclosures related 1o unobservable inputs.
See “Cash Instruments™ and “Denvative Instruments™ above.
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« Other Creditors. As of both December 2017 and
December 2016, the significant unobservable inputs used to
valwe the company’s level 3 other creditors are incorporated
ito the company’s denvative instruments and cash
instruments disclosures related to unobservable inputs, See
“Cash Instruments” and “Derivative Instruments” above.

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During 2017 and 2016, there were ne sigmbcant transfers
between level 1 and level 2 financial assets and financeal
liabilities measused at fair value on a recwrring basis.

Fair Value Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Valued Using Techniques That Incorporate
Unobservable Inputs

The farr value of Gnancial assets and fnanceal habilities may
be determined in whole or part using a valuation technigque
based on assumptions thal are not supported by prices [rom
observable current marke! transactions n the same instrument
or based on available observable market data and changing
these assumptions will change the resultant estimate of far
value, The potentml impact of using reasonable possible
altermative assumptions for the valuations, incleding siznificant
unobservable inputs, has been quantified as of December 2017
and December 2016, as approxamately $259 mallion and $220
million, respectively, for favourable changes, and 5230 million
and 3294 million, respectively, for unfavourable changes. In
determining  repsonably  possible  alternative  unfavourable
assumplions, 4 detailed business and pesition level review has
been performed 1o identify and quannfy instances where
pelential uncertainty exists. This has aken inlo account the
positions” far value as compared 1o the range of available
market information. In December 2017 and December 20016,
the impact for favousable changes was primanly drven by
changes in the assumptions around secwed funding spreads
and valuation adjustments in equity and fived ncome
derivatives, and the impaet for unfavourable changes was
primarily driven by changes in the assumptions around secured
funding spreads, volatility and corelation inputs.

The table below presents the amounts nol recogrused in the
profit and loss account relating to the difference between the
fair value of financial mstruments held for trading at initial
recoprition (the transaction price) and the amoars determaned
at mutial recogmtion using the valuation techrigues (day 1
P&L),

¥ear Ended December
§ in maliong 27 Mg
As ol Jansery 1 e 5139
o e ms
- H“”Eu“}gmw Eh e e e
during the panisd 80} L]
As of December 1 161 S149
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Level 3 Rolforward

The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair
value for all level 3 fimancial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value ona recurring basis,

o Enced Docamber

£ in milions 2017 o)
Total fnancial aasets

Beginning balance $ 5,152 $.041
Gain o 1,052
e, 5 -
SHm ) A5 31}
e ccdinain S 1.2 .57
Trarnfers inba vl 3 1w 81
Traralers el of heosl 3 1539) (88)
“Ending balance § 4,000 35152
Total fnancial labaiies

Eaginning balance:

Letann

Purchaes

o]

Trardbers oul ol el 3 1,08%
“Ending balance

Inthe table above:

« Il a financial asset or financial liability was transferred into
level 3 during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the
period is included in level 3. For level 3 financial assets,
increases are shown as positive amounts, while decreases are
shown as negative amounts. For level 3 financial labilities,
increnses are shown as negative amounts, while decreases are
shown as positive amounts.

+ Transfers between levels are recognised at the beginning of
the reporting period in which they ocour. Accordingly, the
tables do not include gains or losses for level 3 financial
assets and financial labilities that were transferred out of
level 3 prior to the end of the penod,

+ Level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities are frequently
cconomically hedged with level 1 and level 2 financial assets
and financial lishilities. Accordimgly, level 3 gains of losses
that are reported for a particular class of financial asset or
financial liabality can be partally offset by gans or losses
anributable 1o level 1 or level 2 inthe same ¢lass of Gnancial
assel or financial lability or gains or losses attnbutable 1o
level 1, level 2 or level 3 in a different class of financial asset
of firmncial liability, As a result, gains or losses meluded in
the level 3 rollforward do not necessanly represent the
overall impact on the company's results of operations,
liquidity or capital rescurces.

« The net gains on level 3 Ainancial assets for 2007 and 2016
are reported in “Met revenues™ in the profit and loss account.
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« The net losses on level 3 financial habilities of $1.44 billion
for 2007 meluded losses of 51.34 billion reported m “Net
revenues” in the profit and loss account and losses of 3100
million reported in “Debt valuation adjustment” in the
statemenis of comprehensive income. The net losses on level
3 financial liabilities of 377 million for 2016 included losses
of 3288 million reported in “Met revenues” in the profit and
less account and losses of $39 million reported i “Diebt
valuation adjustment” in the statements of comprehensive
income.

The table below disaggrepates, by the balance sheet line items,

the information for fmancial liabiities ncluded in the

summary lable above. The information for hnancial assets
included m the summary table above has not  been

disagpregated as it solely relates o “Financial instruments
owned” inthe balance sheet.

Yias Endd Dacbenbi
% in miliong 2017 2018
“Financial instrusnents scdd, but not et purchased
Begining baance wam  samn
Losses. (643 (446)
e S g b
Zales {237} {201)
e T >
Transfors into level 3 {18) (158)
Mt o T e
Ending balmnce 2,280 2o
Collater ahsed NAANCINL.
Boginnng balance
O e
Eat
Setternents
Teanshrs ivto lvel 3 - )
Ending balance FNE] 5 (536)
“Dther edtors
Begeninng balance S(0,804) 55.541)
Gainaifeanes) e Fil
Saks (4,001} 6, 1213
Sattiemonts 1051 3,150
Transfors into level 3 (1) (38
Transfors out of level 3 mn w1
Ending balmnce 7884} 20, 4)
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Transfers Between Level 2 and Level 3 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Year Ended December 2017. Transfers into level 3
primarily reflected transfers of certain credit products from
level 2, prncipally due to reduced transparency of certain
credit spread and vield inputs as a result of lack of market
evidence.

Transfers out of level 3 primarily reflected ransfers of certain
crecit products to level 2 principally due to increased
trancparency of certain spread and vield inputs and transfers of
certain equity products to level 2, principally due to increased
transparency of certain equity velstility and correlation inpuls
The mcreased transparency was a result of an increase in the
availability of market evidence.

Year Ended December 2016, Translers mnto level 3
primarily reflected tramsfers of certain credit derivatives from
level 2, pnncipally dus 1o wnobservable credin spread and yield
inpuls  becoming smpnificant o the valuation of these
instruments and the transfers of certain equity derivatives from
level 2, principally due 1o unobservable volatility and
correlation inputs becoming significant 1o the valuation of
these dervatives.

Transfers out of level 3 primarnily reflected wansfers of cerlain
credit derivatives to level 2, principally due to unchservable
credit spread mputs no lenger being significant 1o the met risk
of cenain ponfolos, transfer of certain equaty derivatives o
level 2, prncipally due to unobservable volaulity and
comrelation inputs no longer being significant to the net risk of
certain - portfolios  and  wansfer of certain  interest rale
denvatives to level 2, due 1o unobservable long dated interest
rite bazes becoming observable,

T
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

Az of December 2017 and December 2016, the company had
$157.91 billion and $129.28 billion, respectively, of current
financial assets and S139.56 hillion and 513217 hllion,
respectively, of current financial habilities thal are not
measured at far value, Given the short-term nature of these
instruments, thewr carrying amounts in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

Az of December 2017 and December 2016, the company had
S18.68 billion and 31867 billion, respectively, of financal
liabilites that are due afier more than one vear that are nol
measured a1 fair value which predommantly relate to kong-term
intercompany  borrowings. The interest rates of these
berrawings are varishle in mature and approsamate prevailing
market nterest rates for mstruments with similar terms and
characteristics, As such, their carmying amounts in the balance
sheet are a reasonable approximation of fair value,

Items of Income, Expense, Gains or Losses

The table below presents the tems of income, expense, gains
of lesses related 1o the company’s [inancial assets and hnancial
liabihties that are presented within net revenues.

Yead Ended Desermbie

£ in millong 7 2018
Non=interest income 58,212 26,477
Inireal e sme

Interest noome from exdemal counberpartes 1,87 1,521
Intaneit income Fam parent and group indeiakings 1,054 807
Total inferest Income 3,025 2128
Infterest expense

I 1= o pataEL G40 1,018
Interest supserrse Fom parent and group undertakings 1,8M 1.01
Teital inbéresl expaiie EE ] 2058
Mat irt erest ncome R Tz
Toital nat revenes 58,508 56,540
In the table above:

« Mon-mterest income included commissions and fees income
of 5578 mullion and 3619 million for 2017 and 2016,
respectively. This is recognised in Instinutional Cliemt
Services and Investment Management.

« Mon-mterest income included net losses of $2.44 hallion and
5495 milhon for 2017 and 2006, respectively, n relation 1o
the company’s financial assets and financial liahilities
designated at fair value through profit or less, This is
recognised in [nstititional Chent Services. The remaining met
revenues within Institutional Client Services predom mately
relate to net gains from financial assets and financial
liahilities held for trading
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Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The table below presents the cash flows of the company's
financial labilities by contractual maturity including mterest
that will accrue, except for financial instruments sold, but not
vel purchased Financial mstruments sold, but not wet
purchased are classified as wading'on demand  Fimancial
liabalities, with the exception of those that are held for trading
or designated at fair value through profit and loss, are disclosed
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The fair values of financial lmbilibes held for trading and
financial liabilities desagnated at fair value through profit and
loss have been disclosed as this 15 consistent with the values
used mn the bgudity risk mamagement of these instruments.
Liquidity risk on derivatives is mitigated through master
netting agreements and cash collateral armangements.

at their undiscounted cash flows
Financial Linkili
Mara than Mo thas Mahe than
o month  thies manths o ybar
Lass but lass bat e st brin Graabe
Trading thbn G0 i Siee than s than e thanm fve
§ in milions on demand manth ranthe waar RS YRArE Total
A3 of Dasgembes POT7
Asnourds faling due within one year
Firmncial imstruments sold, but not yel purchased S509 5022 £ - H - 5 = £ - % - 580,92
Collateraiznd Erancings 91724 30,015 19,106 18,134 - - 158,009
Total THEOOT 33,683 20,492 X - - 851,455
Amourds alling due after more than ohe year
Coilatpralized Snancings - - - - 15,6095 1,279 arare
. ey 7 G wms o aag
Total - 2 k] 438 40,804 18,391 59, TeT
Total = an-bal ance-gheet 55007 J3.685 0,55 L 40,804 R, 391 11,252
Contngen and frward itaning
| cllewslned ageeeets T S S T ]
Oparatng lates - T 1% &7 7T 5 ol
e amE ..
Total — off-bal ande-sheel 4,374 57,870 pr &E 177 82,718
Total Tinancial liabaies STeRIE $01,555 20,898 18,770 41,071 18306 473,870
Ay of Decomber 2016
Arnounts alling dus within one year
Ferancial ivstruments sold, but not yet purchased e an £ - 5 - £ - £ - 5 - 813811
Collateralived Snancings BEE18 27178 14,015 12372 - - 140,358
Dithar cracdion B0.535 27408 1,552 18.378 - - 04,224
Total TE1.285 28,837 15,581 31,750 - - BSE 5T
Amaounts falling due after more than one year
Colaberaiaed Brancings - - 2 El 7.288 502 7811
e et T 2 : o T Y ™3
Tetal - 2 7 Fi =0.558 12054 SO, E4E
Total —on-balange-thieel TH1.265 =haxm 15,555 T H0.550 12.054 08T
Contagent and forward itaning
.......... i B S | B
- - 3, 03
Total - off-balance-thset 4 W57 42 268 14 55 220 - 47,908
Total frnancial iabiities STl 102 T2 187 15, 802 f ok ) 30,707 $12.054 557,074
Bl
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Collateral Received and Pledged

The company recewves cash and securities (e.g., government
and agency obligations, corposate debt securities, eguily
securities) as collateral, primarily in connection with resale
agreements, secunibies borrowed, denwvative transactions and
cistomer margin leans, The company obtains cash and
securities as collateral on an upfront or contingent basis for
dervative instruments and collateralised agreements to reduce
its credit exposure to individual counterpart ies

In many cascs, the company is permitted to deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collateral when entering imo
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements,
primarily in conmection with secured chent financing activity.
The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledge these
financial instruments in connaction  with other  secured
financings, collateralising dervative transactions and meeting
company or customer setilement requirements,

The table below presents financial mstruments receved as
collateral that were available to be delivered, or repledged and
were delivered or repledged by the company:

s of December
§ in millons 2T 2016
Coltateral available to be delivered or repledged HOLEM SO0
Collatarsl that wit deliaced or repledged S, B50 567,705

The company also pledges certain financial instruments owned
i connection with repurchase agreements, secunilies lending
agreements and cther secured financings to counterparties wheo
may or may not have the right to deliver or repledge.

The table below presents mformation about assels pledped.

As of December
5 in mvlhons HAT 018
Francial meruments cwned pledged 1o counber pardes that:
Had the right ba delver o replecige 524,178 20110
Déd niok hew the right be delbvsr or repladge £21,15% 521,583

The company has received cash collateral, mainly in respect of
financial instruments owned, of 35210 hillion and $60.94
billion as of December 2017 and December 2016, respectively,
and posted cash collateral, mainly in respect of financial
instruments sold, but net vet purchased. of $50.07 billion and
54737 billion as of December 2017 and December 2016,

respectively.
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In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lending
transactions, the company funds certain assets through the use
of other secured fimancings and pledges financial instruments
as collateral n these transactions. These other secured
financings consist of labilities related (o special purpose
entities, transfers of fnancial assets that are accounted for as
financings rather than sales and other structured Onancing
arrangements. Other secured financings include arrangements
that are non-recourse

Hedge Accounting

The company designates certain interest rate swaps as fair
value hedges of certan Dixed-rate urmecured lomg-term and
short-term debt. These imerest rate swaps hedge changes in far
value atinbutable to the relevant benchmark interest rate (g,
LIBOR), effectively converting fxed rate obligations o
floating rate obligations.

The company applies a statistical method that utilises
regression analvsis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair
value hedging relationships in achieving of fsetting changes in
the farr values of the hedging instrument and the nsk bemg
hedged (1e, interest rate rsk) An inlerest male swap is
considered highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value
attributable 1o changes in the hedged nsk when the regression
amlvsis results in g coefficient of determimation of B0 or
greater and a slope between 80f%% and 125%.

For qualifving fair value hedges, gains or losses on derivatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged tem attnbutable o
the hedged risk are included in net revenues, When a derivative
5 ne lomger designated as a hedge, any remaining difference
between the carrying value and par value of the hedged item is
amortised over the remaining life of the hedged item using the
effective interest method

The table below presents the gains(losses) from interest rate
derivatives accounted for as hedges, the related hedged
besrawings and the hedge ineffectiveness on these derivatives

Year Ended Decembie
5 it sl 07 016
intarest rate hacges 5 57
Hecged borowings w o 7]
Hedie ineflecnveness % S -

The table below presents the gross fair value of asset and
liability derivative instrumenis designated as hedges.

As of December 217 As af Decambar 218
Dheivative: Derivative Darivalivi Drivative

§ in mallnz Asuels Liabilities Aty Lin biling

Total [=1] [ [E [
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Unconsolidated Structured Entities

The company has interests in structured entities that it does not
comtrol (uncorsolidated structured entities), which primarily
includes: semior and subordmated debt m residential and
commercial morigage-backed and corporate debt and other
assel-backed securitization entities; derivatives and guarantees.

Structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by
issuing debt securities that are erther collateralised by or
indexed to the assets held by the structured entity. The debt
securities 1ssued by a structured entity may include tranches of
varying levels of subordination. The company’s involvement
with structured entities primanly incledes secumitisation of
financial assats.

In cerain instances, the company provides guarantees,
ncluding denvative guarantees, to unconselidated structured
entities or holders of interests in unconsolidated structured
entities,

The table below presents a summary of the unconsclidated
structured entities in which the company holds interests, The
COMPAny s maximum exposure to loss s mainly a resull of
dervatives, commitments and guarantees, for which the
maximum exposure o loss 13 the notional amount, which does
nol represent anticipated losses and also has not been reduced
by wunrealised losses already recorded As a resuli, the
maximum exposure o loss exceeds labilities recorded for
denvatives, commitments and  guarantees,  provided to
unconsolidated structured entities.

Ag of Dicembaer
§ in evlions a7 20 &
Aswets in Rnuctured entibes 57,640 37,613
Carrying valss of misrests - sk $ 53R $ B
Carrying valse of ierests - Rebites [T § (31)
LRI B POLTS bO b 4,119 54573

The carrving values of the company”s interests are included in
the balance sheet in “Financial instruments owned” or
“Firmancial instruments sold, but not vet puschased”,
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Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. Dunng the
vear, the company transferred certain financial assets where the
transfers failed to mecet the derecognition criteria, as contained
in IAS 39, and as a result of which the company continues to
recognise these assets in full in the balance sheet.

The company transfers assets owned to counterparties in the
ordinary c¢ourse of business to collateralise repuschase
agreements and other secunties lending transsctions.  In these
transactions the transferred assets continue to be recognised by
the company for accounting purposes because the transactions
require the financial instruments 1o be repurchased at maturty
of the agreement and the company remains exposed to the
price, credit and interest rale risk of these instruments. When
the company receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the
asset, a financml labality 15 recognised inrespect of the
consideration received and recorded within “Collateralised
financings”. When the company receives non cash collateral
(i the form of secunities) mo liability 15 imtally recognised. I
collateral receved 15 subsequently sold, the obligation to return
the collateral is recognised as a liability within “Financial
mstruments sold, but not vet purchased™.

In addition to repurchase agreements and sccumities lending
agreements, the company obtans funding through the we of
other arrangements that fail to meet the derecognition criteria.
For example, sales of secunties with related denvatives, such
a5 total return swaps, throwgh which the company retains
substantially all of the risk and reward of the ransferred assets.
A fmancial labidlity s recognised in such cases for the
procesds received.

Other financial assets transferred that continue to be recognised
on balance sheet for accouming purposes relate 1o pledges of
securities as collateral, pnmarily for denvative transactions.
The obligations under such derivatives are recorded in
“Financial instruments sold, but not yvet purchased”,

The table below presents financial assets which have been
transferred b which remain on balance sheet for accounting
purposes. The carrving amount of the assooated Onancial
liabilines generally approsamate the carrying amount of the
assets transferred.

As of December
$ in millong 07 2018
Goveenmant and agenty okl gations 514,620 14,803
Corparate ieant and dolt Lpeurte and
ik el S ares el
Equity seeurtios 27,141 2,816
Tota 47,536 H1ETS

207/343

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Derecognised Assets With Ongeoing Exposure. The
company has continuing involvement in the form of denvative
trarsactions and guarantees with certain  unconsolidated
structured entities to which the company had transferred
financial assets. These denvatives may be credit-linked to the
assel transferred and resull in the company retaiming specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company to make
pavments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the
asset if certain contingent events occur

In addition, the company transfers fimancial assets to
securitisation vehicles. The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets bul may have continting
invalyement with the transferred assets, including ownershap of
beneficial interests in the secunitised financial assets, primarily
i the form of debt imstrumemts. The company may also
purchase semor or subordinated  secunities  1sswed by
securitisation vehicles in connection with secondary market-
making activities

Where the company’s continuing involvement in transferred
assets s through denvatives or guaraniees, the maxamum
exposire 10 loss is the notional amounts of the derivative of
puarantee. For retamed or purchased interests i securitised
assets, the company’s risk of loss 1= imited to the far value of
these interests. In all cases these retained interests are carred at
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transfer at fair value
and therefore does not typacally recognise significant gains or
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
comtinuing invalvement that could require the company 1o
repurchase derecognised financial asseis
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The tables below present mformation about the company's

exposwre through continuing involvement and the gains or
losses related to those ransactions

Macdmium
Carryng Espariiafi
§ i mallaag Al ta Ledd
Aa of December JH17
Asnsels
Cash intrumsnis §10 L) |
Derivative instruments (s L
Financial instruments owned a gl
Tola 553 020
“Dabilites
Darivatives instruments. L] 112
Financial instrumets sold, but not yet purchased [F4] (13
Tals ENE] 112
£ of December 2016
Asaels
Cash insfrurments 313 523
e = .
Financial instrumsnts cwnad ] B3
Tete 378 013
Liatdiiges
Darbatives instrumants. 503 5 8o
Finaneisl instrummets seld, But net yot porchased ] a8
Tetsl e 509
ncome!  Cuenulsbee
(Expanse) Incoenal
£ iy s inthe year  {Expenss)
As of December J017
Assels
Cath intfrumsnts g1 8132
Darhatios nstrumsnts 1 124
Financial instruments cwned Fl F
Toial OB 5256
“Dabilities
Darrativet inttrumsnty 5 - 5
Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased - {35y
e - =
Tats [ EIECT)
£5 of December 2016
Addts
Cash insfruments. L] LAk
Frarivaties st = e
Financial instruments ownoed {18 454
Totsl S{165) 5264
Liabiliges
Carhvatives instrumants LE ] ETE
Finnncial instrumets sold, but not yat purchated &) (35)
Ot crisleen - L]
Totnl 5 (3 5 {38
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Hote 29,

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

The tables below present the company’s lnancil assets and
financial liabilites that are subject to enforceable netting
agreements and offsetting  Amounts are only offset in the
balance sheet when the company currently has a legally
enforceable night to set-off the recognised amounts and an
intention esther to settle on a net basis, or 10 realise the asset
and settle the habiliy simultaneously. In the tables below:

» Gross amounts exclude the effects of both counterparty
netting and collateral, and therefore are ol representative of
the company” s CONOMIC ¢ XPOSUre.

« Amounts not offset in the balance sheet include counterpariy
neting (1., the netting of fnancial assets and Onancial
liabilities for a given counterparty when a legal nght of setoff
exists under an enforceable netting agreement), and cash and
security collateral received and posted under enforceable
credit support agreements, that do not meet the criteria for
offsetting under UK. GAAP,
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Where the company has received or posted collateral under
credit support agreements, but has not wet determined
whether such  agreements are enforceable, the related
collateral has not been mcluded i the amounts not offsel in
the balance sheet.

Gress amounts meluded dervative assets and denvative
liabilities of $5.69 billion and 36.27 billion, respectively, as
of December 2017, and derivative assets and denivative
liabilities of $6.94 billion and 3632 billion, respectively, as
of December 2016, which are not subject to an enforceable
netting agresment or are subject to a netting agreement that
the company has not vet determined to be enforceable:

Substantially all resale agreements and secunities borrowed
within collateralised agreements and repurchase agreemenis
and securities loaned within collateralised financings are
subject to enforceable netting agreements as of December
2017 and December 2016,

As of December 2007

Ampunts nod offset In the balance sheet

Amounts  Met ansount

cifset Inthe  presented in

Gross balance M balance  Counterparty Gash  Security Het
$inmilions amounts. sheet sheat netting  collsteral  collateral amount
Cmhbatrerats § 17233 gpasty  F ared f (20§ (s § (223 % 82
Dvinf i 8 | TS TS SEO,749 14,5400 566,700 [496,655) {37,235 (12,206} 0,138
Femscalndramentbowned 0 SUB0RY (I SAe7R 00 (MPaTE) _ GaAds 20768
Colateralised agresments BT A4 (62, 804) 204,530 (L= k)] BET) 3950
— it s S R i
Farmmzinl asaaes sUBjRCt L0 BATCIE akin NAENG A% T 3,00 88,7271 CRCETT) [SE6,104) (74498 (198,766 I3.800
Fenancial assets not sy An en for ceable BEEMTIRTRS 104 B4 = 104,243 - = = 104,243
Total financlal assets 51,038,018 5(00,727)  5939.180 S[5B6, 104} S{74ABE)  S(130.766)  5138,743
Einancia LiabilRigs
Arnounts Falling dus within ome year
Cash instnamsnts 3 TE8 5 g ] 50 k- - 5 - 1 - ] 50
Dhosr vty m | sEru mants: S10,661 114,538) 538,123 456,609 §35,821) (B3N] 16,580
Feramgal maroments weid Bl nol yel purehated T4 {15,258) 538,173 (435,600} {35,821) [6.833) 16,010
Collatarshned Eancingt 727,068 {71,580) 185,400 (81,510} (e40) 0,660 2,799
Total BE0,2080 100,298 TR0 [=554AB8) [LERLET [FrA0n 43,008
Ammounts falling dus after mons than one yaar
Colateraised fnancings 2,204 (7. 550) 14,741 1,848} (L] {11,679 L]
Othae cradion A (LBFH) 124 ey 35 - 1,035
Telal 765,014 [ 18,585 11,725} [T 7,555
Firaminl babatios whpmcl to snfkecoable neling 0 05,243 00,7270 795,515 [586,184)  (74488) FTEEE] 45,563
T RN T T mhE G i - e LI o e
Total Tnanclal llabaties 51,008,043 09,730 SH0F 16 SSRG, 104 ) SFAANE) S (ERTE 5158404

£
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

s off December 2016
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Amounts not offesl in e balanss sheet

Amounts  Melamount

wlfpsd inthe  predented n

Grows the Bialk c party Cash Sacurity Het
amounts shipt shaet nesng collateral collateral amount
£ 16BaR £ (12380 & agar L RN ] i ak 5§ (2t & 504
551,858 (62,3600 555 550 (524, TBT) (42,8700 (12428} 18,637
&78.8507 (74,721} B0, 188 [S25.887) 42,813 (15,344} 20043
........ 32912 il _WASSTE 3351
58,632 1) [4.864) 5,559
_Fenancial ssnets subject to enforceakie neting 19 0T WIS @Sl B06W (1676 198
Foranicial sssets not subject o enforoeable nefing agresmients 2137 LrA kT - - - BENAT
Tolal frnencial assebs 51,062 588 5633, 353 SI515,110% 5080388 S{11LTER}  $122130
Fipsncly Listituies
Amounts Falling due within one year
Cash insinsments £ 1740 5 (16888 5 5 - % - % - % B4
‘Dwivatve instuments [TRIEH 1,188, BORGTE  (GehBid) (35845 (Bdi) 18,575
_Financial mairuments scid, bt not yet purchased  B4BBES  (GZES4)  BEVOGE  (Seh1d)  (hB4S)  (E841) 1665
Colatersized Smancings 100 858 63,158 135,710 B, 150 - (49 504} 1,047
Othaer cradions :r:.a?_z (4,608 _sa.m (3, 265y (43,682 - 1,818
Tolal 912,120 (1200618) TE.502 (514,038 (TRAZT) (58,445 38,552
Amounts laling due after more than one year
Collateralised fmancings 14237 hran T 25 _N0em 0TS R 0 S48
Other credions 3,058 (1835} 22 {12y (Al - 1526
Tolal — — 18,166 [R5 BE18 .092 BB B2} ZA74
Feramcial babditios whpel b ankconble neting agr bs 530,316 (128,185} BOE, 121 815110} (80,3685 (53,857} 1,768
“Ferancial kabiltins not subgect to enforceable nalling ag 105,234 - iEEM = = - 105,234
Total francial labitins 51,0055, 550 SO1200195) $90G, 155 HE1E 110 SB098E) S(EIR5T) 147000
During 2017, pursuant to 8 rule clange at a clearing
organisation and to an election under the rules of ancther
cleaning orgamisaion, iransactions with such  clearing
organisations are considered settled each day. The impact of
reflecting transactions with these two clearing organisalions as
setthed would have been a reduction in bath gross assets and
liahilities as of December 2016 of 35701 billion, and a
corresponding decrease in amounts offset in the balance sheet,
coumterparty netling and cash collateral netting, with no impact
1o the net amount in the table above.
ES
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OooooOodd
2016 12 2015 12
6,549 697,730 7,016 747,485
(4,269) (454,819) (4,077) (434,364)
2,280 242,911 2,939 313,121
(346) (36,863) (285) (30,364)
9 959 7 746
1,943 207,007 2,661 283,503
11 (487) (51,885) (353) (37,609)
1,456 155,122 2,308 245,894
2016 12 2015 12
1,456 155,122 2,308 245,894
(189) (20,136) ®) (320)
18 (182) (19,390) — —
16 92 9,802 1 107
3 320 — —
(276) (29,405) ©) (213)
1,180 125,717 2,306 245,681
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®3)
2016 12 2015 12
12 140 14,916 12 1,278
(2016 12
2015 12
20,110 13 662,945 70,630,160 616,054 65,634,393
22,036
)
14 184,600 19,667,284 163,703 17,440,918
15 69,696 7,425,412 60,488 6,444,392
20 16,888 1,799,248 9,974 1,062,630
934,129 99,522,104 850,219 90,582,332
13 (613,911) (65,406,078) (555, 654) (59,199,377)
17 (137,641) (14,664,272) (116,385) (12,399,658)
18 (110,931) (11,818,589) (116,300) (12,390,602)
(862,483) (91,888,939) (788,339) (83,989,637)
71,646 7,633,165 61,880 6,592,695
71,786 7,648,080 61,892 6,593,974
17 (6,233) (664,064) (3,502) (373,103)
18 (38,073) (4,056,297) (32,298) (3,441,029)
(44,306) (4,720,361) (35,800) (3,814,132)
27,480 2,927,719 26,092 2,779,842
53 5,647 261 27,807
27,533 2,933,366 26,353 2,807,649
19 582 62,006 582 62,006
4,864 518,211 4,864 518,211
( ) 17 1,811 17 1,811
22,070 2,351,338 20,890 2,225,621
27,533 2,933,366 26,353 2,807,649
2017 15
D.W.
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2016 12 2015 12
582 62,006 533 56,786
— — 49 5,220
582 62,006 582 62,006
4,864 518,211 2,863 305,024
— — 2,001 213,187
4,864 518,211 4,864 518,211
)
17 1,811 17 1,811
17 1,811 17 1,811
20,890 2,225,621 18,584 1,979,939
1,456 155,122 2,308 245,894
(276) (29,405) ©) (213)
497 52,950 630 67,120
(497) (52,950) (630) (67,120)
22,070 2,351,338 20,890 2,225,621
27,533 2,933,366 26,353 2,807,649
2015
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2016 12 2015 12
21 8,745 931,692 2,889 307,794
23 2,450 3 320
(428) (45,599) (403) (42,936)
8,340 888,544 2,489 265,178
(135) (14,383) ®) (320)
(135) (14,383) ®) (320)
— — 2,050 218,407
(305) (32,495) @17) (23,119)
— — 2,500 266,350
(305) (32,495) 4,333 461,638
7,900 841,666 6,819 726,496
9,970 1,062,204 3,577 381,094
(989) (105,368) (426) (45,386)
20 16,881 1,798,502 9,970 1,062,204
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2016 12 2015 12
563 590
575 689
1,138 1,279
2,523 2,549
2,066 2,353
4,589 4,902
500 360
322 475
6,549 7,016
( )
2016 12 2015 12
1,138 1,279
712 812
426 467
4,589 4,902
2,502 2,644
2,087 2,258
6,549 7,016
4,269 4,077
2,280 2,939
2016
2015 822 835
2016 2015 542 579
2016 2015

513 42
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5,013 5,252
920 1,010
616 754
6,549 7,016
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2016 12 2015 12

2,974 2,834

568 550

61 95

85 88

7 4

161 173

110 147

303 186

1,295 1,243

4,269 4,077
2016 2015

80 81
2016
2015
2016 2015

226/343



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
( )
2016 12 2015 12
7 8
7 8
( )
2016 12 2015 12
3 3
2006
( sl
)2008 /410
2016 12

1.1
1.3

227/343



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn
( )
2016 12 2015 12
739 721
1,383 1,407
169 146
624 593
2,801 2,755
5,716 5,622
409 527
6,125 6,149
2016 12 2015 12 5,903 6,458
( )
2016 12 2015 12
2,567 2,454
329 295
69 62
9 23
2,974 2,834
2016 488

2015
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( )
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2.55 3.80

4.00 4.00

RPI 3.45 3.40

CPI 2.45 2.40

(1996 11 30 ) 3.25 3.20

(199 11 30 ) 2.45 2.40

(2009 ) 2.45 2.40

S1
2002 CM12012
( )
2016 12 2015 12
65 65

24.0 24.0

25.4 25.3

45 65

25.4 25.3

26.9 26.8
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2016 12

1,837 (1,576) 261

— © ©

64 (55) 9

611 — 611

— 16 16

— (816) (816)

8 — 8

@ 7 —

/¢ ) (354) 327 @n

12 31 2,159 (2,106) 53
2015 12

1,817 (1,560) 257

— @7 “n

— 24 24

68 (61) 7

28 — 28

— 13 13

— (44) 44)

37 — 37

(10) 10 —

/¢ ) (103) 89 14)

12 31 1,837 (1,576) 261
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65 ( ) 35
( )
( )
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740 — 740
600 — 600
— 518 518
104 — 104
134 63 197
1,578 581 2,159
2015 12
873 — 873
534 — 534
250 — 250
56 — 56
73 51 124
1,786 51 1,837
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
2016 12
0.25 am (8.4) 193 9.2

0.25 137 6.5 (149) 7.1)
84 4.0 (81) (3.8)

2015 12

0.25 (123) (7.8) 142 9.0

0.25 112 7.1 (105) 6.7)
54 3.4 (52) (3.3)
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RSU

2008

2016 12

75.00 89.99
90.00 194.99
195.00 209.99

2015 12

75.00 89.99
90.00 194.99
195.00 209.99

194.04

RSU

2015

196.28
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2015
( 2015  SIP )
( GSI )
2015 497 630
GSI
RSU
RSU
10
2016 12 2007
( ) ( ) ( )
1,109,309 78.78 2.00
436,951 204.16 0.92
1,546,260 114.21 1.69
2,154,052 78.78 3.00
847,310 202.40 1.51
3,001,362 113.68 2.58
2016 2015
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431 372
) 18
103 77
530 467
(46) 54
3 (155)
— 13)
43) (114)
487 353
12
28.0 (2015 20.25 )
( )
2016 12 2015 12
1,943 2,661
544 539
9 ®)
(30) @
22) 29)
— 8
(13) (©)
® 5
3 (155)
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34 1

105 —

1 1

140 12

( )

25 11 36
27 — 27
— (1) (1)
52 10 62
19 6 25
3 1 4
— (1) (1)
22 6 28
30 4 34
6 5 11
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24 84 108
12 31 24 84 108
( ) 3 — 3
12 31 3 — 3
2016 12 21 84 105
2015 12 — — —

2016 2016

( )
— 1 1
12 31 — 1 1
12 31 — — —
2016 12 — 1 1
2015 12 — 1 1

238/343



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn
2016 12
( )
(
) 100 250
8 100 * *
*
13
24
( )
2016 12 2015 12
211 454
18,459 16,654
704 1,094
12,356 12,368
31,513 36,358
103 9
63,346 66,937
371,881 321,915
34,059 48,094
127,290 113,522
9,813 12,926
56,556 52,660
599,599 549,117
662,945 616,054
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2016 12 2015 12

10,099 7,433

2,129 2,417

14,701 14,834

7 _

26,936 24,684

365,628 312,222

31,501 43,944

126,877 112,892

9,795 12,897

53,174 49,015

586,975 530,970

613,911 555,654

14
( )
2016 12 2015 12

120,005 110,318

64,595 53,385

184,600 163,703

2016 12 2015 12
1,214.5 918.4
2016 12 2015 12
433 18.7
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)
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57,290 53,047
11,574 6,768
704 569
44 44
84 60
69,696 60,488
2016 12 2015 12 276
2015 12 689.6 598.7
2015 12 736 614
( )
2016 12 2015 12
— 3
13) (68)
672 634
45 —
704 569
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8 (18)
47 1
(13) (68)
634 502
38 132
672 634
45 —
45 —
569 454
43 114
92 1
704 569
)
2016 12 2015 12
84,581 38,578
53,060 77,807
137,641 116,385
5,734 3,502
499 —
6,233 3,502
143,874 119,887
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979.1 826.7
2016 12 2015 12 975.8 825.5
18
( )
2016 12 2015 12
164 63
7 4
12,819 13,850
54,071 54,544
18,922 27,195
22,517 18,316
918 834
203 134
231 230
1,079 1,130
110,931 116,300
— 100
8,958 8,958
11,157 7,896
16,882 14,316
276 344
745 684
55 —
38,073 32,298
149,004 148,598
2016 12 2015 12
1,105.0 1,159.4 2016 12 2015 12
434 364

2016 12 2015 12
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(
2016 12 2015 12

2,080 1,778
7,992 9,722

932 493
1,815 1,857
12,819 13,850

886 671
8,704 5,317

537 1,148
1,030 760
11,157 7,896
23,976 21,746

(
2016 12 2015 12
1,630 2,554
3,295 2,074
6,232 3,268
11,157 7,896
2022 2056
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GS
( PRA ) PRA
87.0 2021 12 14 2025 29
PRA 255
PRA
GS

DVA

2016 182
2016 12 2026 13 211 2015
12 2063 10 22 284
19

( ) ( )

2016 581,964,161 582

2016 12 31 581,964,161 582

20
( )
2016 12 2015 12
16,888 9,974
18 ) ©) )

16,881 9,970
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( )
2016 12 2015 12
1,943 2,661
12 ) 7 4
( — 16
992 433
870 502
— 1
( 346 285
4,158 3,902
/( (46,891) 77,694
/( (20,897) 39,813
/C ) (9,062) 6,194
(76,850) 123,701
/( 58,257 (85,759)
/( 23,987 (21,764)
(799) (17,137)
— an
81,445 (124,677)
® (€2))
8,745 2,889
2016 2015 20.5
21.6 2016 2015 18.3
22.2
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43,599 29,276
11,806 11,483
3,993 4,137
59,398 44,896
( )
2016 12 2015 12
82 95
229 347
— 16
311 458
2016 12
70
(
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24
( )

2016 12
662,945 — — 662,945
— 139,732 44,868 184,600
— 1,432 67,528 68,960
— — 16,888 16,888
662,945 141,164 129,284 933,393

2015 12
616,054 — — 616,054
— 132,933 30,770 163,703
— 1,368 58,506 59,874
— — 9,974 9,974
616,054 134,301 99,250 849,605
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2016 12
613,911 — — 613,911
— 96,427 41,214 137,641
— 13,542 96,955 110,497
613,911 109,969 138,169 862,049
— 6,233 — 6,233
— 19,407 18,666 38,073
— 25,640 18,666 44,306
613,911 135,609 156,835 906,355
2015 12
555,654 — — 555,654
— 72,913 43,472 116,385
— 14,281 101,655 115,936
555,654 87,194 145,127 787,975
— 3,502 — 3,502
— 19,928 12,370 32,298
— 23,430 12,370 35,800
555,654 110,624 157,497 823,775
2015 12 87
124.8
( ( )
)
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( )

2016 12 ( )
43,678 18,633 1,035 63,346
47 595,435 4,117 599,599
43,725 614,068 5,152 662,945
— 139,732 — 139,732
— 1,432 — 1,432
43,725 755,232 5,152 804,109
23,837 3,095 4 26,936
34 584,717 2,224 586,975
23,871 587,812 2,228 613,911
— 96,361 66 96,427
— 9,941 3,601 13,542
23,871 694,114 5,895 723,880
— 6,233 — 6,233
— 15,674 3,733 19,407
— 21,907 3,733 25,640
23,871 716,021 9,628 749,520
13 10,718 1,893 12,624
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2015 12 ( )
48,198 17,501 1,238 66,937
14 544,300 4,803 549,117
48,212 561,801 6,041 616,054
— 132,933 — 132,933
— 1,368 — 1,368
48,212 696,102 6,041 750,355
21,038 3,584 62 24,684
28 528,277 2,665 530,970
21,066 531,861 2,727 555,654
— 72,842 71 72,913
— 10,802 3,479 14,281
21,066 615,505 6,277 642,848
— 3,502 — 3,502
— 17,804 2,124 19,928
— 21,306 2,124 23,430
21,066 636,811 8,401 666,278
14) 16,023 2,138 18,147
2015 12
87 124.8
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2016 12 2015 12 10.4 12.4

) ( )
2016 12 2015 12

336 405
0.8 20.0 (7.1 ) 3.2 19.7 (5.9 )

35.0 97.5 (76.5 )
() 0.8  16.1(4.7) 0.7 11.8(5.5)
199 152
0.9 5.5 (1.6 ) 0.9 14.5 (2.4 )
/ 8.6 13.3 (11.4 )
500 681
2.6 14.1 (6.3 ) 2.9 14.3 (6.2 )
0.0 70.0 (45.1 ) 0.0 70.0 (40.5 )
() 1.9 15.7(3.4) 1.8 5.5(3.0)

/ 2016 12

2015 12

259/343



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
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21.4
2016 12 2015 12
(184) 136
) ( / )
2016 12 2015 12
2,313 2,278
35 91 (65 /68 ) 46 99 (68 /66 )
(bps) 993(148/100) 952(174/131)
96(21/8) 88(24/20)
83 (54 /70 ) 55 (34 /40 )
(236) (276)
(39) 87 (42 /45 )  (65) 94 (38 /45 )
63 (23 /22 ) 14 59 (26 /26 )
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2016 12 2015 12
6,041 7,793
1,052 646

394 680
(351) (401)
(1,727) (1,399)
641 934
(898) (2,212)
5,152 6,041
(8,401) (6.,422)
@377) 528
14 99
(5,697) (5,194)
4,087 2,801
(553) (973)
1,299 760
(9,628) (8,401)
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2016 12 2015 12
(2,727) (2,718)
/( (446) ®)
14 99
(201) (383)
892 324
(155) (424)
395 383
(2,228) (2,727)
(71) (124)
/( ©) @
1 55
(66) (71)
(5,603) (3,580)
/( 75 538
(5,496) (4,811)
3,184 2,422
(398) (549)
904 377
(7,334) (5,603)
2016 12
2015 12
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2016 12
261 294
( )
( )
2016 12 2015 12

139 136

90 93
(80) (90)
149 139
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2016 12 2015 12 1,292.8
992.5 1,381.7 1,451.3
2016 12 2015 12
186.7 123.7
( )
2016 12 2015 12
6,477 6,778
1,521 1,804
607 235
2,128 2,039
1,016 1,050
1,040 751
2,056 1,801
72 238
6,549 7,016
2016 2015 619 532

2016 495 2015 625
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/
2016 12
613,911 — — — — — 613,911
86,069 27,178 13,193 11,201 — — 137,641
87,223 2,424 1,054 19,966 — — 110,667
787,203 29,602 14,247 31,167 — — 862,219
— — — — 6,158 75 6,233
— 2 7 27 29,430 11,253 40,719
— 2 7 27 35,588 11,328 46,952
787,203 29,604 14,254 31,194 35,588 11,328 909,171
844 42,261 — 494 — — 43,599
— 7 14 61 229 — 311
3,993 — — — — — 3,993
4,837 42,268 14 555 229 — 47,903
792,040 71,872 14,268 31,749 35,817 11,328 957,074
2015 12
555,654 — — — — — 555,654
60,086 41,900 3,378 11,021 — — 116,385
86,050 2,267 688 27,367 — — 116,372
701,790 44,167 4,066 38,388 — — 788,411
— — — — 3,413 89 3,502
— 1 6 19 21,111 12,591 33,728
— 1 6 19 24,524 12,680 37,230
701,790 44,168 4,072 38,407 24,524 12,680 825,641
— 29,276 — — — — 29,276
— 8 16 72 347 15 458
4,137 — — — — — 4,137
4,137 29,284 16 72 347 15 33,871
705,927 73,452 4,088 38,479 24,871 12,695 859,512
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2016 12 2015 12
420,321 379,594
367,705 307,759
( )
2016 12 2015 12
20,110 22,036
21,563 20,146
2016 12 2015 12 609.4 576.4
2016 12 2015 12 473.7

387.1
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( LIBOR )
( )
80
C )
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7 2)
©) 18
— )
( )
2016 12 2015 12
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7,513 13,301
511 975
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4,523 4,895
IAS 39
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— 221

14,803 10,036

4,254 5,300

22,616 26,625

41,673 42,182
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13 23
63 890
76 913
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Q) (99)
@ (99
Q) (99)
76 93
99 1,160
175 1,253
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/C ) /C )
2016 12

11 131
@n 123
(16) 254
(16) 254

(©)) (35)

(©)) (35)

— @

(©)) (36)

2015 12

2 120
6 150
8 270
8 270

@ (32)

@ (32)

— @

@ (33)
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(
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2016 12 69.4 68.2 2015 12

83.4 74.9
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2015 12 711

23.6

126.5
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2016 12

16,948  (12,361) 4,587 (1,120) 42) (2,919) 506
661,959  (62,360) 599,599  (524,767)  (42,870)  (12,425) 19,537

678,907  (74,721) 604,186  (525,887)  (42,912)  (15,344) 20,043
232,912 (48,312) 184,600  (85,692) — (95,557) 3,351
58,632 (6,162) 52,470 (3,531)  (37,476) (4,864) 6,599

970,451  (129,195) 841,256  (615,110)  (80,388) (115,765) 29,993

92,137 — 92,137 — — — 92,137

1,062,588  (129,195) 933,393  (615,110)  (80,388) (115,765) 122,130

1,740 (1,686) 54 — — — 54
648,143  (61,168) 586,975  (525,614)  (35,845) (8,941) 16,575

649,883  (62,854) 587,029  (525,614)  (35,845) (8,941) 16,629
187,418  (53,155) 134,263  (84,632) — (48,821) 810
77,514 (6,444) 71,070 (3,792)  (43,765) (683) 22,830

914,815  (122,453) 792,362  (614,038)  (79,610)  (58,445) 40,269

6,233 — 6,233 (1,060) — (5,162) 11
9,268 (6,742) 2,526 (12) (778) (250) 1,486
15,501 (6,742) 8,759 (1,072) (778) (5.412) 1,497

930,316 (129,195) 801,121 (615,110) (80,388) (63,857) 41,766

105,234 — 105,234 —_ — — 105,234

1,035,550  (129,195) 906,355  (615,110)  (80,388)  (63,857) 147,000
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( )
2015 12

15,662  (11,579) 4,083 1) (726) (1,993) 1,343
608,906  (59,789) 549,117  (474,498)  (42,162)  (11,095) 21,362
624,568  (71,368) 553,200  (474,519)  (42,888)  (13,088) 22,705
191,094  (27,391) 163,703  (48,219) —  (112,475) 3,009

55,187 (6,758) 48,429 (542)  (32,202) (7,900) 7,785

870,849  (105,517) 765,332  (523,280)  (75,090) (133,463) 33,499

84,273 — 84,273 — — — 84,273

955,122  (105,517) 849,605  (523,280)  (75,090) (133,463) 117,772

1,164 (1,164) — — — _ _
589,450  (58,480) 530,970  (474,498)  (32,203) (8,617) 15,652
590,614  (59,644) 530,970  (474,498)  (32,203) (8,617) 15,652
148,170  (34,149) 114,021  (48,130) — (64,720) 1,171

74,559 (5,027) 69,532 (1)  (42,162) — 27,349
813,343  (98,820) 714,523  (522,649)  (74,365)  (73,337) 44,172

3,502 — 3,502 (89) — (3,343) 70
8,694 (6,697) 1,997 (542) — — 1,455
12,196 (6,697) 5,499 (631) — (3,343) 1,525

825,539  (105,517) 720,022  (523,280)  (74,365)  (76,680) 45,697

103,753 — 103,753 —_ — — 103,753

929,292  (105,517) 823,775  (523,280)  (74,365)  (76,680) 149,450

2017
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Year Ended Decembaer

3§ in enilions Note 2018 25
Mk revenuss 4 56,50 ERA L]
Adminisirative gepenses B o, 29y (4,077}
operaingpeom am 268
Interest payabie and smiar charges 8 M) 288
Mt france incoma ] ] 7
hmmammuhﬂmum 1,843 2661
Tax on proft on ordinary actvites 1] (48T (35N
Profit for the Minanclal year 5 1456 5 2 308

Nt revenues and cpsaling proft of the company ars derved from conSinuing opsrations in the current snd pricr years.

Statements of Comprehensive Income

Yoar Ended Ducembaer

£ o enidions Nt 2016 2015
Proft for the fnancisl year % 1,456 52308
Oiher comprehaeive |ncomn

Itemes Ehat will reot e reclassified subsequently to profil o loss

Actuarial loss relating to the pension scheme 4] {189) [k
Dbt valuation adjustment 18 {182y =
UK. dfareed tax atinbubaile bo S comg bs of ethes comprehansive e 18 az 1
U K. eument tax sl ibutabie 10 the companets of other compahéern indoms 3 -
Other comprehensive |oss Tor the financial year, net of ta {276} [F:]
Total comprefhensive inoome for the financ sl year % 1,180 5 2306

The accompanying rotes s an inbegral part of tvese Inancial statements,

55

278/343



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GOLOMAN SACHS INTERNATICHNAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Balance Sheet
Anof Dacambar
§ i milbons Hote HE Fgl
Fizod msels e - . I
Current asssty
Financial instnaments owned {incudes $20,110 as of December 2016 and §22,005 as of December 2015, pledged as collateral) 13 G632, 845 815,054
Collateralised agresments 14 'Fll.lul'.l 1!-'_!:?0@_-
Do 15 69,066 180,488
Cash af Bank and in hand 20 26,882 0974
93,129 850210
Creditors: amoums Balling due within one year
Finanzial instnosenls sold, ot not et purchased 13 (E13,811) (S55,554)
Colmewnedmnengs W e oiesss
Caher 18 [110,831) (118,300
(B62,483) (FREAI0)
Mt cLuvent assels 71,648 1.0
Total assets loss current Sabiliies —— e W s
Creditors: ameluvs falling dus aller mors than o year
Collswaissdfmengs W emm  psD
Cfhar creditons 18 {38,070 3220
184,304 (35,600
Mol conts wchodiog peeidon o 00000 #4M 000 W6
Panson surplus k] 51 a1
Met assets inoluding pension surplus § 27,5313 5 253583
Capital and rogervms
Called up share captal : : : w5 s s s
Share premum a:eoun 4,884 4,884
Cagital reserve inon-distrisutabie) 17 17
Prokt and less acecunt 22,070 20,850
Total sharshold er's funids § 27,533 5 26,353

The financial staternents wene appeoved by the Board of Deectors on March 15, 2017 and signied on its behall by

DA m%&

b. W. McDonogh
Director

Thi Becompanying rotes ans an inlegral pan of these Snancial statements.
Company number. 02203851
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Changes in Equity

fear Ended December

5 i enliang e 215

Called up share capital

Baginning balance 5 S8z 5 &Ny
T e ———— ————

................................... ¥’ o

Share premium account

Baginning balance 4,864 2853

Sharet iwtwed - 2.001
L L I — L S 4,864

Capltal reserve fnon-i striuabie)

Baginning balance 7 7

Ending balance 17 17

Profit and loss sccount

Baginning balance 0,50 18,584

Proft fze the fnanc sl year 1458 2308

Cithar ecenprahaeriog loas {276y [z

Share-based payrants ar &30
“anmgmman racharge rised s dharebed %
Ending balin AT 0090

Total shareholder' s funds 527,533 515,353

N dividends ware paid in 2016 and 2015,

This Bccompanying rotes & an inbegral part of fvese Inancisl shebements.
35
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Statements of Cash Flows

5 i erlliend Hofe 2018 2015
Cash Mows from operating activities

Cuth gunarated From cpamiiony W SEMY  szem
'I'Mrwﬁ.u.gd ........ 23 . 3
Taxation paid 1428) 0%
Nt cash from cpersting actvities 0 M0 24
Cash Mows from investing activities

Paymaents o acquind Exed atkels 135 (k]
_Metcash used in investing actdties s i

Cash Mows from financing activities

Recwphs bomissng oodnary shavecogel - am
Inberast paid on longsterm subordnated loans 30 217
Receipts from isswing long-term subordinated loans - 2500
Mt cash Fromiused in) Enencing edvilies (e 4,333
Med increase in cash and cash squivalents T 200 &018
Cash and cash equivalons, beganng bal 970 3577
Foreign exchange losses on cash and cash squiahents ] (428
Cash and cash equivalents, ending bal ande 20 S18.EE1 S3,870

The accompanying notes are an integral part of fwess fnancial stabements.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Mote 1.
General Information

The company B a prvale wnlimited company and s
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of its registered office is Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street,
London, EC44 2BB, United Kingdom.

The company's immediate parent undertaking iz Goldman
Sachs Growp UK Limited (G3G UK), a company incorporated
and demigiled i England and Wales.

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company
of the smallest and largest group for which consohdated
financial statements are prepared 15 The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc., a company incorperated m the United States of
Amenca. Coples of its consolidated financial statements, as
well as certain regulatory filings, for example CQuarterly
Reports on Form 10-0) and the Annual Report on Form 10-E,
that provide additional nformation aboat G5 Group and its
business activities, can be oblained from Investor Relations,
2000 West Street, New York, NY 10282, United States of
Amenca, G5 Group's pnncipal place of business, or at
www . goldmansachs com/sharcholders’.

Basel Il Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company 15 included in the comsolidated Fillar 3
disclosures of GSG UK, which are required by the E, U, Capital
Requirements Regulation. GSG UK's 2016 Pillar 3 discloswures
will be made available in comunction with the publication of
its consohidated financial information at
www goldmansachs com/disclosures’.

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company is included in the consolidated country-by-
coumiry reporting disclosures of G3G UK, which are required
by the Capital Reguirements (Country-by-Country Reporting)
Eegulations 2013, G3G UK's 2016 coumtry-by-couniry
disclesures will be made available by December 31, 2017 a
www.goldmansachs com/disclosures’.

57

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Note 2.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The company prepares financial statements under UK. GAAP.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with FES 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™ (FES 101}

These financial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis, under the historical cost convention (modified
as explaned in “Pension Armangements”™ and “Financal Assels
and Firancial Liabilities™ below), and in accordance with the
Companies Agt 2006,

The following exemptions from the disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adoepted
by the EU. have been applied in the preparation of these
financial statements in accordance with FRS 101;

« [FES 2 “Share-based Payment” paragraph 45(b) and 46 10 52
These disclosures are provided i the consolidated financial
statements of Group Ine

« 1AS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements” paragraph 3% to
present comparative information in respect of-
« [AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements” paragraph
THa} ), and
« LAS 16 ‘Froperty, Plant and Equipment” paragraph 73(e).
« [AS | “Presentation of Financial Staiemenis’ paragraphs
1ML}, 16, and 404-Dx,

« [AS % “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors” paragraphs 30 and 31,

= [AS 24 “Eelated Party Disclosures” paragraph 17, and

= [AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures” requirements o disclose
transactions with companies also whelly owned within GS
Group.

Consolidation

The company has elected not to prepare consolidated financial
statements as permitted by section 402 of the Companies Act
2006 as s subsidiaries are not material for the purpose of
giving a true and fair veew

These financial statements are individual financial statements.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues have been disclosed
instead of twrnover as this reflects more meaningfully the
nature and results of the company’s activities. Met revenues
includes the net profit ansing from iransactions, with both third
parties and affilmtes, in securities, foreign exchange and other
financial mstruments, and fees and commissions. This s
inclusive of associated interest and dividends.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Measured
at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading or
despnated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at
fair value with realised and unrealised gains and losses as well
as assockted interest and dividend mcome and expenses
included 1n net revenues. Financial assets are marked to bid
prices and financial habalities are marked to offer pnces. Fair
value measurements do not include transaction costs.

Mon-denvative [inancial mstruments owned and  fnancial
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (i.e., cash instruments)
are recoprised wsing  settlement date  accounting,  See
“Firmneial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Recogration and
Derecognition”™ below for further detals. Unrealised gains and
losses related to the change in far value of these instruments
between trade date and settlement date are recognised within
et TEVEnues.

Investment Banking

Fees from financial advisory engagements and underwriting
revenues are recognised in profit and loss when the relevant
parties are contractually bound and as confract actvity
progresses unless the right to consideration does ned arise until
the occurrence of a critical event, in which ease revenue 15 not
recognised until that event has occurred.

Expenses associated with such engagements are deferred until
the related revenue is recognised or the engagement is
otherwise concluded. Expenses associated with financial
advisory engagements are recognised in administrative
expenses, net of client reimbursements, Underwriting revenues
are presented net of related expenses.

Investment Management

Management fees are recognised on an accrueal basis amd are
generally caleulated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed account’s average net asset valee. All management
fees are recognized over the period that the related service is
provided,

Incentive fees are calculated as a percentage of a fund’s retum
or a percentage of a fund's excess return above a specified
benchmark or other performance target. Incentive fees are
recognised only when all material contingencies have been
resobved.

58
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Commissions and Fees

Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and
clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures
markets, as well as OTC transactions 1s recopnised in net
revenies on the day the trade iz executed.

Operating Leases. The company las entered inte operating
lease arrangements as the lessee. Leased assels are not
recogrused on the balance sheet. Costs in respect of operatng
leases, adjusted for any incentives granted by the lessor, are
charged on a .-maigl'rt-lzinc basis over the lease term and
included within administrative expenses in the profit and loss
Acooun.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Short-term emplovee
benefits, such as wapes and salanes, are measured on an
undizcounted basziz and accrued as an expense over the period
in which the employee rencers the service 10 the company.
Provision 15 made for discretionary vear-end compensation
whether to be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past peactice, a constructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date.

Share-Based Payments. Group Ine. mssues awards in the
form of restricted stock units (RSUs) and steck options 1o the
company's employees for services rendered to the company.
Awards are classified as equity settled and bence the o of
share-based transactions with employees 15 measured based on
the grant-date fair value of the sward. Share-based awards that
do not require future service (e, vested awards, including
awards gramted 1o retirement ¢ligible emplovess) are expensed
immediately. Share-based awards that require future service
are amorized over the relevant service penod, Expected
forfeitures are included in determimng share-based employee
compensalion expense.

Group Ine. settles equity awards through the delivery of s
ordinary shares. Group Inc. pays cash dividend equivalents on
outstanding  RSUs. The company has also entered into a
chargeback agreement with Group Inc. under which it 1
committed 0 pav 1o Group Inc. the grant-date far value as
well as subsequent movements in fair value of these awards 1o
Giroup Inc. at the time of delivery to its employees.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Dividends. Final equity dividends are recogmised as a liabality
and deducted from equity m the period in which the dividends
are approved by the company’s shareholder. Interim eguity
dividends are recognised and deducted from equity when paid.

Pension Arrangements. The company is a sponsor of a
defined contribution pension plan, and was a sponsor of a
hybrid pension plan until March 31, 2016, for the benefit of
certain employees. The hybead pension plan had both & defined
benefit section (the Plan) and a defined contribution section.
These are accounted for as follows:

« For the defined comnibution pension plan and the defined
contribution  section of the hybnd pension plan, the
contributions payable for the vear are charged to operating
profit.  Differemces between contributions pavable for the
year and contributions sctually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments on the balance sheet,

+ For the Plan, the amounts charged to operating profit are the
CUITent SeTVICE COS1S, any past service costs and any gains or
losses on setilements and curtailments. These amounis are
included m ostafl costs. The net mnterest 15 ncluded in net
finance income. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised
immediately in other comprehensive meome. Plan asseis are
measured at fair value and Plan habilities are measured on an
actuarial basis using the projected unit method and
discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rafe of retum on
a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent currency amd
term to the Plan habalities, Full actuarml valuations are
obtained at least triennially and updated at each balance sheet
date. Any surplus or deficit of Plan assets over Flan liabilities
is recognised on the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or
liability (defieit).

54

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Fixed Assets.

Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and provision for impairment. Fixtures, fittings
and equipment are depreciated on a straighi-line basis over
their estimated useful lives, which is between 3 1o 7 vears.
Depreciation is included in admimistrative expenses.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorier of
the useful economic life of the asset or the remamnng life of the
lease when the asset is brought into use. Depreciation policies
are reviewed on an annual basis,

Intangible Fived Assets

Imangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amorisation and provisien for impairment. Subject 1o the
recograbion criteria i LAS 38 “Intangible Assets’ beng mel,
costs incurred during the wear that are directly attributable o
the development or improvement of new business application
software are capitalised as assets in the course of construction.
Assets in the course of construction are transferred to computer
software once completed and ready for their imended use,

Computer software = amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life, which is three vears. No amortisation is
charged on assets in the course of construction. Amonisition is
mcluded 1n administrative expenses and the amortisation
policies are reviewed on an anneal basis.

Inmtangible fixed assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or
assel group’s carryving value may not be fully recoverahle

Fixed Asset Investments

Fiooed asset investments are stated at cost or amortised cost, as
applicable, less provision for impaiment. Amertisation is
included in administrative expenses.

Cash at Bank and In Hand. Cash at bank and in hand is
highly liquid overnight deposits held i the ardinary course of
business

Foreign Currencies. The company's f(nancial stalements
are presemied in LS, doellars, which 1z also the company’s
fumetional eurrency.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated
e ULS, dollars a1 rates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction occurred. Monetary assets and habilities and non-
monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value,
denominated in foreign currencies are translated infe 105,
dellars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Foreipn exchange pains and losses are recogmised in operating
prafat
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Recognition and Derecognition

Mon<derivative financial instruments owned and fnancisl
instruments sold, but not vet purchased (i.e., cash instruments)
purchased or sold i regular way transaclions are recognised
and derecognised using settlement date accounting,

Crther financial assets and financial liabilities. are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. They are de-recopnised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or if the
company transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risk and rewards of ownership of that financial asset. A
financial hability 15 derecogmised only when 11 15 extinguished
(1Le., when the obligation specified in the contract 15 discharged
or cancelled or expires).

Classification and Measurement
The company classifies its financial assets and financial
liabalities mto the below catepornes. The clasafication, which 15
determined at initial recognition, depends on the purpose for
which they were acquired or originated

« Financial assets and financial liabilities classified
as held for trading. Financial assets and firancial
liabiliies classified as held for trading include firancial
instruments owned and financial mstruments sold, but not vet
purchased.  Financial instruments owned and  Onancial
instruments  sold, bui not yet purchased include cash
mstruments and derivative instruments. Both are motially
recognised at fair value with transaction costs expensed in
prafit or loss. Such financial instrumenis are camed in the
balance sheet a1 far value and all subsequent pains or losses
are recognised in net revenues.

The directors are of the opinion that it would not be
appropriate to classify them as current asset investments or to
provide an amalysis of such securities between those listed
and unlisted.
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« Financial assets and financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss. The company
designates certain of its other financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assels
and financial labilities designated ot fair value through prodit
or loss are mitially recogrised at fair value with fransaction
costs expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets are measured
in the balance sheet at fair value and all subsequent gains or
losses are recogrised in net revenues. Financial lisbilities are
measured in the balance sheet at far value, with changes in
fair value attributable 1o own credit spreads (debt valuation
adjpestiment or DVA)  being  recogmised  in other
comprehensve income, 1f 1t does not create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch, and the remaining changes in the fair
value being recopmsed n met  revemes.  See  “Mew
Aceounting Standards — IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’™
below for further information. The primary reasons for
designating such financial assets and financil labilities a1
farr value through profil or loss are:

» The group of himancial assets, financial labilities or both 1z
maniged and s perfomance evaluated on a fair value
basis; and

« To eliminate or sigrificanily reduce a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arse from
measuring assels of liabilities or recognising the gains and
kosses on them on different bases.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair
value threaugh profit or loss include:

« Hesale agreements and substantially all  repurchase
agreements;

« Securities borrowed and loaned within Fixed Income,
Cumrency and Commodities Client Execution;

« Substantially all secured debt secunties issued, which
mecludes certain hybrid financial mstruments and transfers
of assets sccounted for as inancings rather than sales,

« Certain unsecured debt securities ssued, including certain
hvbrid financial instruments,

« Certain intercompany unsccured bomowings included in
other creditors; and

« Certain debtors, including transfers of assets accounted for
as secured loans rather than purchases,

Hybrid fmancial instruments are instruments that contain
bifurcatable embedded denvatives If the company elects to
bifurcate the embedded dermvative from the associated debt,
the derivative is accounted for at fair value and the host
contract is accounted for at amortised cost, adjusted for the
effective portion of any fair value hedges. If the company
does not elect w0 bifurcate, the entire hybnd [inancial
instrument is designated at fair value through profit or loss.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

These financeal assets and financial labilities at far value are
generally valued based on discounted cash flow technigues,
which incorporste inputs with reasomble levels of price
transparency, and are generally classified as level 2 because
the inputs are observable. Valuation adjusiments may be
made for hquidity and for counterparty and G35 Group's
credit quality.

+ Loans and receivables; and financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost. Loans and recevables are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market, They
include certain collateralised agreements, substantially all
debtors and cash at bank and in hand. Such financial assets
are imtially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and
subsaquently measured at amortised cost wsing the effective
interest method (see below) Finance revenue 15 recorded in
el FeVEnues.

Financial habilities measured at amortised cost mnclude
cenain collateralised financings and the majority of other
creditors, Such fnancial labihities are initially recognised at
fair value plus transsctions costs and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective mnterest method (see
below). Finance costs, including discounts allowed on 1ssue,
are regorded 1n net revenues with the exceplion of inlerest on
long-term subordinated loans, which i= recorded in interest
payable and similar charges,

The effective interest method 15 a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or a
group of francial assets of financial labilties) amd of
allocating the interest income or mierest expense over the
relevant period The effective interest mte is the rate that
exactly discounts estimatesd future cash pavments or receipls
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrving amount of the financial asset or financial liabality
When caleulating the effective interest rate, the company
estimates cash fows considening all contractual terms of the
financial asset or financial lability but does not consider
future credit lesses. The calculation includes all fees and
points paid or received that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other
premiums of discounls

The company assesses its loans and receivables st each
balance sheet date for any ohjective evidence of impairment
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been mncurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the firancial asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated fuiwre cash llows discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective mterest rate. The
amount of the loss is included within net revenues, if trading
related, or in administrative expenses if non-trading related.

l
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Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equity
Fimancial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arangements. A
financial liability is any liability that i= a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or ancther financial asset to ancther entity; or i
exchange fnancial assets or financial liabilities with another
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable o the
entity. Am equity investment 1s any contract that evidences a
resiceal interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all
liabilies, Instruments are evaluated o determine il they
contain both hability and equity components. The mtal
carrving amount of a compound fimancial instrument is
allocated first 10 the lhability component, measured at far
value, and the equity 15 assigned the residual amount.

Offsefting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Fimancial assets and finencial labilnies are offset and the net
amount presented in the balance sheetl where there 1s:

« Currently a legally enforceable mght to set-off the recognised
amounts; and

= Intert to wettle on a net basis or 1o realise the asset and settle
the liability simaltanecsly .

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and
financial liabilities are presented on a gross basis on the
balance sheet.

Fair Value Measuremernt
See Note 24 for details about the fair value measurement of the
company’s financial assets and financial liahilities,

Hedge Accournting

The company applies hedge accounting for centain imerest rate
swaps used to manage the interest rale exposure of cerlain
fixed-rate unsecured long-term and short-term borrowings. To
qualify for hedge accounting, the dermvative hedge must be
highly effective at reducing the nsk from the exposure being
hedged. Additionally, the company must formally document
the hedging relationship at inceplion and test the hedging
relationship 10 ensure the denvative hedge continues to be
highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship.

Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. Collateralised agreements  include resale
agreements and securities borrowed, Collateralised financings
include repurchase agreements and secunties loaned. See
“Classification and Measurement”™ abave for details on the
classification and measurement of these instruments. Collateral
received or posted can be in the form of cash or secunties.
Cash collateral is recognised. /derecognised when received pasd.
Collateral posted by the company in the form of securities is
ned derecognised from the balance sheet, whilst collateral
received in the form of secunties is not recognised on the
balance sheet. I collateral received is subsequently sold, the
obligation to return the collateral and the cash received are
recognised on balance sheet.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Current and Deferred Taxation. The tax expense for the
pertod comprises current and deferred taxation Tax s
recognised in the profit and loss account, except 1o the extent it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively emacted al the balance sheet date in the countries
where the company operates and generates taxable income,
Dieferred tax is recogrised in respect of all temporany
differences that have originated, but not reversed at the balance
sheet date, where transactions or events have occurred at that
date that will result in an obligation to pay more 1ax or a right
1o pay bess ta in the Duture with the following exceptions:

» Diefierred tax assets are recogrised only to the extent that the
directors consider that it i more likely than not that there
will be sumtable taxable profits from which the future reversal
of the underlying temporary differences can be deducted,

+ Deferred 1ax is measured on an undiscourted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the penods i which
temporary differences reverse, based on fax rates and laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Dieferred tax is recognised in the profit and loss account of
directly in other comprehensive income according to where the
associated gain or loss, to which the deferred tax is attnibutable,
15 recognised.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, Provisions are recognised in the firancial statements
when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to seftle a present {legal or constructive) obligation,
which has anisen a5 a result of past events, and for which a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation
Legal obligations that may arise as a result of proposed new
laws are recognised as obligations only when the legislation is
virtually cerain to be enacted as drafied

A contingent ltability 15 a possible obligation that anses from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
CCCMTENGe of non-occirrence of one or more uneerain fulure
evenls not wholly within the control of the company or a
present obligation that anses from past events but s not
recognised because enher an outflow of economic benelits is
nat probable or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably
mesured,

A contingent asset 15 8 possible asset that arises from past
events and whose exastence will be confirmed only by the
ooeurrence of mon-ocowrrence of one or more uncertain future
events ned whally withan the ¢ontrol of the company.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets ame not recognised
in the financial statements. However, disclasure is made unleéss
the probability of settlement 1= remote.
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New Accounting Standards.

IFRS 8 ‘Financial Instruments’

In MNovember 2016, the EU endorsed IFRS % “Financial
Instruments’ (IFRS %), This standard provides requirements for
recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities
and some contracts (o buy or sell non-hinancial items, replacing
AR 39 ‘Fimancial  Instuments:  Recognition  and
Measurement”. This standard requires that changes i the fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to own credit spreads
(debt valuation adpstiment or DVA) are presented in other
comprehensive income, if it does nol create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch.

This standard 15 effective for the company in January 2018,
with early application being permitted either in s entirety or
only in relation 1o the presentation of DVA. The company has
early adopted only the requirements related 1o the presentation
of DVA effective from January 2016,
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HNote 3.

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

The preparation of francal stalemenls requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recogrised in these financial statements. The nature of
estimation means that actual owcomes could differ from those
estimates. The following judgements have had the most
significant effect on amcunts recognised in the fnancial
slatements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certan of the company’s Dnancial assets and  financial
liabalities include sigmilicant unobservable inputs (Le., level 3)
See Mote 24 for information about the carrying value, valuation
technigques and significant inpuis of these instruments,

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings

The company estimates and provides for potential losses that
may anse oul of litigatien and regulatory proceedings 1o the
extent that such losses are probable and can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgement is required m making these
estimates and the company’s final habalities may ultimately be
matenally different.

Defined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan liabilities are
determined using actusrial valuations, This involves making
assumiptions about discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension ncreases. Due 1o the
complexity of the valuation, such estimates are subject to
significant uncertainty.

63

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Note 4.
Segment Reporting

The company reports its activities in the following four
business segments: Investment Banking; Institutional Client
Services, Investing & Lending, and Investment Management.
See “Results of Operations — Segment Reporting”™ in Part [ of
this annual report for a description of the company’s sepments.

Basis of Presentation

In reporting segments, certain of the company’s business lines
have been mpgregated where they have similar econcmic
characteristics and are similar in each of the following areas:
(1) the nature of the services they provide; (u) their methods of
distribution; {n) the types of clhients they serve; and (W) the
regulatory envirenments in which they operate.

The cost drovers of the company taken as a whole,
compensation, headeount and levels of business activity, are
broadly similar in each of the company’s business sepments.
Drirect costs of emplovment in the company”’s segments reflect,
among other [aclors, the overall performance of the company
as well ss the performance of ndividual businesses.
Consequently, operating profit margins in one segment of the
company's business may be significantly affected by the
performance of the company”s other business sepments.

The company allocates assets (including allocations of GCLA
and cash, secured client financing and other assets), revenues
and expenses among the four business segments. Due to the
integrated nature of these sepments, estimates and judgements
are made in allocating certain assets, revenues and expenses.
The allocation process 8 based on the manner in which
marmgement currently views the performance of the segments,
Transactions between segments are based on specific eritenia or
approximate third-party rates. Total administrative expenses
includes charitable contributions and mark-to-market of share-
based compensation that have not been allocated to individual
business segrments.

In addition to transactions entered mto with third parties, the
company also enters into transactions with affilates in the
normial cowrse of business as part of market-making activities
and general operations. Revenues are allocated 1o, and received

from, such affilmtes for these transactions.

Mansgement believes that the information in the tables below
provides a reasonable representation of each segment's
contribution to met revenwes, operating profit and total assets,
Operating profit has only been preserted for the company's
sigmficant segments, which are Investment Banking and
Institwtional Client Services.
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The segment nformation presented m “Segment  Net

Revenues” and "Segment Operating Profit”™ below 15 prepared

according 1o the following methodologies

« Revenue and expenses directly associated with each segment
are included in determaning operating profit.

Met revenues in the company’s segments include allocations
of interest ineome and interest expense to specific seeurities
and cdher positions in relation o the cash generated by, or
funding requirements of, such underlyving positions with the
exception of interest on bong-term subordinated loans, which
15 presented in interest pavable and similar charges (see Note
&) MNet imterest 15 included in segment net revenues as it is
consistent with the way in which management assesses
segment performance

« Orverhead  expenses not  directly  allocable to specific
segments are allocated ratably based on direct segment
CXPENSES,

Segment Net Revenues

The table below presents the net revenues of the company’s

sepments.

Yiond Endid D inibad
5 in reilicng 26 2 &
Investment Banking
Feraricial Advisory $ 583 5 RSO
Underweiting srs 668
Total Investment Banking §1.138 51.279
Instituticnal Cllent Services
Fuoad lneaimss, Cumancy tnd Commadiies
| ClentEageution ] ne L
Eabes _____ )
Total Institutional Client Servdces 580 S 002
Investing & Lending 5 500 5 380
Inyestmant Managemant 3 xR 3 4TH
Tobal red rovenues .50 ST.0M6

Substantially  all interest meome and  inferest  expense
recognised within net revenues is atinbutable 1o Institutional
Client Services.
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Segment Operating Profit
The table below presents the operating profit of the company’s
significant segments,

Year Ended December
§ it malliaas 018 2015
Investment Barking
Hut revemnaes 51,15 51,170
AdmirrHratve sxpentes 2 12
Cparating prodic 5 4 5 467
Insstitutional Cliend Servces
Hat revaret 4,559 4.902
Adminsrats s s aea
Gperating profit $2,007 2250
Total fet evenes 56,545 57,018
“Total administrative expenses 4388 4077
Total operating profn 52,700 52838
I the table above:

« Total net revenues includes net revenues of $822 million and
3835 million for 2016 and 2015, respectively, related 1o
Investing & Lending and Investment Management.

« Todal administrative expenses  includes  administrative
expenses of 3542 million and 5579 million for 2016 and
2015, respectively, related to Investing & Lending and
Investment Manapement sepments, and certain overhead
expenses that have nol been allocated 1o the company’s
segments of 3513 million and 342 million for 2016 and
2015, respectively, representing mark-to-market of share-
based compensation and chantable contnbutions.

Segment Assets
Substantially all of the company’s assets are attributable 1o

Institwtional Client Services.
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Geographical Analysis

Due to the highly integrated nature of international financial
markets, the company manages i3 businesses based on the
profitability of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for
allocating Emnﬁtahlht_',' to geographic regions is dependent on
estimates and management judgement.

Geographic results are generally allocated as follows:

« Investment Banbing: location of the client, investment
banking team and underlyving risk.

+ Institutional Client Services: location of the market-making
desk and the primary market for the underlying security.

+ Investing & Lending: location of the investing and lending
Team.

« Investment  Management:  location  of the investment

maragement team.

The table below presents the total net revenues of the company
by geographic region allocated based on the methodology
referred to above.

Yaar Enced Dacamber
§ s ilions 016 5
Het revenues

Europe, Middls East and Africs .03 56 242
Americas o LoD
Asn ] BE 754
Total vl revenues 56,540 57.018

i
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MNote 5.
Administrative Expenses

The table below presents the company’s administrative

“Deprecition and amorisation
‘Orcupancy

Profenional e

Othes sapenied

Tetal non-compeniatian sxpentet

Total admin|sirative sopenses

In the table above:

« Oecupancy expenses include nel operating lease rentals for
land and buildings of 380 million and 381 million for 2016
and 20135, respectively.

« Professional fees include fees payable to the company’s
auditers for the auwdit of the company's annual financial
statements of 55 million for both 2016 and 2015, and fees
payable to the company’s auditor for other services of 51
million and 54 million for 2016 and 20135, respectively.

« Other expenses  include miscellanecus taxes, charitable
contributions, management fees charged by and to group
undertakings relating o operatwonal and  adnimstrative
suppost, and management services received from  and
provided to affiliates,
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Mote B,
Directors’ Emoluments

The table below presents the company’s  directors”
emoluments,

Year Ended Decemnber
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Mote 7.
Staff Costs

The table below presents the company's average monthly
number of staff (employees including directors, consultants
and temporary stalt),

§ in milfons 018 015 Awsrage for the
Agrwebewmilomeety W B Year Ended December
Company pensitn coamibutions to mensy Nembar T TR
purchase Sekeney - el Employess including directors
Total directors” emoluments 7 [ It Banking v 731
Inutiuticnal Clisnt Services 1,353 1,407
The table below presents emoluments for the highest paid Imvesting & Lending 159 16
director, Invesiment Management &M s
o T R
You Enched Docember I _ Brs @ &€R
£ in millons 2016 M & Conzultants and temporary staff Al a7
Aggregaty smsluments 53 B Tolal average number of stal [XE:) 6148
g Ty .
purchass schames - - The company has the use of the serviees of a number of

Azcrued annusl pention o end of year - -

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, directors’
emoluments  above represent the proportion of  todal
emcluments paid or pavable in respect of qualifving services
only. This total only mcludes the value of cash and benefits m
kind, and does not include the value of equity awards in
aceordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of 51 2008/410
Directors also recerve emoluments for non-qualifying services
which are not required to be disclosed

For persons who were directors for some or all of the vear,
three directors were members of a defined contribution scheme
and a defined benefit scheme, four directors, meluding the
highest pad director, have receved or are due 10 receve
Group Inc. shares in respect of long term incentive schemes
during the vear, and two directors, including the highest paid
director, have exercised options during the vear.

The aggregate emoluments of the eight non-sxeeutive directors
whe were members of the board of directors for all of pant of
the year ended December 2016 was approximately 31.1
million. Ceramn non-executive directors recewved or will
recenve additional enpoing fees in respect of advisary services
provided during the vear, the agpregate amount of which s
approcamately 31,3 million,

mdividuals who are emploved by afhhated entities and
seconded to the company. These scconded individuals are
included in the disclosure of headeount and related stafl costs.
Consultants and temporary stafl costs are included in total
direct costs of employment, below. Total headeount was 5,903
and 6458 as of December 2016 and December 2015,
respectively.

The table below presents employvment costs incumed by the
company, including those relating to direciors

Yaad Endad Disaambi

§ i mitecs e cois
Aggregate gross wages and salares 53,567 2454
Employer's Matonal ivsurance Contribetons Br.] 285

Pension costs, employer contributions 1o

Db eerteitntion plan and definnd eontribut
section of the hyteid pension plan L] 2

D brioted Bisnia i mﬂmﬂhh}hﬂpﬂnm ll'i.'i.“““"“‘.ﬂ.““““-““E-
Tailal direct costs of employment FX $2.834

In the table above, total direct costs of emplovment include a
charge of 3488 million for 2016 and a charge of 56 mllion for
2015, relating to  the mark-to-market of share-based
compensation.

Note 8.
Interest Payable and Similar Charges

Interest payable and similar charges compnses inierest on
long-term  subordineted loans from  paremt and  group
undertakings of $346 million and 3223 mllion for 2016 and
200 5, respectively. See Mote 18 for further details,
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Note 3.
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors a pension plan with a hybnd structure,
having both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
contribution section. The Flan provides retirement benefits on
the basis of members’ hinal salary, with a normal retirement
age of 65 for most members. The Plan is funded, with the
assets of the scheme held separately from those of the
company, N separate trustee-adm mistersd funds.

The Plan was closed to new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008, and was replaced by a defined contribution plan. As of
March 31, 2016, the Plan was ¢losed to future benefit accruals

fior existing participants.

The Plan operates under trust law and 15 mamaged and
admimstrated by the Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Plan
Trustee Limited (the Trustee) on behalf of the members in
accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and Rules and
relevant legislation. The Plan's assets are held by the trust

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was carmied out by a
qualified independent actuary as of July 31, 2016 using the
projected unit funding method and updated to December 31,
2016, As of December 2016, the Plan liabilities comprise 97%
in respect of deferred members and 3% in respect of current
beneficiaries.

Risks of the Plan
The main risks of the Plan are:

« Funding Shertfall, Additional contnbutions will be
required if the investment retums are not sufficient o pay for
benefits. The level of equity returms will be a key determinant
of overall investment retum; the mvestment portfolio 15 also
subject to a range of other nisks typical of the asset classes
held, in particular interest rate risk and inflation nsk on
bomds.

Asset Volatility. A consequence of the Flan's investment
strategy, with a significant propertion of the assets invested
in equities and other return-secking assets 15 that the
difference between Plan assets and Plan labilities may be
volatile.

Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan liabilities and the
currenl service cosl are sensitive o the assumptions made
about future inflation and life expectancy. It 15 also sensitive
to the discount rate, which depends on market vields on
sterling-denomimated A corporate bonds,
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Financial Assumptiens

The table below presents the significant financial assumptions
used to determine the present value of the defined benefit
obligation

% pav anoum il 2018
Dissgurt rate 2.59% I8
Rabe of increate in salaies a.00 4.00
T T T e T
Rabe of pricn ndation — CF| 745 240
Rabe of i in pensions in p nits

{post-Hovember 30, 1856 accnual) 125 a0
— e G

(post-Nevember 30, 19945 sccnual) 243 240
Fmbs of | in paniions in delfament N

(postApril 5, 2009 sccrual) 243 240
Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the mortality assumptions used to
determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation
The mortality assumptions adopted were the “31 series all
pensioner  light™ base table with allowance for future
improvenments from 2002 onwards in line with the CWI 2012
core projections with a lomg-lerm mate of improvement of 1%
[T LA

Year Endad December
Yivirs piill 2015
Life sxpectancy ot 55 for o mesmber currentty &5
..... e Nt
53
Ml 54 53
Females 4.9 268

Defined Benefit Cost

The table below presents the defined benefit cost related to the
Plan recognised in the company’s profit and less account and
in other comprehensive income.

Yiar Endad December

5 i s s 2015
Froft and |0%s account
Curant tarsicn sol £ 9 547
Curtalment gain - [}
bt fnance mowme —
Total charged (o B profil and 1683 seeoumt - 18
Ciher comprhendive income
Raturn on Man aseets graaber $an decownt rate ®11) [l
Achrarinl loss = Bnsncial assumptons 3L T
Total koss recognised bn olher

comprelnsing income hE 3
Tatal defined benel ol L] £18
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Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The table below presents a reconcilistion of Plan assets, Plan

liabalities and the net pension surplus,
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Sensitivity Analysis

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan
liabilines for each significamt actuarial assumption. The
sensitivities are based on a change in each assumption while

Plan Flam  Net Pension . .
. P Usbitos gk helding all other assum plions constant.
mﬁ:m - o §341 Tl'here are . inherent  limitations in _1h:'s amalysis, as such
e 2 W i idiosyncratic movements are unlikely to occur The
Curtaiment gain - - - methodology used to caleulate the sensitivities are consistent
Mt frnce income o % L) across the two penods presented i the able below.
Retum on Flan sssets greater
an Spccunt rete m = &1 Iinpact to Plan Linbiey
Mctuarial gain - Esbiity in i [ in it
oxperionce - = 1s 5 in mallions % 5 ins g %
Actusrisiion = nanciel A5 of Decomber 16
. ... B—. 0.25% change in
Emgioyer contributions 8 s et e ST (R4 5193 L
Barwadits puid - 0.25% change in price ' )
Foreign exchange gainiioss) {354y k) [N inflaticn 137 6.5 (4% 7.1
As of December 31 52,189 HZI0E 5 1 year change in lie
sapactancy 1 4.0 1) (.8}
Yaar Encied Disseenbar 2015
Az of January 1 BT migem ST &g of Dmcermbar 2015
Curment sendcs cost - 147 (47) 0.25% change in
Curtailment gain . 4 e e cumnl rabe FHIZH) (7.8 F 142 a0
e = o = Tt
Retur o Plan sasts greater infation 12 71 {105) (8.7}
_ Sendwotmte - # Ayarchangeinie
Aduarial gain — kabdigy sopaciancy 4 34 =2 (3.3
AN - 13 13
T Nature of Future Gash Flows

Forsign sschange gaindioss)

s of Decomber 31

Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Plan Trustees have a long-term asset allocatson strategy io
invest 5% of assets in retumn seeking investments (such as
equities) and 35% in habality matching assets (such as Galts)
The Plan has a hedging programme ivesting in swaps and
other derivatives in order to reduce the exposure to changes in
interest rates and inflation. The table below presents the fair
value of Plan asséts,

Cash -1I:.|':I.:rld'l squivalents
Othae
Total

it

Simce the Plan's closure 1o futare accrual from March 31, 2016,
the company has ceased 1o make regular contnbutions into the
Flan but will cominue to assess the funding requirements of the
Plan with the Trustees on a permodic basis,

On a nenmial basis, a formal funding valeation of the Plan 15
performed for the Trstess 1o assess the funding needs of the
Plan This valuation differs from the actuanal valuation
required for accounting purpeses due to the use of different
ST LIS,

The most recent funding valuation was performed by a
qualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2015, which
indicated that the Plan was in a funding deficit of £66.3 million
(582 million). As of December 31, 2016, the company has
agreed with the Trustees to contribute £73.3 mullion (590
millian) to the Plan, in two instalments by contributing £40.0
million (349 million) in January 2017 and £33.3 million (341
million) in January 2018, Had these contnbutions been made
priar o December 31, 2016, the net pension surplus recogrised
on the company s balance sheet would have been 5143 million

The company expects 36 million of benelits 1o be paid out of
the Plan to members in 2017

The weighted average duration of Plan habalities was 36 vears
a5 of December 2016,
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Note 10,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Inc. sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2013)
(2015 SIP), which provides for, amongst others, gramts of
RSUs and incentive stock options.

GEI recorded share-based compensation in respect of the
amortisation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
3497 million and 3630 million for 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The commesponding credit 1o equity has been transferred 1o
hahilities a= a result of the terms of the charpeback agreement
with Group Inc. under which the company is committed to pay
e Group Ine, the grant-date fair value as well as subsequent
moevenments in e value of those awards 1o Group Inc. at the
time of delivery to its employees.

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc. grants BSUs to G30's emplovees under the 2013
3IP, which are valued based on the closing price of the
underlying shares on the date of grant after taking into account
a lgqudity discount for any applicable post-vesting and
delivery transfer restrictions. RSUs generally vest and
underlving shares of comman stock deliver as outhined in the
applicable RSU agreements. Employee RSU  agreements
generally  provide that vesting i3 accelerated in cerlain
cireumstances, such as on retrement, death, disability and
conflicted employment. Debvery of the underlving shares of
common stock is conditioned on the grantees satisfying certain
vesting and other requirements ouwtlined in the award
agresments.

iy
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Stock Options

Stock options granted to employees generally vest as outlined
in the applicable stock option agreement In general, options
expire on the tenth anmversary of the grant date, although they
may be subject to earlier termimation or cancellation under
ceriain circumslances in accordance with the terms of the
applicable stock option agreement and The Goldman Sachs
Amended and Restated Stock Incemtive Plan in effect at the
time of grant,

The table below presents options outstanding. All cutstanding
options as of December 2016 were granted in 2007 and 2008

Weighted \Weighted

Avarage Fomrage

Options Exercize Remaining Life

Esxgecize Price Crtstanding Price {ymars)

For those options exercised during the wvear, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise was S194.04 and
S196.28 for 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Hote 11, Mate 12.
Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities Fixed Assets
The table below presents the company’s amalysis of tax on The table below presents the company”s [ixed assets.
ofit on ordinary activities.
P At of Dacamibae
Yoar Ended Decemt § i mallanz ] 2015

5 in milions Fol] s Toagitls Exademale __FM
Currend tax Intangibie kod assets Ak =
ik . s o T e o
e T T B R = Sl st aaaeis T =
“""'P"-‘m!_ e
Total curment tax 530 487 Tangible Fixed Assets

The table below presents the movements i tangble fived
Dieferred tax assets dusing the vear,
Ongination and ol of ismponsry diffe 46} 54
Efie<t of drcransedi &) UK. corp R

e re 2 05 Leasehold  fisings and

Adustmants in respact of price paricds - [RE] 5 i mlong Improvements AT Tiokal
Total deferred tax 3] 4 Cost
Total tax on profit on ordinary activities SET § 353 A of Jarusany 1 [v. £91 £

Addice 7 - w
In September 2016, a budget was enacted that will reduce the Dispornals - n i
UK. corporate iax rate by | percentage point effective Apnl 1, Az of Decembaer 31 52 i@ 3

20200 The company remeaswed its deferred tax asset
accordingly but this change did not have a matenial impact on
the company’s effective 1ax rate for the year ended December
20l6.

The table below presents a reconciliation between tax on profit
on ordinary activities and the amount caleulated by applying
the weighted average rate of UK. corporation tax applicable to
the company for the vear of 28.0% (201 5: 20025%) 1o the profit
en ordinary activities before tax.

Yo Ended Docambar

5 in rvilicns 216 20 5
Proft on ordinary sdivities befone taafion F1.843 EFL ]
Proft on ordinary sctivities muBiped by

LLE. corporate tax rate of 2000 (2015 20.25%) 544 530
Tagwhrglnmiremetd

delered tax pysels L] (L]
o B 2>
.i;ﬁ.’....‘.z rer o -

undertaiings for nil considermtion [Fi] {289

= &

Exchangs dfwencesandcther 03 &
Asfjustanty in reupact of pricd parnicdy (8 5
Efigct of chiet 2 ) LK, corporal

i raled 3 155
Total tax on profit on ordinary acovities 5 487 § 353

0

Accumulated depreciation

Intangible Fixed Assets
The table below presents the movements in intangible fixed
assels during the year.

Asmets in e

Compoier course of
& i millions sotwane sy chon Total
Cost
s of Jarasary 1 5= 5= 5 =
" Taamnn 5 .
Ag of Dacambar 31 M £ 108
Accumulated amortisation
A of Jarsary 1 - - -
Charge for the year (see Nobe 5] 3 - k]
Az of December 31 3 - 3
Het book valus
Ag af December 2018 E4 SR 105
3 of Ducammbar 2015 %= %= % -

From January 2016, the company has capitalised intermally
developed compater software. Prior to 2016, such costs were
capitalised in ancther group undertaking, with the associated
amortisation being recharged to the company.
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Fixed Asset Investments
The table below presents the movements in fixed asset
investments during the vear,
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Maote 13.

Financial Instruments Owned and Financial
Instruments Sold, But Not Yet Purchased

Cthr
SRERE A Eredamant, Fimancial mstruments owned and Onancial instruments sold,
) by othar than but not yet purchased compnse financial instruments and
f::lm sndatalings loany Towl investments within the operatimg activities of the company.
At of Janusry 1 . 5 5 Fmancial instruments owned includes financial instruments
s of Decemoe 31 - 1 1 owned pledged as collateral. See MNote 24 for further
""""" infarmation
Accummulaled degreciation
As of January 1 - = - The table below presents the company’s financial instruments
faofDecemoerds 000 = il - owned,
Hi Book walde As. of Dacamber
A5 of December 2016 5= # 1 % iy mllions 2018 2018
Az of Decembe 1015 5- §1 [l Cash Irsfruments
Money market instuments £ 21 5 454
The table below presents the subsidiaries over which the Gevsenmant and &gency obigations 18459 16654
company exercised control as of December 201 6: Morgape and oihe azsel-backed loans
and securitios 74 1,084
. = e
and e clictigebons L L 12000
propertion  Class of _Equiies and convedible detantaes w3 .38
Hame of Counfryof  ofvoing  shares Mumber  Masture of Comimiiling 0 L
party [ I d rights held held  business Total cash instrumsnis 1,46 688,937
Goldman Sachs
{Cayman) Cayman Oudinary Finarcial Derivative Insruments
Limited Islards 100%  shares 250 senvices raresiratey 0000000
lpopema BD Credt
Furshssz Curencies
IrdstyC Y Freastment Commodities L] 12,626
Zambnisty Peland 100% ' ' e Equiies 58,850 52.880
Total derivabive irestrumends &0, 500 8117

" This subaidisry undetaking is contralled other mes Swough voling sights
atsched to shares.

The company has interests in a number of special purpose
entities and capital guaranteed funds which do not meet the
defmition of a legal subsidiary, baa give nise o the risks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they were
legal subsidiaries. The activities of these special purpose
entities and the capital guarantesd funds consast of the issuance
of loan notes under the terms of a repackaging programme.
These special purposes entities and capital guaranteed funds
are consolidated in the financial statements of Group Inc

Total financial instraments ownsed 5516 084

The table below presents the company®s financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased

An of December
5 i rralong 2018 FE]
Cash Irstruments
_Gavaenmant and agency cblgalions % 10,099 5 7433

J:mmm.lnddl:l securies and
11“ —_—
L Ll .

Deerivative Instruments

Total derivative irsiruments SE8. 075
Total financia instrum-ents sold, but nof yet
purchased 12,011 $555,654
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Note 14,
Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents the company's  collaterahised
agreements.
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Mote 16.
Deferred Tax

The table below presents the components of the company's
defermred tax asset.

Az of December As of Decamber
5 in milfons 8 2015 § in millonz 2016
Resale agzeomants s120,005 511037 _Depreciation in excess of capkal alowances 3= 53
Secvnwsboramed mes  Gais  Posrewemeniteneds s
Total collateraised agreements S1E4,600 3163703 _Delerred compersation . L
Diwbt valustion adjustrment 48 -
In the table above: Totel cheSrmied ba o 5oea

+ Total collateralised agreements includes amounts due from
group undertakings of 3121.45 Wllion and $91.84 Wallion as
of December 2016 and December 201 5, respectively

« Total collateralsed apreements includes balances due in
maore than one vear of $433 million and 5187 billion as of

In the table above, deferred compensation is mainly in respect
of share-based compensation.

The table below presents changes in each component of the
company”'s deferred tax asset.

Drecember 2016 and December 2015, respectively. A3 of Dicamie
5 i ralliang 2016 2015
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
As of January 1 5 3 5 3
Note 15. Trm:hmﬂunﬂtmdiﬁsutmt m =
Debtors Asof December 31 5 - 5 3
Post-retirement benefits
The table below presents the company’s debtors balances. All PR £ (88}
debtors are due within one vear of the balance sheet date, “Transier bz the prodt and loss scecunt g
unless noted below. Tranihis b athie comprahinta incems AT 1
FeolDecembar st —s(m_ see
An of Decembar
5 i eilons S L] l:lﬂuwdmnpmnl:lm
A due from brok er'dealers and ] $57, 290 $53.047 Ag ol Janzery 1 M 5502
=3 Transier bo the profit and loss sccount _-'ﬂ 1£
As of December 31 5572 634
Dbt waluation adjusteiEnt
As of Janwary 1 5 - 5 -
“Transher o other comprehansie income o s -
Inthe table above: ReolDwemberst X
« Amounts due from broker/dealers and customers includes Tailal
balances due in more than one vear relating 1o secured Az of January 1 o0 M
lending and'or prepaid commedity contracts of 5276 million T"':“::':::: :‘]‘“'""""“‘" moecerd “ e
illi . = M5 -
ﬂndSBﬁ?mlllmasct'm'.mbcr 2016 and December 2015, e - [— = =
respectively. A% of December 31 S04 5568

» Toaal debtors include financial assets of S68.96 billion and
35987 hallion as of December 2016 ard December 2015,
respectively, and non-Onancal assets of 5736 milhon and
3614 million as of December 2016 and December 2015,
respectively,
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Hote 17, Mate 18,
Collateralised Financings Other Creditors
The table below presents the company's  collaterahised The table below presents the company’s other creditors.
financings.
A of Decmiba

As of Decermber 5 it el FLuld A5
3§ in milions 016 W15 Amounts falling duee within one year
Amounts falling dus within one year [Banklame L N
Repurchase agresments 5 B SI % maETa Creprdraty T e
e R bk e
Total 137,541 SB35

Amounts dus bo parent and group
Amounts falling due after more Ethin one year urchestakings = unsecured bonowings 18,822 7,188
Repunchase agresments 5 5,74 5 3502 Amounts dus ba perent and group
S unition aared E = dertukings — other craditon 287 1038
Total 5 6,233 § 3502 Agenanl b g 5"-”__ gk I
Total colateralsed Nanc s SW3,ETA SUBET P ——— P o
Corporation tax payable 200 i3

In the table above, total collateralised financings includes ' W =13
armownts due 1o group undenakings of $97.91 hillion and Dithee creeciters and aceruals Lo 1430
58267 billion as of December 2016 and December 2015, Toind $iner 18300

respectively, of which 39758 billion and $82.55 billion as of
December 2016 and December 2015, respectively, are due
within one year.

73

Amounts falling duse after more thian one year
Eank kaant 5 -

Longiem subardinated foans TR
15
L, & 16,892

""“W“Nﬁ"hﬂnlﬂmvmp S ——

urchestakings - other d creditoms 2T 244
.kgmﬂh 7 ...' papbe

1o pasent and greup wnderakings 7458 -
Other creditors 5 =
= ¥ 38,073 § 32.208
Ttal eeher cowilton STAB00F 3148088
In the table above:

» The accrual for management charges payvable 1o parent and
groap  umdertakings 15 in respect  of  share-based
compensation.

« Total amounts falling due within one year includes Dinancial
liabilities of 5110050 hillion and 511594 hillikon as of
December 2016 and December 2015, respectively, and non-
financial liabalities of 5434 million and 33064 million as of
December 2016 and December 2015, respectively.

= All amcunts falling due after more than one year are financial
liahilities as of December 20016 and December 2015
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Debt Securities Issued
The table below presents the company s debt securities issued,

Az of Decembaer
% in milions e 25
Amounts lalling duse within one year
Unserured debt secunties wih sfflistes £ 2,080 51,778

Unipzired debl securities with esternal

Sacured debt vecurities with saternal

SO Partien 1,515 1857
Total L) BELR
Amounts Falling due after nvore thar one year
Uniscurad dabt securitivs wih alflistes 5 838 5 &n
Unsecured debt ssounties with esternal

eourtaparteg B, 537
Fecured debt socurties with afilates T 1,148
e

courfsparties 1,000 O
Total $11,157 5 7,896
Tolal ebt securities ssued $23,078 521,748

In the table above, secured debl securities are secured by
securities which have been pledged as collateral. Thas pledged
collateral 15 either recoprised within “Financial instruments
owned” or sourced through collateralised agreements.

The table below presents the maturity of the company’s long-
term debt secunities issued.

A of Dacimbar
5 i milong 18 2015
Ol & yE BN D 00 hand yErE § 1,630 52,554
Ot e vty and up ba Bl pears 1,295 2,074
O vl yian 6,233 3,258
Total 11,157 47 808

Amounts due in more than five vears predominantly relate to
structured debt securities with mansities falling due between
2022 and 2056, Payments on these secunties are typically

referenced to  underlving [nancial  assets,  which  are
predominately interest rate and equities-related.

Long-Term Subordinated Loans

Long-term subordinated  loans  comprise  long-lerm

subordinated loans from parent and growp undertakings, which
are unsecured and carry inferest at a margin over the U5,
Federal Reserve's federal funds rate. The margin is reset on a
pertoclic basis o reflect changes in G3 Group’s weighted
average cost of debt. Long-term subordinated loans constitute
regulatory capital as approved by the FRA and are repayable
subject 0 PRA approval. Long-term subordinated loans of
58.70 hillion are repayable between December 14, 2021 and
April 28, 2025, Any repayment prior to these maturity dates
regquires PRA approval, Long-term subordinaed loans of 5255
million are repayable upon giving or receiving at least 3 years'
notice to or from the group undertaking and is subject to FRA
approval

EDINETOOOO
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Debt Valuation Adjustment

The fair value of debt securities 1ssued that are designated at
fair value through profit or loss are calculated by discounting
future cash flows at & rate which incorporates G35 Group's
credit spreads.  The net DVA on such financial liabalities 15 &
pre<tax loss of 3182 million for 20016 and has been included in
“Debt valuation adjuwstment”™ in other comprehensive income.

Intercompany Borrowings

Amounts due to parent and proup undenalangs falling due
after more than one year include loans that are repayable in
maore than five years, As of December 2016, the company had
a variable rate loan of 3211 millien with a maturity of June 13,
2026 and as of December 2013, the company had a vanable
rate loan of 5284 million with a maturity of October 22, 2063,

Mate 15
Share Capital

The table below presents the company”s share capital.

Ordinary shares
Allsited, called up and fully paid of §1 ench £ i milans
A of January 1, 2018 SE1, 064, 161 f=1 ]
As of December 31, 2018 1,064,181 s

Mote 20
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The table below presents the company’s cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash flows,

Az of Decemiber
£ in malliong 2018 2018
Luwshutbankandinbend swEmE .97
Orvardra®s (pee Mote 18) 17 L]
Taotal cash and cash equivalnts S16,881 50,570
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Mote 21,
Reconciliation of Cash Flows From
Operating Activities

The table below presents the company’s reconcilition of cash
flows from operating activities.
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MNote 22.
Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies
The table below presents the company’s commitments and
contingencies

Yur Enced December As of December

5 in milicas 18 Fl] § in millons 2018 20186
Proft on ordnary scthvities before taxation § 1,843 5 285 Contingent and forward stading rsale
Adusments for ard ppcuritins barrowing agresments 43,500 520,278
Degrecintion and arsrsiation Ferward stading ripurchate and 4

[soe Motes & and 12) 7 4 landing agresments 11,808 11,483
Charge ke defned benels pian {sea Note 8 - 18 Ot 1,093 4187
Forslgn eschangs losses v 433 Total FE T Sid 008G
Shars-bEssd COMDATIARON MEpars a0 w2
Provisiarn for Eabilities - 1 The company enters into resale and secunties borrowing
knserst paynble and sivilar charges (see Hobe ) e 5 agreements and repurchase and secured lending agreemenis
Gosh g d bafore changes in cpemting s - that settle at a future date, generally within three business days.

- I .
Changes in operafing assets

Discr ) i ind inst

b oramed

i, But rod 94 puichased 58,257 {86, T5)
- . s e d fnancings B8 121,784
Dicr bt 1 previsions e ablitiel = 07
Changes i it Bt 1,445 (124,677}
Contibuticns gaid to defned banad flan

{sue Hoke 8] i @37
Carsh gorerated from cparations 3 B7a% 5 L@

Cash generated from operations includes interest pard of 32.05
Billion and 52,16 billion for 2016 and 2015, respectively, and
interest received of $1.83 billion and $2.22 billion for 2016 and
2015, respectively.

75

The company also enters nle commitments to provide
contimgent financing 1o s clienls and counterparties through
resale apreements. The company's funding of these
commitments depends on the satisfaction of all contractual
conditions to the resale agreement and these commiiments can
expire unused.

Other commitments primarily relate to collateral commitments
and commitments 1o extend credit.

In addition, there are regisiered charges on the company’s
assets which have arisen in the ordinary course of business.

Leases

The company leases certain buildings under long-term lease
agreements. Under these lease apreements, which are subject 1o
rencgotiation at various intervals specified in the leases, the
company pays all insurance, maintenance and repairs of these
properties. The table below presents tofal future minmum
rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases for
each of the fellowing pericds.

Betwaaconeandbveyes m Ealil
Orver Bve yoars - 18
Taital 11 58

Total future minimum sublease payments expected to be
received under nen-cancellable subleases as of December 2016
and December 2015 were %46 million and $70 million,
respectively.
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Legal Proceadings

The company 15 iwolved in a number of judicial, regulatory
and arbitration proceedings (including those described below)
cOnCeming matters arising in connection with the conduct of
the company’s business, however it 15 not practicable to
reliably estimate an impact, if any, of these proceedings.

Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. GSI is among
the defendants named in putative antitrust class actions relating
te the trading of mnterest rate swaps, filed beginning in
Movember 2015 and consolidated m the U5, District Court for
the Southern Dhstrict of Mew York, The second consolidated
amended complaint Oled on December 9, 2016 penerally
alleges a conspiracy ameng the defendants since at least
Januwary 1, 2007 to preclede exchange trading of interest rate
swaps. The complaimt seeks declaratory and imunctive relief as
well as treble damages in an unspecified amount. Defendants
moved to dismiss on January 20, 2017,

(G31 15 among the defendants named in antitrust actions relating
to the trading of interest rate swaps filed in the 1.5 District
Court for the Scathern Dustniet of New York beginning in April
2016 by two operators of swap execution fcilities and certam
of their affiliates. These actions have been consolidated with
the class action deseribed above for pretrial proceedings. The
second consehdated amended complaint Gled on December 9,
2016 generally asserts claims under federal and state antitrust
laws and state common law in commection with an alleged
conspiracy among the defendants o preclude trading of interest
rate swaps on the plantffs® respective swap execulion
facilities and secks declaratory and injurctive relief as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount. Defendanits moved to
dismiss on January 20, 2017,

Commeodities-Related Litigation. G351 15 among  the
defendants named in putative class actions relating to trading
in platinum and palladium, filed beginning on Movember 25,
2014 and most recently amended an July 27, 2015, in the U5
District Court for the Scuthem Dhstrict of New York The
complaints generally allege that the defendants viclated Federal
antitrust laws and the Commodity Exchange Act in connection
with an alleged conspiracy 1o manipalate a benchmark for
physical platinum and palladium prices and seck declaratory
and injunctive relief as well as treble damages in an
unspecified amourt, On September 21, 2015, the defendants
moved 1o dismiss.

EDINETOOOO
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Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation. Group Inc. and certain of its affiliates, including
(G51, are subject to a number of other investigations and
reviews by, and in some cases have received subpoenas and
requests  for documents and  information  from,  various
governmental and  regulstory  bodies and  self-regulmory
orgam=ations and lihgation relating to vanous matters relatmg
to the (G5 Group’s businesses and operations, including:

« The 2008 financial crisis;

« The public offering process.

« Investment management and financial advisory services,

« Conflicts of interest;

« Tramnsactions ivolving government-related financings and
other matters, ncluding those related 10 1Malaysia

Development Berhad (IMDE), a sovereign wealth fund in
Malavsia,

The offering, auction, sales, trading and clearance of
corporate  and  government  securifies,  currencies,
commodities and other financial products and relaed sales
and other communications and activities, including
compliance with short sale rules, algorithmic, hagh-frequency
and quantitative trading, futures trading. options trading,
when-issued trading, transaction reporting, technology
systems and conirols, securities lending practices, irading and
clearance of credit derivative instruments and interest rate
swaps, commodities activities and metals storage, privale
placement practices, allocabions of and trading n secunfies,
and trading activities and communications in connection with
the establishment of benchmark rates, such as currency rates,

Coempliance with the UK, Bribery Act and the 115, Foregn
Corrupt Practices Act;

-

Hiring and compensation practices;

Systemn of risk management and controls; and

-

Insider trading, the potential miswse and dissemination of
material non-public nformation regarding corporate and
governmental developments and the effectiveness of insider
trading controls and information barriers,

In addiion, mvestigations, reviews and hiigation mvalving the
company's affiliastes and such affiliates” businesses and
operations, including vanous matters referred to above but alse
other matters, may have an impact on the company's
businesses and operations.
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Hote 23,

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Certain disclosures in relation to the company’s [inancial risk
management and capital management have been presented
alongside other risk mamagement and regulatory information in
Part | of this annual report and are dentified as audited, wheere
relevant.

Hote 24,
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the carrving value of the company’s
financial assets and financial liabilities by category.

In the table above, certain of the company's Intercompany
unsecured borrowings that have been desigrated at fair value
were previously disclosed as measured at amortised cost. As of
December 2015, 557 million of other creditors falling due
within one vear and $12.4% billion of other creditors falling
due alter more than one vear have been moved from amortised
cosl 10 designated a1 fair value to more approprately present
these balances. These financial instruments have been
presented i bevel 2 in the fair value hierarchy. See “Fair Value
of Financial Assets and Financial Labilities by Level™ below,

Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value of 2 fnancial instrument is the amount that
would be recenved to sell an asset or pard 1o transfer a Labaliny
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measwrement date. Financial assets are marked 10 bid prices
and financial labilities are marked to offer prices. Fair value
measurements do not include transaction costs, The company

T mﬁ::::m:mm measwres certain financial assets and financial liabilities a3 a
3 i ilans trmding e vilus ol Tokd p:'tiluliu (1.e., based on its net exposure to market and'or credit
TI5ESE).
[Feancial mstraments coned $R62043 8 - % = bie
Collatersized agrenmants = 1arn HEBE 184,600 UK. GAAP has a three-level fair value hierarchy for
:"‘“‘1 - ""t_! ::ﬁ ..... ::';f disclosure of fair value measurements. The fair value hicrarchy
esh a bank m:mmu ; i - - priontises mputs to the valuation technigues used o measure
fair value, giving the highest pricsity to level 1 inputs and the
&3 of Detembe 2015 lowest priority to level 3 inputs. A financial asset or financial
m::’“"“““‘“;d“ww ..... i uzm; ..... :m??;_s‘?:::; liability’s level in the fair value hierarchy s based on the
Mm" = - 1,388 T T lowest level of input that is sigrificant to its fair valuee
in h - - BATY BT méasurement.
Total francial amets SEIG06A 5134301 § 60,260 $549 505
Financist Liabiktios The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
P H:;: :l:f‘:ln:: Amo :w_“d ol Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
“his of December 2018 to which the company had sccess at the measurement date for
Asnounts faling dus within one year wentical, unrestnicted assets or labiliies.
Firancial instruments sold,
bunotystpuschaned  TH2ON 8 - 3 - #eaan Level 2. Inpuls 1o valuation techniques are ohservable, either
Catatarassed Smncngs S eaarwia o wren  eve S IPRS T q
Othar cradion = 13542 P6.055 110407 Irectly or mncirectly.
Total BI3811 108,988 195,168 L0480 ) . )
— Level 3. One of more inputs to valeation technigues are
Asnounts falling dus afler mone thin cne yrar significant and uncbservable.
(Colatersized fnancings - L ...}
Other crediors - 19487 ::m :ﬁ: The fair values for substantially all of the company™s financial
Tord - FEXTT I T . -
T T T T ) i:us and financial ]:abu]mesaLITi are fair 'n?llmsl onta rﬁm@
15 arc tﬂbﬂd an ub@.:rr C prices A InpLts Are
Ad of Despmier 2015 classified m levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hicrarchy. Certain
Asmainds Flling due wilhin afse year level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities may
m:l::t . ncka, sEEreEs - % P require appropriate valuation adjustments that a market
“Calteralised Msancings - 12813 43472 116,305 participant would require to amive at fair valee for factors such
Other eradhinrs = 14,781 101,655 115038 as counterparty and G3S Group's credit quality, funding risk,
Tas 556,064 BTASS 145137 TeT.05 transfer restrictions, ligquidity and bid'offer spreads. Valuation
Arnounts TG cue Ler fone AN o year adjustments are generally based on market evidence.
[= BrBnCngs - 3502 - 3_._@9_1:
Other credions - 15,528 12.370 12288
Total - 430 12370 35800
Total inancial labltins  SEGLEGE  G110834  §157467  SEA776
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Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs

Cash Instruments. Cash mstruments include government
and agency obligations, corporate loans and debd securities and
other debt obligations, equities and convertible debentures, and
other non-derivative financial instrumenis owned and financial
instruments sold, but not vel purchased. Valuation technigues
and sigmficant inputs for each level of the fur value hierarchy
include:

Level 1 Cash Instruments

Level 1 cash mstruments are valued using quoted prices for
identical unrestricted instruments in active markets. The
company delines active markets for equity instruments based
on the average daily rading volume both in absalute terms and
relative to the market capitalisation for the instrument. The
company defines active markets for debd instruments based on
both the average daily trading volume and the number of days
with trading activity.

Lavel 2 Cash Instruments

Level 2 cash instruments can be verified to quoted prices,
recent trading activity for identecal or simailar instruments,
broker or dealer quatations or allermalive pacing sowrces with
reasomable levels of price transparency. Consideration 1s given
to the nature of the quotations (e.g., mdicative or firm) and the
relationship of recent markel actvity 1o the pnces provided
from alternative pricing sources.

Valeation adjustments are typcally made to level 2 cash
instruments {1} if the cash mstrument 1= subject to transfer
restrictions and'or (1) for other premiums and liquidity
discounts that a market participant would require (o armive at
fair value. Valuation adjustments are generally based on
market evidence.

Level 3 Cash Instruments

Level 3 cash mnstruments have one or more significant
valuation inputs that are not observable. Absent evidence to the
comtrary, level 3 cash mstruments are mitally valued at
trarsaction price, which 15 conssdered to be the best initial
estimate of fair value, Subsequently, the company uses other
methodelogies o determine fair value, which vary based on the
type of mstrument. Valuation inputs and assumptions are
changed when comoborated by substantive  chservable
evidence, including values realised on sales of financial assets,

Vabuation techniques of level 3 cash instruments vary by
instrumient, but are generally based on discounted cash flow
techmiques. The valwtion techmigques and the nature of
significant inputs used to determine the fair values of each type
of level 3 cash instrument are described below,

EDINETOOOO
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« Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securities. Sigruficant inputs are generally  determined
based on relative value analyses and include:

» Market vields implied by transactions of similar or related
- Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumptions if a default ocours; and

« Timing of expected future cash flows (duration) which, in
cerlain  cases, may incorporate the impact of other
unchservable inputs (e.2., prepayment speeds).

Equities and Convertible Debentures. Egquities amd
convertible debentures include private equity investments.
Recent thard-party completed or pending transactions (e.g.,
merger proposals, tender offers. debd restructurings) are
considered to be the best evidence for any change in fair
value. When these are not available, the following valuation
methodologies are used, as appropriate:

-

« Industry multiples and public comparables;
+ Transactions in simalar instruments; and
« Discounted cash flow technigues

« Corporate Obligations and Other Cash Instruments.
Corporate obligations and other cash instruments consists of
corporate Joans and deb securities and cther delit obligations
and government and agency obbgations. Sigmificant mputs
are generally determined based on relatve value analyses,
which neorporate compansons both 1o poces of credit
default swaps that reference the same or similar underlying
instrument or entity and to other debt instruments for the
safne issuer for which observable prices of broker quotations
are available. Sigruficant mputs include:

« Market vields implied by transactions of similar or related
assels,

« Current levels and changes in market indices such as the
iTrasee, CDX and LCDX  (indices that track the
performance of corporate credit and loans, respectively);

« Current perfeemance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumplions if a default occurs, and

« Maturity and coupen profile of the instrument.
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Derivative Instruments. Denvatives may be traded on an
exchange (exchange-traded) or they may be privately
negotiated contracts, which are usually referred to as OTC
derivatives. Certain of the company’s OTC derivatives arne
cleared and settled through central clearing counterpariies
(OTC-cleared). while others are bilateral comtracts between
two counterparties (bilateral OTC).

The company”’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
denvative pricaing models (e g, discounted cash flow models,
comrelation models, and models that incorporate option pricing
methodologies, such as Monte Carlo simulations). Price
tramsparency of derivatives can penerally be characterised by
product tvpe, as descnbed below.

« Interest Rate. In peneral, the key inputs used to value
interest rate dernvatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated contracts, Interest rate swaps and options denominated
in the currencies of leading industnialised nations ane
characterised by high trading volumes and bght bidfoffer
spreads. Interest rate derivatives that reference indices, such
as an inflation index, or the shape of the vield curve (e.g.. 10-
year swap rate vs, Z-vear swap rate) are more complex, but
the key inputs are generally observable.

Credit. Price transparency for credit defaull swaps.
including both single names and baskets of credits, varies by
market and underlying reference entity or obligation. Credit
default swaps that reference indices, larpe corporates amd
major  sovereigns  generally  exhibit the most  price
transparency. For credit default swaps with other underliers,
price transparency varies based on credit rating, the cost of
bomowing the underlying reference ohligations, and the
availability of the underlying reference obligations for
delivery upon the default of the issuer. Credit default swaps
that reference loans, asset-backed secunities and emerging
market debt mstruments tend to have less price transparency
than those that reference corporate bonds, In addition, more
complex credit denvatives, such as those sensitive 1o the
correlation  between two or more underlying reference
obligations, generally have less price transparency.

Currency. Prices for cuency dervatives based on the
exchange rates of leading industrialised nations, including
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent. The
primary  difference between the price transparency of
developed and emerging market curmency derivatives is that
emerging markets tend 1o be observable for contracts with
shorler lenars.

T
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« Equity. Price transparency for equity denvatives vanes by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the comman
stock of corporates included m major equity indices exhabit
the most price transparency. Equity derivatives generally
have observable market prices, except for contracts with long
tenors of reference prices that differ significantly from
current market prices. More complex equaty dermvatives, such
as those sensitive to the correlation between two or more
individual stocks, generally have less price transparency,

Liquidity 15 essential to observability of all product types. 1

transaction volumes decline, previously transparent prices and
other inpauts may become unchservable, Conversely, even
highly structured products may at times have trading volumes
large enough to provide observability of prices and other
irputs,

Levef 1 Derivatives

Level | derivatives include shom-lerm comtracts for [uture
delivery of secunities when the underlying security 15 a level 1
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traded and ase valued at their quoted market price.

Level 2 Derivatives

Level 2 derwvatives include OTC denvatives for which all
significant valuation inpuls are commoborated by market
evidence and exchange-traded derivatives that are not actively
traded and'or that are valued wsing models that calibrate o
market-clearing levels of OTC denvatives. In evaluating the
significance of a valuation imput, the company considers,
among other factors, a portfolio’s net risk exposure to that
inp

The selection of a particular model to value a derivative
deperdds on the contractual terms of and specific nsks inherent
in the instrument, as well as the availabilny of pricing
mformation in the market. For dervatives that trade in bguid
markets, model selection does not  involve  significant
mamagement judgement because outputs of models can be
calibrated to market-clearing levels

Valuation models require a vanety of inputs, such as
contractual terms, market prices, yield curves, discount rates
(including those derived from imterest rates on collateral
recewved and posted as specified in credit suppost agreements

for collateralised denvatives), credit curves, measures of

volatility and correlations of such inputs. Significant inputs to
the valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified to market
transactions, broker or dealer guotations or other allernative
pricing sources with reascnahle levels of price transparency.
Consideration s given to the nature of the gquotations (eg.,
indicative or firm} and the relationship of recent market
activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.
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Level 3 Derfvatives

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which ubilise
cbzervable level 1 andior level 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs. Uncbservable imputs include
certain correlations as well as credit spreads and equity
volatility inpats.

Subsequent to the initial valuation of a level 3 derivative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 inputs to reflect
observable market changes and any resulting pains and losses
are recorded in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed when
commoborated by evidence such as similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services and/or broker or dealer quotations
or other empinical market data. In circumstances where the
company cannot venfy the model value by reference o market
trarsactions, i 15 possible that a different valuation model
could produce a matenally different estimate of fair value. See
below for further information about significant unchservable
inputs used in the valuation of level 3 derivatives,

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price
and the far value calcubated by imernal models, a gain or loss
15 recognised aller imtial recognition only to the extent that it
arises from a change in a factor (mcluding time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price,

Valuation Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are integral to determining the fair value
of derwvative portfolios and are used to adjust the mid-market
valushions produced by derivative prcmg models to the
appropriate exit price valuation These adjustments mcorporate
bid'offer spreads, the cost of lguidiny, credit valuation
adjustiments and funding valuation adjusiments, which account
for the credit and funding risk inherent i the wncollateralised
portion of derivative portfolios. The company also makes
funding valuation adjustmenis 1o collateralsed dervatives
where the terms of the agreement do not permit the company to
deliver or repledge collateral received. Market-based inputs are
generally used when calibraiing valuation adjusiments io
market-clearing levels.

In  addmion, for derivatives that  include  sigmificant
unobservable inputs, the company makes model or exit price
adjustments to account for the valuation uncertainty present in
the transaction,
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Qther Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Valuation techmiques and significant inputs of other financial
assets and Oinancial lisbilities include

« Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. The significant mputs to the valuation of resale
and repurchase agreements and securities borrowed and
Ioaned are funding spreads, the amount and timing of
expected future cash flows and interest rates

- Debtors. Deblors measured at fairr value are pnimanly
comprised of secured lending and prepaid commodity
contracts. The significant inputs 1o the valuation of such
receivables are commodity prices, interest rates, the amount
and timing of expected future cash flows and funding
spreads,

- Other Creditars. Other creditors primarnly comprise hybrid
financial mstruments and prepaid commodity contracts.

The sigmficant mputs to the valuation of secured other
creditors measured at fair value are the amount and tming of
expected future cash flows, interest rates, funding spreads,
the fair value of the collateral delivered by the company
(which iz determined wing the amount and timing of
expected future cash lows, market prices, markel vields and
recovery assumplions) and the frequency of additional
collateral calls

The sigrificant inputs to the valuation of unsecured other
creditors measured ot e valwe are the amount and timing of
expected future cash flows, mterest rates, the credit spreads
of G3 Group, as well as commodity prices in the case of
prepaid commodity comtracts. The inputs used to value the
embedded  derwvative component of hvbnd  financial
instruments are consistent with the inputs used to value the
company’s other derivative instruments.
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Fair Walue of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities by Level

The mables below present, by level within the far value
hierarchy, fimancial assets and financial liabilitties measured at

fair value ona recuring basis.

Financial Assets and Financial Lisbilites

EDINETOOOO
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Significant Uncbservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair
Value Measurements

Cash Instruments. As of December 2016 and December
2015, the company had level 3 cash mstrument assets of $1.04
ballion and $1.24 billion, respectively. Level 3 cash instrument
liabilies were nol material. The table below presents the
amourd of level 3 cash instruments assets, and ranges and

ot Fair Value a5 of December 2018 11 _
& in milions Level 1 Level2  Lewel 3 Total weighted averages of significant unobservable inputs used to
Elnare|d Apsels value the company’s level 3 cash instrument assets
Cath intinaments 3T 518633 $1,005 5 63,6
Diarivatvn inskrumants 4F 305,438 417 se9E
Instrumenis Asiets
Feranicial imstruments cwnad 43,775 B4, 088 5,132 662,043 a LH“; :.“h! .t Urak e :p:h
Colateraised agresments - 139,532 - 139,732 P——
G = s = iaE (Waigrted gus
T - 4 5 iy mllions Drcemnbir 216 Cwcember 2015
- - Mertgages and olfer assel-backed loarms and securlies
Financ|al Lisbiliies Laval 3 mraets ik L au'sd
Asmaurns Falling due within ane year Yod  OENIe MR TIN 3210 19T 5.0%)
_Cash inetraments _dREF & 5008 F 4 8N Rucovery rate J0% o 975% (7.5 hoia
Derratvn inskrumants M sELTT ZE4 SEG9TH Durastien (yeani) aEe 6.0 (7 07te 118055
Financial imstruments soid, Equities and convertible debentures
but not yet purchirsed AT SRT.EZ s B39 Livel 3 ssaais 99 152
Colteraived Srancings 0 - 98381 00 88 987
Other erachion S esst ame1 1asE Mubples MctoSAR{18Y OBt 1450 (240
Total a1 G044 5005 773,350 CHssgunt mabetyieid HA A e 130 (11.4%)
T ——— one year Corporate obligations and other cash insfruments.
Collataraiznd Buaneings - 8,253 - 8,273 Leveldgmams 0000 $500 L
“Other credion - 15,874 378 18,407 Yield O 0e T (B0%) 2% o 14.5% (6.2%)
Total = @igor 333 25,040 Recovery rite | DL0% o TO.0% WO 00 e TOAE (0.5%)
Total Teancial labaies SAT1T STe.0 T Duration {ysars) 1.9 00 15.7 (L4 180 5.8 (3
Het dedvabive Instruments 5 13  § 10,8 51,5393 5 12,634 In the table above:

Finaneial Avials and Rassdial Lisbiites
at Fair Valss a5 of Decembar 2018

_Sr:ll':rm Larwnd 1 Lared 2 Lirvasd 3 Todal
Einpncial Assels

Cehinttrements SaB18e S 1600 BmA § 6G8AT
Dbty o instrumants 14 544300 aE0 BB 1IT
Feranicial imstruments cwnaed 4B 212 561,801 6,041 616,054
Collataralived agreements - 133833 00 - 132843
[ - 1,368 = 1,368
Total Inarcial axiets 40717 06107 S5O0 5760,355
Financia Liabigies

Amounts falling due within one year
Cmhindrements SN.008 5 684§ 62§ 24084
Dhint b 8 | FYSEIL Pabs, M s TT 2 s E30,670

Feraacul wrilrumenty ol

531,861

10,802
088 615508

Amounts falling dus after more than one year

Collataatand teanings - s - 3se
Cthar credions = 17804 2124 19.008
Tetal - 21,308 2124 23,430
Total inancial iabiities $H.088 5838811 58,401 5866278
Pl g it in St 5 14§ 15023 52,138 5 18,147

In the table above, as of December 2015, level 2 other creditors
falling due withan one year and other creditors falling due after
more than one year have been increased by 387 million and
81248 billion, respectively. See “Financial Assets  and
Financeal Liabalities by Category™ above for further details,

» Ramges represent the 3igniﬁcant unobservable inputs that
were used in the valuation of each tvpe of cash instrument.

. "L\’:islrh:d averages are caleulated by weighting each input
by the relative Fair valuee of the cash instruments.

« The ranges and weighted averages of these inputs are not
representative of the appropriate  inputs o use when
caleulating the far value of any one cash instrument. For
example, the highest yvield for mongages and loans s
appropriate for valuing a specific loan but may not bhe
appropriste for valuing any other loan Accordingly, the
ranges of inpuls do not represent uncertaimy in, or possible
ranges of, fair value measurements of the company’s level 3
cash instruments.

Incresses i vield, discoumt rate or durstion used i the
valuation of the company’s level 3 cash instruments would
result ina lower fair value measurement, while increases in
recovery rate, basis or multiples would result in a higher fair
value measurement. Due 1o the distinctive mature of each of
the company”s level 3 cash insiruments, the interrelationship
of mputs 1= not necessanly uraform within each product type.

= BEquaties and convertible debentures include private equity

investments.
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« Dnscount rate/yvield was not signaficant 1o the valuation of
level 3 equities and convertible debentures as of December
2016, Recovery rate was not significant 1o the valuation of
morigages and other asset-backed loans and securities as of
December 2015,

« Mortgages and other asset-backed loans and securities and
corporate ah]lgatmn.q. and other cash instruments are valued
using discounted cash flows, and equities and convertible
debentures  are valued using markel comparables and
discounted cash Qows.

« The fwr value of any one instrument may be determined
using multiple valuation techniques. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together
1o determine fair value, Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these technigues.

Derivative Instruments. As of December 2016 and
December 2015, the company had met level 3 denvative
instruments of 3189 billion and $2.14 bilhon, respectively.
The table below presents the amount of net level 3 derivative
instruments, and ranges, averages and medins of sigmbicant
unobservable nputs used to value the company’s credit and
equitics derivative instruments, As of December 2016 and
December 2015, the company had net level 3 Onancial
instruments of 5(184) milhon and 5136 million, respectively,
relating to inferest rate, currencies and commodities denvatives
for which the range of sigmbicant wnobservable inputs has not
been disclosed as the amounts are not material.

Het Lewel 3 Derirative Instramiests and
Rangs of Sgnificant Linobsarmable nputs
(Aaragailedian) as of

5 in milions December 2018 Dwcember 2015
Credit 52,013 52278
Cormalation 5% to 919 (ESNAER) % o S [GEN AR
Cradtpreadsbpel Zio W3 (E100 110 862 (1744131}
Ulpliront credl ponts 0 to 88 (218} 0 i B (24520
Rocovery rates T b B (A
Exaittes 5(336) 5276}
Gorelation  (98)% to B7% (ZWMS%) (B6/% to B4 (ENMEN)
Wil alility 5% to BN [2IWSITIW] 140 be S (2EOLDENY
Inthe table above:

+ Met derivative assels are shown as posilive amounts and net
dervative Liabilities are shown as negative amounts.

» Ranges represent the significant wmobservable inputs that
were used mthe valuation of each tvpe of derivative,

« Averages represent the arithmetic average of the inputs and
are not weighted by the relative fair value or notional of the
respective financial instruments. An aversee greater than the
median indicates that the majonity of inputs are below the

average.
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« The ranges, averages and medians of these mputs are mot
representative of the appropriate inputs to use when
caleulating the fair value of any one dervative. For example,
the highest correlation for credit denvatives is appropriate for
valuing a specific credit derivative but may not be
appropriate  for valuing any  other credit  dervative.
Accordingly, the rmanges of nputs do nol represent
uncertamnty in, or possible ranges of, fair value measurements

of the company™s level 3 derivatives,

« Credit dervatives are valued using option pricing, correlation
and discounted cash flow models, and equities derivatives are
valued using option pricing models.

« The fair value of any one instrument may be determined
wing muluple valuation techniques. For example, oplion
pricing models and discounted cash flows models are
typically used together to determine fair value. Therefore, the
level 3 balance encompasses both of these technigques.

« Comrelation within - equities  mcludes  oross-product

correlation.

Range of Significant Unobservable inpuits

The following 15 information about the ranges of significant

uncbservable inpuls wed to value the company's level 3

derivative instruments:

« Comrelation. Ranges [or comelalion cover a vanely of
underliers both within one market (eg, equity index and
equity single stock names) and across markets (eg.,
correlation of an equity mdex and a foreign exchange rate),
as well as across regions.

« Volatility. Ranges for volatility cover numercus underhiers
across 4 variety of markets, maturities and strike prices. For
example, volatlity of equity indices is generally lower than
velatility of single stocks.

« Credit spreads, upfront credit peints and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credit poinis

and recovery rates cover a varely of underliers (index amd
single names), regions, sectors, maturities and credit qualities
(high-vield and inwestment-grade). The broad range of this
population gives nise to the width of the ranges of significant
unobservable mputs.
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Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inpuis

The following is a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company's level 3 fair value measurements to changes in
significant unobservable inputs, in isolation:

« Correlation. In general. for contracts where the holder
benefits from the consistent directional performance of the
underlying assel of index prices {eg. interest rates, credit
spreads, foreign exchange mates, inflation rates and equity
prices), an increase in comelation results inoa hugher fair
value measurement.

« Volatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase in
volatility results in a higher fair value measurement.

« Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
ratés. In general, the far value of purchased credit
protection increases as cradit spreads or upfront credat points
increase of recovery rates decrease. Credit spreads, upfront
credit poinis and recovery rates are strongly related to
distinctive risk  factors of the underlvimg reference
obhgations. These include reference entity-specific factors
such as leverage, volatility and industry; market-based risk
factors, such as borrowing costs or liquidity of the underlying
reference obligation, and macroeconomie conditions,

Due to the distinctive nature of each of the company’s level 3
denvatives, the mterelationship of inputs 15 not necessarily
uniform within each product type.

B3

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Qther Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.
Significant unobservable inputs of other financial assets and
financial liabilities include

« Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings. Az of both December 2016 and December
2015, the company had no level 3 resale agreements,
securitics bommowed or  securities loaned. As of both
December 2016 and December 2015, the company’s level 3
repurchase agreements were nol material.

Debtors. As of both December 20016 and December 2015,
the company’s level 3 deblors were rul.

Other Creditors. As of both December 2016 and
December 2015, the significant unobservable inpuls used 1o
value the company’s secured level 3 other creditors have
been incorporated m the company’s cash  instruments
disclosures related to unobservable inputs, within corporate
obligations and other cash mstruments. See “Cash
Instruments™ above.

-

As of both December 2016 and December 201 5, substantially
all of the company’s unsecured level 3 other creditors are
hybrid financial instruments. As the significant unobservable
inputs used 1o value hybrid financial instruments primanly
relate to the embedded denvative component of these
borrowings, these inputs are incorporated in the company's
denvative disclosures related to unobservable inputs. See
“Derivative Instruments™ above.

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During 2016 and 2015, there were no significant transfers
between level | and level 2 financial assets and financial
liabilites measured at fair value on a recurning basis.

308/343

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Level 3 Rolforward

The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair
value for all level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value on a recurming basis. Gains and losses
arising on level 3 assets are recognised within net revenues in

the profit and less account. In the table below

« If a fimancial asset or financial liability was transferred to
level 3 during a reporiing period. iis entire gain or loss for the
period is included in level 3. For level 3 financial assels,
incTeases are shown as positiv e amounts, while decreases are
shown as negative amounts. For level 3 financial labilities,
incTeases are shown as negative amounts, while decreases ane
shown as positive amouns,

Transfers between levels are recogrisad at the bepinning of
the reporting period in which they occur. Accordingly, the
tables do not include gains or losses for level 3 financial
assels and fnancial labilities that were transferred out of
level 3 prior to the end of the peniod.

Level 3 financial assets and financial lishilities are frequently
econamically hedged with level | and level 2 financial assets
and financial labilities. Accordingly, level 3 gains or losses
that are reported in the table below for a particular class of
financial asset or fnancial hability can be partially offset by
gains or losses atinbutable to level 1 or level 2 in the same
class of financial asset or financial liability or gains o losses
anributable o level 1, level 2 or level 3 in a different class of
financial asset or financial hability, As a result, gains or
losses included in the level 3 rollforward below do not
necessarily represent the overall mpacl on the company™s
results of operations, hquidity or capital resources.

Yem Ended Decenber

5 in milions 18 2015
Tobal Tnancial assets

Beginning balance: % 6,081 sT.7E
Gainsilass) 1,082 55
Fales 1351 (401}
Trarnfers into level 3 541 o
Trarafers et of el 3 Nt 2213
“Ending balance 55,152 SE041
Total fnancial labaiies

Beginning balance: S8, 422)
Gainuilosssa) 28
Purchases )
oo o
Trarshers into level 3 7
Trarnbers ol of bevel 3 760
Ending balance TB.A01)

54
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The table below disaggregates, by the balance sheet line items,
the information for financial labilitees meluded in the
summary table above, The information for financial assets
included m the summary table above has not been
disaggregated as it solely relates to “Financial instruments
owned”,

5 i mallang
Financial instruments solid, but not yet purchased
Eagirning balance

Tran gkt st bsl 3

Transhers out of level 3

Ending balance

Collateralised Nnancings

Begrang balasce 5y 5 124y
Gain sf{losses) 1% [r]
Setthements 11 55
Ending balance § 166 EIET

Transfers out of level 3

Ending balnce

Transfers Between Level 2 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Year Ended December 2016, Transfers into level 3
primarily reflected transfers of certain credit denvatives from
level 2, prncipally due 10 unebservable eredit spread and vield
inputs  becoming  significant to the valuation of these
mnstrumenits and the transfers of certain equity dernvatives from
level 2, prncipally due to unobservable volatility and
correlation inputs becoming significant to the valwation of
these denvatives

Transfers out of level 3 primarily reflected transfers of certain
credit derivatives to level 2, principally due to unobservable
credit spread inputs no longer being sigmficant 1o the net nisk
of certain portfolos, transfer of certain equity denvatives to
level 2, principally due to unchservable wvolatility and
correlation inpuls no longer being sagnificant to the net nisk of
certan  portfolios and  transfer of certain  interest rate
derivatives to level 2, due to unchservable long dated interest
rate bases becoming observable,
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Year Ended December 2015, Transfers nto level 3
primarily reflected transfers of certain credit dervatives from
level 2, principally due to unchservable credit spread inputs
becoming significant to the valuation of these instruments and
the transfers of certain equity derivatives from level 2,
principally due to uncbservable volatility and correlation
inputs  becoming spmificamt o the valuation of these
denvatives.

Transfers out of level 3 primanly reflected transfers of certain
credit denvatives to level 2, principally due to unchservable
credit spread mputs no longer being ﬂ.ignlﬁmﬁt 1o the met risk
of certain portfolios,

Fair Value Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Valued Using Techniques That Incorporate
Unobservable Inputs

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities may
be determined in whole or pant using a valuation technigus
based on assumptions thal are not supported by prices from
observable current market transactions in the same mstrument
or based on available observable market data and changing
these assumplions will change the resultant estimate of far
value. The potential mmpact of using reasonable possible
alternative assumptions for the valuations, including significant
unobservable mputs, has been quantified as of December 2016
and December 2015, as approximately 3220 million and 5261
million, respectively, for favourable changes, and 3294 million
and $238 million, respectively, for unfavousable changes. In
determining  reasomably  possible  altermative  unfavourable
assumptions, & detailed business and position level review has
been performed to wlentify and quantifly inslances where
potential uncertainty exists. This has taken into account the
positions” fair value as compared to the range of available
market information.

The table below presents the amounts not recognised in the
profit and loss account relating to the difference between the
fair value of fnancial instrumends held for trading at initial
recognition (the transaction price) and the amounts determined
at imitial recognition using the valuation techniques (day 1
P&L).

5 i prwlhons 18 ]
A of January 1 138 G
- L s =
........... Eactior i o e ey e
during the peiod (3 #)
A% of December 31 5148 ]

S
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

Az of December 2016 and December 20015, the company had
$129.28 billion and $99.25 billion, respectively, of current
financial assets and S138.17 killion and 514513 hellion,
respectively, of current financial habilities thal are not
measured at far value. Given the shon-term nature of these
instruments, their carrying amownts in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

As of December 2016 and December 2015, the company had
S18.67 billion and $12.37 billion, respectively, of financal
liabilites that are due afier more than one vear that are nol
measured a1 fair value which predominantly relate to long-term
intercompany  borrowings. The interest rates of these
berrawings are varishle in mature and approsamate prevailing
market nterest rates for mstruments with similar terms and
characteristics, As such, their carrying amounts in the balance
sheet are a reasonable approximation of fair value,

Items of Income, Expense, Gains or Losses

The table below presents the tems of income, expense, gains
of losses related 1o the company’s financial assets and Grancial
liabilites that are presented within net revenues.

Yead Ended Desermbie

5 in mallong plaL] 2015
Hon=interest income 58,477 26,778
Interest nesme

Inderest incoma from exdemal counberpartes 1,521 1,804
Intareit income fram parent and group underiakings ea7 235
Total interest income LiE 058
Interest expense

Irdaraet dap o extaes i partas 1,018 1,050
Inferest gupserrse Fom parent and group undertakings 1,040 E
Tetal Itiresl expaiie 205 1801
Wit interest Income T2 FE]
Tetal nat révenes 58,549 37.018
In the table above:

« Mon-mterest income includes commissions and fees income
of 5619 million and %532 million for 2016 and 2015,
respectively. This is recognised in Instinutional Cliemt
Services and Investment Management.

« Mon-mterest imcome ncludes net losses of 5495 million for
2016 and net gans of 5625 milhen for 2015, i relation to
the company’s financial assets and financial liahilities
designated at fair value through profit or less, This is
recognised in [nstitutional Chient Services. The remaining net
revenues within Instiutional Client Services predommately
relate to net gains from financial assets and financial
liahilities held for trading
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Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The table below presents the cash flows of the company's The fair values of financial lmbilibes held for trading and
financial labilities by contractual maturity including mterest financial liabilities desagnated at fair value through profit and
that will accrue, except for financial instruments sold, but not loss have been disclosed as this 15 consistent with the values
vet purchased Financial mstruments sold but not vet used mn the bgudity risk mamagement of these instruments.
purchased are classified as wading'on demand  Fimancial Liquidity risk on derivatives is mitigated through master
liabalities, with the exception of those that are held for trading netting agreements and cash collateral armangements.

or designated at fair value through profit and loss, are disclosed

at their undiscounted cash flows
Financial Linkili
Mara than Mo thas Mahe than
o month  thies manths o ybar
Lass but lass bat e st brin Graabe
Trading thbn G0 i Siee than s than e thanm fve

§ in milions on demand manth ranthe waar PRI YRArE Total
Asnourds faling due within one year

Firmncial imstruments sold, but not yel purchased S8aen £ - H - 5 = £ - % - £813.91
Collataraised Eaancings 25,050 2TATH 13,150 11,201 - - 137,541
Total 787,203 20,602 14,47 3,167 - - 862,219
Amourds alling due after more than ohe year

Coilatpralized Snancings - - - - 6,158 EE] [ B ]
. ey ; Ty T Y T
Total - 2 7 = 35,588 11,328 a8, 952
Total - on-bal ance-sheet TE7. 200 0,604 18,254 184 35,508 1,728 508,171
Contngent and frward wtating risale and securities

Bafréwing agraamenli 14 42361 - 4 - - 41,500

mmm ............ ———————e e
e T T
Total — off-bal ande-sheel 4,837 42,268 14 555 229 - L]
Total Tinancial liabaies STRE0 FTET2 $4, g .70 35,817 11,338 957,074
Ay of Decomber 2018

Arnounts alling dus within one year

Ferancial ivstruments sold, but not yet purchased BEAL Bl £ - 5 - £ - £ - 5 - SE5E Bad
Collateralived Snancings B0.088 41,800 3378 11,021 - - 16,355
Dithar cracdion BE.050 2267 E58 37387 - - 118,372
Total 70,780 44,167 4,056 238, 33 - - TBE 411
Amaounts falling due after more than one year

Colaberaiaed Brancings - - - - 3413 BS 3,802
e et T . : o TR GE a
Tetal - 1 ] 19 24524 12680 a0
Total —on-balange-thieel 7.7 44,168 4,072 25407 454 12,600 25 641

Consagent and forward siaring resals and securities

I - mae - - [ S
.......... L L L. L
Total - of-balance-shost 4137 020 8 72 347 5
Total fnancial labities $705, 527 $T3452 5 4,008 130,478 S248T1 12685 850,512
k6
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives financial instruments (e.g., government
and agency obligations, corporate debt securities, equities and
comvertible debentures) as collateral, primarily in connection
with resale agreements, securities bomrowed, denvative
trarsactions and customer margin loans. The company obtains
cash and securities as collmeral on an upfront or contingent
basiz for dervative mstruments and collateralised agreements
to reduce its credit exposure to individual counterparties,

In many cascs, the company is permitted to deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collateral when entering imo
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements,
primarily in conmection with secured chent financing activity.
The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledge these
financial instruments  in connaction with other  secured
financings, collateralising dervative transactions and meeting
company or customer setilement requirements,

The company also pledges certain fnancial mstruments owned
in conmection with repurchase agreements, securities lending
agreements and other secured fimancings to counterparties who
may of may el have the right to deliver or repledge.

The table below presemts financial instruments received as
collateral that were available 1o be delivered. or repledged and
were delivered or repledged by the company.

Ak o Dichribir
§ in eilicns 8 015
Coilataral available to be delivered or repledged S420,31 5378, 564
[ that was or 1oy d 367,704 307,785

The table below presents mformation about assels pledped.

As of December
5 A vl HAE 2015
Francial meruments cwned pledged 1o courterpatias that
Had the right ba delver o replecige s20,110 S22.038
Déd niok hew the right be delbvsr or repladge 583 20,148

The company has received cash collateral in respect of
financial instruments owned of 36094 billion and $57.64
billion as of December 2016 and December 2015, respectively,
and posted cash collateral in respect of financial instruments
sald, but mot vet purchased of $47.37 billion and $38.71 billion
as of December 2016 and December 2015, respectively.
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In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lending
transactions, the company funds certain assets through the use
of other secured fimancings and pledges financial instruments
as collateral n these transactions. These other secured
financings consist of labilities related (o special purpose
entities, transfers of fnancial assets that are accounted for as
financings rather than sales and other structured Onancing
arrangements. Other secured financings include arrangements
that are non-recourse

Hedge Accounting

The company designates certain interest rate swaps as fair
value hedges. These interest rate swaps hedge changes in fair
value attnbutable 1o the relevant benchmark imerest rate {e.g.,
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR]) effectively
converting [ixed rate obligations imo Moating rate obligations.

The company applies a statistical method that utilises
regression analysis when assessing the effectivencas of its fair
value hedging relationshaps in schieving offseting changes n
the fair values of the hedging instrument and the nsk beng
hedged {(1e, interest rate nsk) An interest rate swap 15
consulered highly effective in offsetting changes m fair value
attnbutable 1o changes 1 the hedged nsk when the regression
analysis results in a coefficient of determination of $0%% or
greater and a slope between 30% and 125%,

For qualifying fair value hedges, gains or losses on derivatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged item atnbutable o
the hedged nsk are included i net revenues. When a denvative
is no longer designated as a hedge, any remaining difference
between the carrving value and par value of the hedged item is
amortised over the remaining life of the hedged item using the
effective interest method

The table below presents the gains/{losses) from imerest rate
derivatives accounted for as hedges, the related hedged
borrowings and the hedge ineffectivensess on these derivatives.

Year Ended Decerber
3 in s FLIL] 016
Irdturest rat hacges 57 B3
Hudge Burrawings in 18
Hedge IneMechventss - 3 @

The table below presents the fair value of asset and liability
derivative instruments designated as hedges

As of DecemBer X018 As of Decambar 2015
Dherivative: Derivative Der paim Dwriatioe
5 it realiong Assets Liabilties Assats Lin bilithss
Tetal [IFL] [F2] 3150 o
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Unconsolidated Structured Entities

The company has interests in structured entities that 1t does not
comtrol (uncorsolidated structured entities), which primarily
includes: semior and subordmated debt m residential and
commercial  morigage-backed and other asset-backed
securitisation  entities,  collateralised debt obligations and
collateralised loan obligations; denvatives and guarantees,

Structured entities generally finance the purchase of assets by
issuing debt securities that are enther collateralised by or
indexed to the assets held by the structured entity. The debt
securities issued by a structured entity may include tranches of
varving bevels of subordimation. The company’s invalvement
with structured entities primanly includes securitisation of
financial assets.

In certin instances, the company provides puarantees,
including denvative guarantecs, to unconsclidated structured
entities or holders of interests in unconsolidated stroctured
entities.

The table below presents a summary of the unconsolidated
structured entities in which the company holds imerests. The
company’s maximum exposure to loss 15 mainly a result of
derivatives, commitments and guarantees, for which the
maximum exposure o loss 15 the notional amount, which does
nol represent anticipated losses and also has not been reduced
by unrealised losses already recorded As a result, the
maximum exposure 1o loss exceeds habilities recorded for
denvatives, commitments and guarantees, provided to
unconsolidated structured entities,

As of December
£ in milions 218 2015
Asety in dnacturid entities 512 13,301
Cafrying vakse af istenedis - sasth 511 975
Cairying vake af edeedis - Bablites (=301 {3
Mol ) o kg bo bk 4,523 4596

The carrying values of the company’s interests are included m
the balance sheet n “Financial instruments owned™ of
“Firaneial instruments sold, bat not yet purchased”,

B
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Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. Dunng the
vear, the company transferred certain financial assets where the
transfers failed to mecet the derecognition criteria, as contained
i IAS 39 ‘Financial Irstruments: Recogmition and
Measurement”, and as a result of which the company continues
to recognise thess assets in full on the balance sheet.

The company transfers assels owned to counterparties in the
ordinary  course of business to collateralse  repurchase
agrecments and other secunties lending transactions.  In these
transactions the transferred assets continue to be recognised by
the company for accounting purposes because the transactions
requare the financial instruments 1o be repurchased at maturty
of the agreement and the company remains exposed to the
price, credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When
the company receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the
assel, a financial liability 15 recognised in respect of the
consideration received and recorded within “Collateralised
financings”. When the company receives non cash collateral
(i the form of secunties) no lability 15 inally recognised. If
collateral received 13 subsequently sold, the obligation (o retum
the collateral 15 recogmised as a hability within “Financial
instruments sold, but not yet purchased™.

In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lendmg
agrecments, the company obtains funding through the we of
other amangements that fail to meet the derecognition criteria,
For exaniple, sales of secunties with related derivatives, such
a5 total retum swaps, through which the company retains
substantially all of the risk and reward of the transferred assets,
A [mancial hability s recopnised in such cases for the
procesds received.

Oiher financial assets transferred that continue o be recogmsad
on balance sheet for accounting purposes relate 1o pledges of
securities as collateral, primarily for derivative transactions.
The obhgations wunder such derivatives are recorded in
“Financial instruments seld, but not yei purchased”.

The table below presents financial assets which have been
transferred but which remain on balance sheet for accounting
purpeses. The carrying amount of the asscomted financial
liabilities generally approximate the camying amount of the
assels transferred

Ais of Decembar

5 i malliong 2016 HHE
Woniy market nstumeets 5 - 5 o
‘Geovernmant and agency cbligations 14B03 10036
e —

chiver bt obligations 4,254 5300
Equities and convestible debenbures 21,618 625
Teaital 41,673 42 102
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Derecognised Assets With Ongeoing Exposure. The
company has continuing involvement in the form of denvative
trarsactions and guarantees with certain  unconsolidated
structured entities to which the company had transferred
financial assets. These derivatives may be credit-linked 1o the
assel transferred and resull in the company retaining specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company to make
pavments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the
asset if certain contingent events occur

In addition, the company transters financial assets to
securitisation vehicles. The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets bul may have continting
invalyement with the transferred assets, including ownershap of
beneficial interests in the securitisation. The company may also
purchase semor of subordinated secunities  ssued by
securitisation vehicles in conmection with secondary market -
making activities.

Where the company's continuing invelvement in translerred
assets 15 through dervatives or guarantees, the maximum
exposure 1o loss s the notional amounts of the derivative or
puarantée. For retaimed of purchased interests in secumlised
assets, the company”s risk of loss 5 limited 1o the fair value of
these interests, In all cases these retained interests are carned at
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transfer at fair value
and therefore does not typacally recognise significamt gains or
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
comtinuing involvement that could require the company to
repurchase derecognised financial assels

B
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The tables below present mformation about the company's

exposwre through continuing involvement and the gains or
losses related to those ransactions

Macdmum
Carréing  Expatiane
5 i mallang _ Arrteunt ta Ledd
As of Decomber 7016
Assets
Cash intruments 313 F 23
Derivative instuments Lx] A0
Financial instruments owned il 1l
Taotal 5 5 01
Liabilivies
Derivatives instruments. 500 5 (99
Finaneasl instrumseets sold, buk nod yet porchased [Fa] (LT
Tolal 5 (8 5 _{99)
A of Decembar 2015
Assets
Cash msruments £ T8 5 83
Dorivalivs sty W 1,180
Finanssl inglursete ownsd 175 1.253
Tetel 3175 51,253
Liabilities
Darivaliiet insirumsnts 3 (3 3 (101
“Financial instrurts s6k, but o yot purchased | @ty
Crthesr cresditors - -
= FE] F (101
Incomel  Cumulatve
(Expanaa) -
5 in malliang _ in the year  (Expenus)
As of Decomber 7016
Agsis
Cash mntrumsnis 11 1M
Darivatios nstuments [&n 123
Financeal instruments owned (18 254
Tatal H16 § 54
Linbilivies
Derivatives instruments. i (35
Finaneasl instrunsests sold, but not yet perchased [E1] [EE]
“Cttwe credters - [
Tolal 5 (3 L]
Ay of December 2018
Aseels
Cash insruments £ 2 % 120
Doiivativn mstments [ 150
Finianal inatrumaty swnsd L] 70
Tokal 58 § 270
Liabilities
Durivalives insirumsnts 3 (1) 5 (3%
“Finanial insumeets sold, but not yet prchased (1) (301
Orthes craclitors = 1)
Tetal 3 (1) (3%
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

HNote 25,

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

The tables below present the company’s lnancil assets and
financial liabilites that are subject to enforceabls netting
agreements and offsetting  Amounts are only offset in the
balance sheet when the company currently has a legally
enforceable night to set-off the recognised amounts and an
intention either to settle on a net basis, or 1o realise the asset
and settle the habiliy simultaneously. In the tables below:

» Gross amounts exclude the effects of both counterparty
netting and collateral, and therefore are ol representative of
the company” s CONOMIC ¢ XPOSUre.

Amounis not offset in the balance sheet include counterparty
neting (1., the netting of fnancial assets and Onancial
liabilities for a given counterparty when a legal nght of setoff
exists under an enforceable netting agreement), and cash and
security collateral received and posted under enforceable
credit support agreements, that do not meet the criteria for
offsetting under UK. GAAP,

Where the company has received or posted collateral under
credit support agreements, but has not yet determined
whether such agreements are  enforceable, the related
collateral has not been included in the amounts net offset in
the balance sheet

*
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Gross amounts include denvative assets and  denvatve
liabilities of $6.94 billion and 36.82 billon, respectively, as
of December 2016, and derivative assets and derivative
liabilities of $8_34 blhion and $7.49 billion, respectively, as
of December 2015, which are not subject to an enforceable
nefting agreement or are subject to a netting agreement that
the company has not vel determined to be enforceable.

Substantially all collateralised agreements and collateralised
financings are subject to enforceable netling agreements as of
December 2016 and December 2015,

As of December 20015, $7.11 hillion of other creditors have
been moved from fnancial labidities not subject o
enforceable netting agreements to financial liabilities subject
ip  enforceable netting  apreements, 3236 hillion  of
collateralized financings have been moved from financial
liabilities subject to enforceable netting agreements to
fimancial labilities not subject to enforceable nettmg
agreements and the amoun disclosed as security collateral
posted on collaterahised financings has been increased by
$12.65 ballion to more appropreately present these balances.

oOoOooodn

As of Decembar 2018
Araounts mel offsel inihe Balance dleet
Amounts  Met ansount
offet inthve  presented in

Gross balance  the balance  Counberparty Cash Becurity Het
5 i mvlions oS shized sheet nieting collateral collakeral amaunt
Flnancial Assels
Gmhfenenents 0000 B TME O B0EIN F 4NT % NLIM O §F N % @R 3 e
Daivatve intbrumants E61,059 (62,3800 509,500 [5324,7ET) H2.870 (124259 10,537
Ferancial instroments cwned ETR.007 (T4, 720) 604,186 (525, EBT) 2,008 (15,344) 20,043
Colatersdsed agreements. Z2en2 eain s (eoen) - mssan  aas
Detlors. (6, 162) 52470 (3,531} {37 ATE) [4.B64) 6,594
Fetwecial siats SUbjoct 1o onloreaable nating agpaseienss ___ GTOAS1 (29995 SHZ6 (O1STI0) @03 (1s765) 999
Fasmeial ety not subject 1o on ior obabbe ReSng §Qereny w2137 - 9437 - - - 23,137
Total inanclal assets 51,062,588 S{120,105) $913.393 S(815,110p  HE0J3F)  S(115763)  $122,130
Einanci Linbiiies
Amaunts falling due within omne year
Cash instnaments -] § (1,688 5 4 - % - % - H £
Diaxirvait o inshru mants {61,163) R TE] (525,614 {35,84%) [E.841) 16,575
Fetwacial mlramants o8 bl holy# purchased _________ SWaEI (82950)  SaTea0 (25618 (RO4T) 16,629
Colatersised Enancings {53,155 1H, P83 B21)
Otherredtos BAS)  TANT0 (3,707) 3,785 BB 1283
Total (122453) PR 614,038y {F a6 (BB A4S 40,289
Amounts falling due afer more than ohe year
Colateralised fnancings 6,233 - [ Jea k] 1,060} - & 162) LR
DOther craditon 0,268 (6.742) 2576 {12} 778 {250 1438
Total 15,501 (B, 742y 8750 (1,072} [EEL] (2417} 1497
Ferancial babdties wimecl to b natting agr 30,318 (120,165) 801,121 [CIERELT] {B0,385) [CEETH] 41,788
Ferancial labiities not subyect bo enforceables netfing agresmants 105,204 - 105, 58 = - - 105,54
Total financial liabafies $1035550 6170105 5008355 (615110} 5{60,09%)  § (BAE57)  §147,000

90
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Az of Diecember 2015
Ancunts not offest in the Balands shas
Asnounie Mat amaunt
olfestinthe  preasnted in
Grats bal i Bl c party Cath Security Hat
amounts shipt shaet nesng collatmral collateral amount

5 15662 § (11,579 5 4083 5 2y 5 [T § ey § 1343

E00.006 [E8.78 549017 (474,408 142,183} 21,382
[FETT] (71360 553.200 474,518 [LRXTT) 22705
........ 191084 TSN 163TEN  (eAnmy )

55,187 6, 758) 48,428 (EA2Y {32, 7,785
Foranicial sssets not subject o enforceable nefting agresments 84273 - B4.273 - = 84,273
Tolal insncial assets 5 HS.‘IE S0551T) 5845805 S523.780F  S7E.080H 5117.772
Firepnc) s Lintiiiey
Amounts falling due within ane year
Cash insinaments 1164 5 (1,164 -3 - 3 - 5 - 5 - 3 -
‘Deivatveinstumenss £384E0  (5a4B0 | 530,570 (474488 (32,203  (BE17} 16682
“Financil nErumonts s bulnoty purehaned @064 [SU6H) 530970 (474AWE)  (32.203) (BT 15652
Colatersized fnancings 140170 (34,140 114,021 481304 - {84, T200 1,171
Othar credions T4 559 {5 02T) A9 552 21} 142 163} - 27,349
Tetal 813,343 [Ba.820p 714,523 (522 628y {74, 358} {73337} 44172
Amounts faling dus after more than one year
Collateralised fmancings Aoz I .. S . L S - —
Cthar credions .60 {6.687) 19487 [t byl = = ASS
Total _ _ 12,108 {6.80T) _Sas (=10 = (3343} 535
Ferecial babliies subpect by enkecoabl ing age ks B25.539 {105, 51T) 7022 (525 2000 {74, 355} T BBl 45,897
“Fanancial kabiities not subject to enfon:sable netfing g 103,763 - 103753 - - - 103,763
Ttal fnancial labilties 5 628,202 S105517) 83 TTh SSZA2800  $(74.385) S(TEES0)  $148480

A clearing orpanisation adopted a rule change in the first
quarter of 2017 that requires transactions 0 be considered
settled each day. Certain other clearing organisations allow for
similar treatment. To the extent transactions with these clearing
organisations are considered settled, the impact would be a
reduction in gross derivative assets and habibties, with no
impact 1o the net amount in the table above,

|
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2017

2017

2017

2017 12 31

12 9,403.9
202.2 43.6
226.8

GCLA

12 9,086.9
272.6

12 317.0
Tierl AT1 58.0
30.0
12 2016 12

©)
2017 12
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2016 12 60.7
38.4
2016 12 19.0
239.9
2016 12 41.7
15.6
40.4 51.5
28
4,046.3 3,786.7
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OooooOodd
2017 12 31 2017 12 31
( )
24,178 14 640,264
15 204,820
16 74,052
24 20,727
939,863
14 (589,922)
18 (158,069)
19 (103,584)
(851,575)
88,288
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2017 15.6

2016

2016

2017 39.8 2016
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2015 11
2016
2016 12
2017 20
2017 28
2013 2016
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2017 11
2014 11 25
2017 15

2017 21
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Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of

Goldman Sachs International (unlimited company)

Report on the financia statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International's financial statements (the “financia statements”):

give atrue and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as of December 31, 2016 and of its profit and cash flows for

the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the Annual Report, comprise:

the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2016;

the Profit and Loss Account and the Statements of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;
the Statements of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

the Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial

statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

The financia reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is United Kingdom

Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law (United Kingdom

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in

respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future

events.
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Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors Report for the financial year for which the financial

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
» the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we are required to report if we have identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors
Report. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

»  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches

not visited by us; or
« thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors remuneration

specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities set out on page 50, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financia statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“1SAs (UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may

come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statementsinvolves
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We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from

material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Thisincludes an assessment of:

»  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed;

» thereasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

» theoverall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors' judgements against available evidence, forming our own

judgements, and evaluating the disclosuresin the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide
a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls,

substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. With respect to the Strategic
Report and Directors Report, we consider whether those reports include the disclosures required by applicable legal

requirements.

Duncan McNab (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

7 More London Riverside

London

SE12RT

March 16, 2017
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Independent auditors' report to the members of Goldman Sachs International (unlimited
company)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International’s (*the company”) financial statements:

give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at December 31, 2017 and of its profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generaly Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the Balance Sheet as at
December 31, 2017; the Profit and Loss Account, the Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Statements of Cash
Flows, the Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and the Notes to the Financial Statements, which
include a description of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented in the Strategic Report in the Annual Report rather than in the Notes to
the Financia Statements. The disclosures identified as audited within the Strategic Report form an integral part of the
financial statements.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“1SAs (UK)") and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under 1SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide abasisfor our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the U.K., which includes the Financial Reporting Council’s (“FRC”) Ethical Standard as
applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

In accordance with the partner rotation rules of the FRC, a new Senior Statutory Auditor took responsibility for the 2017
audit.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard
were not provided to the company.

Other than those disclosed in Note 6 ‘ Administrative Expenses to the financial statements, we have provided no other
non-audit services to the company in the period from January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017.
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Our audit approach

Overview
Materiality Overal materiaity: $180 million (2016:$170 million).
Based on: 0.5% of total regulatory capital resources.
Audit scope We perform afull scope audit of the financial statements of the company as a whole.
Key audit matter Valuation of derivative financial instruments held at fair value.

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of

significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently
uncertain.

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company and the industry in which
it operates, and considered the risk of acts by the company which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations,
including fraud. We designed audit procedures to respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not detecting a materia
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. We focused on
laws and regulations that could give rise to a material misstatement in the company’s financial statements, including but
not limited to, the Companies Act 2006, the Financial Conduct Authority’s Client Asset Sourcebook, and the Prudential
Regulation Authority’s regulations. Our tests included, but were not limited to, a review of the financial statement
disclosures to underlying supporting documentation, review of correspondence with the regulators, review of
correspondence with legal advisors, enquiries of management and review of internal audit reportsin so far asthey related
to the financia statements. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further
removed non- compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities, including fraud. As in al of our audits, we also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including testing journals and evaluating whether there
was evidence of bias by the directors that represented arisk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit
of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any
comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financia
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Thisis not acompletelist of al risksidentified by our audit.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of derivative financial instruments held at
fair value

Refer to Note 28 ‘Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities’ in the financial statements.

In accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 2
‘Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the
financial statements, derivative financia instruments are
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value and changes in
fair value are recorded in net revenues.

The valuations of derivative financia instruments are
produced by financial models using a variety of inputs.
Most of the company’s derivatives are traded in active
markets and external observable inputs are available to
support management’s valuations. Such derivatives are
classified as level 2 in the valuation hierarchy (see Note
28). The company also enters into complex and less liquid
derivative financia instruments where a limited or no
active market exists. In these instances, there is less
observable evidence to support the valuations and hence
there is greater estimation uncertainty. When one or more
valuation inputs are unobservable and significant, the
financia instrument is classified as level 3 in the valuation
hierarchy. Total derivative financial assets and financia
lighilities were $566.21 billion and $556.12 hillion,
respectively, at December 31, 2017, of which level 3
derivative financial assets and financial liabilities were
$3.47 billion and $2.27 hillion, respectively.

The higher assessed risks of material misstatement relate to
the valuation of derivative financia instruments where
significant management judgement is required in the
determination of fair value. This key audit matter relates to
the valuation of such derivative financial instruments.

We performed a risk assessment of the derivative financial
instruments held by the company using our industry
experience and knowledge of the company’s business. We
used this analysis to identify areas of significant
management judgement and focus our testing.

With respect to level 3 financial instruments, we focused
on the valuation of certain credit and equity derivatives.
Within credit derivatives thisincluded the valuation of a
portfolio of derivatives sensitive to secured funding
spreads, the methodology for which involves akey
judgement. We also focused our work on certain level 2
derivative financial instruments where, due to their size,
nature or complexity, greater judgement is required in the
determination of fair value, including appropriate valuation
adjustments.

We understood and evaluated the design and tested the
operational effectiveness of the controls over management’
s valuation of financial instruments. These controls
included:

Validation of new and existing models by a specialist
team within the risk function, as well as access and
change management controls in respect of modelsin
use.

The monthly price verification process performed by the
controller's function using prices and model valuation
inputs sourced from third parties.

Calculation and approval of key valuation adjustments.

We noted no significant exceptions in the design or
operating effectiveness of these controls and we
determined we could rely on these controls for the
purposes of our audit.

We utilised internal valuation speciadists to revalue a
sample of derivative financial instruments across al levels
using independent models and, to the extent available,
independently sourced inputs. For samples where we
utilised management’s inputs to revalue the instrument, we
assessed the reasonableness of the inputs used. We also
tested external inputs used within management's price
verification process and evaluated the appropriateness of
the sources.

Within level 3, we revalued a sample of credit derivatives,
and evaluated management’s methodology for determining
secured funding spreads and tested inputs to externa
sources. We revalued a sample of equity derivatives and
tested the key inputs such as correlation. From the evidence
obtained, we found the assumptions and methodologies
used to be appropriate.

We evaluated the methodology and underlying
assumptions used to determine material valuation
adjustments. We tested a sample of valuation adjustments
at the year end.

We aso tested collateral disputes, significant one-off
revenues, and considered other events, where relevant,
which could provide evidence about the appropriateness of
management’s val uations.

Based on the work performed, we found management’s
judgements in relation to the valuation of derivative
financial instruments to be supported by the evidence
obtained.

We performed testing to validate that management had
alocated derivative financial instruments to the appropriate
level (1, 2 or 3) within the fair value hierarchy in line with
the established policy, and that the policy classifications
were appropriate.

We read and assessed the disclosures in Note 28 * Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities regarding significant
unobservable inputs and the fair value hierarchy and found
them to be appropriate.
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How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls,
and the industry in which it operates.

The company provides a wide range of financia services to clients located worldwide. The company also operates a
number of branches and representative offices across Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA) to provide financial
services to clientsin those regions. We consider that the company is a single audit component.

Traders based in overseas locations enter into transactions on behalf of the company. In these circumstances, certain
internal controls relevant to financial reporting operate in those locations. In addition, there are a number of centralised
functions operated by the ultimate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., in the U.S. or in group shared
service centres in other locations which are relevant to the audit of the company. We determined the scope of the work
required in each of these locations and we issued instructions to PwC network firms. We interacted regularly with the
firms responsible for the work throughout the course of the audit.

This included reviewing key working papers and discussing the results of work in higher risk areas of the audit. We
concluded that the procedures performed on our behalf were sufficient for the purposes of issuing our opinion.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in
evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as awhole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall materiality $180 million (2016: $170 million).

How we determined it 0.5% of total regulatory capital resources (2016: 0.5%) as set out on page 9 of the Annual
Report.

Rationale for benchmark The immediate and ultimate parent companies, management and the company’ s regulators are

applied the primary users of the financial statements. The level of total regulatory capital resourcesis
akey focus of these users.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above $9
million (2016: $8.5 million) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
gualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to report to you
when:

the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate;
or

the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the company’s ahility to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve
months from the date when the financia statements are authorised for issue.

However, because not al future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises al of the information in the Annual Report other than the financia statements (as
defined earlier) and our auditors report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on
the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
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conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report based on these responsihilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, 1ISAs (UK) require us
also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors Report for the year ended December 31, 2017 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsihilities set out on page 40, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financia statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that
they give atrue and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal controls as they determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with I1SAs
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financia statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s member as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do nat, in giving these opinions,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law are not made; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

342/343



EDINETOIOICIC)
O0000000000000000000C(E05875)
ooo0000
We were appointed by the directors on September 22, 1988 to audit the financial statements for the period ended
November 24, 1989 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 29 years, covering
the periods ended November 24, 1989 to December 31, 2017.

Jonathan Holloway (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

March 15, 2018
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